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Corporate Information
NAEH
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Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman)

Ms. Chu Wei Ning (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Lam Sze Man

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael

Mr. Feng Man

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis

Mr. Feng Man
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Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Huen Lai Chun

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Ms. Chu Wei Ning
Ms. Huen Lai Chun

PRINCIPAL BANKER
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

LEGAL ADVISER

Sidley Austin

39/F, Two International Finance Centre
Central, Hong Kong
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEFN WKW

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group was principally engaged in mobile and multi-media
technologies business, gamma ray irradiation services, tourism and
hospitality business, and other operations — securities trading and

investment.

The year under review was a turbulent year for the Group. Its businesses
in Hong Kong and mainland China were being adversely affected by the
intensification of geopolitical and trade tensions, the social incidents in
Hong Kong and the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic. The effect on the
tourism and hospitality segment was particularly severe.

The ongoing Sino-US trade disputes and the COVID-19 pandemic are
expected to continue to affect the economy and, in turn, the Group will
face significant local and global challenges in the next financial year. The
Group, under such conditions, will continue to deploy its mobile and
multi-media technologies in expanding the product range by putting its
proprietary technologies to application in the multi-media and advertising
platforms. The Group will explore potential strategic investments and
cooperation opportunities in expanding the scope of businesses in train
media segment and gamma ray segment, so as to achieve growth and

create value for shareholders in the long term.

Mobile and Multi-media Technologies Business

The Group has gained a strong foothold in the industry of mobile and
multi-media technologies in China. The Group has also accumulated
technologies, expertise, network and software resources in the
construction of scalable multi-media sharing and advertising platforms
and the dissemination and transmission of information via such
platforms. Given the escalating trade dispute between China and the
United States and China’s slowdown in economic growth, the mobile
technologies business in China market is expected to be volatile and will
remain challenging in the foreseeable future. Therefore, the Group is
focusing on putting its proprietary technologies into application, thereby
strengthening its asset-light, less capital-intensive technology focused
mobile and multi-media sharing and advertising platform business.

One substantial application of such knowhow and expertise is transport
and other panels in the city centers. As portals to cities, trains are the
city’s nerve center and the daily channels for millions of people. It has
transformed from a simple traffic tool to a living space on its own and
can reach an ever-larger captive, network audience which is highly valued
by advertisers. The Group helps clients produce high-quality and tailor-
made multi-media contents on display media and 020 advertising which
can be accessed by millions of travellers in one of the most developed
train networks in the world, thereby providing a strategic and effective
channel for the PRC and international brands to increase their brand
awareness and promote their business in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Bay Area.
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Management Discussion and An0||ysis (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Mobile and Multi-media Technologies Business (continued)

On 6 June 2019, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire equity
interests of two outdoor advertisement and media companies, Hong Kong
Made (Media) Limited and Ample Success Limited, which, possess the
rights to operate multi-media business on Guangzhou-Shenzhen China
Railway High-speed Harmony Series trains (/&% 4% 3% 5%) (the “GSCR
Hexiehao Trains”). Through such acquisition, the Group is entitled to
an exclusive usage of and the operating right to the 25 trains of GSCR

Hexiehao Trains media and advertising business.

Apart from GSCR Hexiehao Trains, the Group has also looked into other
opportunities which can deploy its edge and expertise in expanding
the train media network, including but not limited to other train media

related projects and advertising agency projects.

As at the date of this report, a variety of businesses, including but not
limited to consumer products, mobile communications and automobile
manufacturing, have placed multi-media contents on display media and
020 advertising on GSCR Hexiehao Trains.

Due to the COVID-19 outbreak in early 2020, most of the railway
transport network services in mainland China have been largely reduced
or suspended, as a result of which the performance of the train media
business of the Group has inevitably been affected. Following the lift of
travel restrictions in mainland China, the train media business is expected

to resume gradually.

In the interim, the Group continues to be actively engaged in discussions
with a number of new and existing customers placing multi-media
contents on GSCR Hexiehao Trains. The Group has successfully built up its
competitive advantage in multi-media and advertising platforms business
and has attracted its existing clients to further retain the Group for its
services. The Group will continue to develop its businesses related to
multi-media technologies via different channels in China, thereby creating
additional revenue to the Group and improving the Group’s profitability
to deliver long-term benefits to the Group and its Shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEEESN WKk (E)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Mobile and Multi-media Technologies Business (continued)

During the year under review, the revenue from this segment was
approximately HK$39,946,000 (2019: HK$34,610,000). Segment loss was
approximately HK$114,264,000 (2019: HK$1,180,876,000). The Group
considers that following the ease of lockdown measures in mainland
China, the Group will allocate more resources to retain and to attract
more customers in placing multi-media contents on GSCR Hexiehao
Trains. This helps the Group in developing a scalable multi-media and

mobile technologies business going forward.

Gamma Ray Irradiation Services

During the year under review, the Group’s gamma ray irradiation business
continued to provide irradiation sterilization processing services to
different clients through a 80% owned subsidiary which is licensed by
REARKEMBEIREREE (Ministry of Environmental Protection of
the PRC**). This segment performance was relatively less affected by the
COVID-19 pandemic. Revenue generated from the gamma ray irradiation
services for the year under review was approximately HK$4,675,000
(2019: HK$4,743,000). Segment loss was approximately HK$1,250,000
(2019: HK$2,515,000).

Following the reorganization of the Group in the year under review,
the Group has formed a new wholly-owned subsidiary, Gamma Ray
Technologies Services Limited, which is actively exploring opportunities
to broaden the Group’s gamma ray technologies to other industries
applications such as metals and other commodities, healthcare and other

industries.

Tourism and Hospitality Business

In 2019, real gross domestic product in Hong Kong contracted by
1.2%, the first annual decline since a decade. The weakening economic
conditions dampened consumer sentiment, and the local social incidents
and frictions in trade between China and the United States took a heavy
toll on travel and tourism industry and other consumption-related sectors.

Total number of visitor arrivals in Hong Kong last year plunged 14.2
percent year-on-year to nearly 56 million as travelers shunned the city
which has been rocked by the social incidents since mid-June 2019. After
the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, the situation became worse and the
total number of visitor arrivals has further plunged 80.9 percent year-on-
year to less than 3.5 million; while the levy income slumped almost 82
percent in February 2020 year-on-year which reflected that the outbound
market was also heavily struck by the pandemic.
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Management Discussion and An0||ysis (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Tourism and Hospitality Business (continued)

During the year under review, the revenue in the tourism and hospitality
business recorded a 10.4% year-on-year decline from approximately
HK$5,227,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately
HK$4,681,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The declining social, political, economic and financial environment in
mainland China and Hong Kong due to the social incidents and the
outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic seriously damaged not only the travel
industry, but also the operation, financial position and cashflows of
We Fly Travel Limited (“We Fly”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, which operated an online travel product booking platform. We
Fly received the winding-up petition presented by the Company on 20
March 2020 on the ground that We Fly is insolvent and unable to pay
its debt.

On 24 June 2020, We Fly was ordered to be wound up by the High Court
of Hong Kong (the “High Court”) under the provisions of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). On 29 June 2020, the Company received a sealed
copy of the winding up order against We Fly from the High Court.

Other Operations — Securities Trading and Investment

The Group’s securities trading and investment business continued to
adopt a wait and see attitude investment strategy during the year under
review. The Group's securities trading and investment business reported a
loss of approximately HK$3,589,000 (2019: HK$4,420,000), representing
net unrealised losses of approximately HK$266,000 (2019: HK$1,377,000)
arising from change in fair value of listed securities held for trading.
As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of the listed securities was
approximately HK$512,000 (31 March 2019: HK$778,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEEESN WKk (E)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Other Operations — Securities Trading and Investment (continued)

A summary of the listed securities held by the Group during the year

under review is set out in the table below.

Percentage of

shareholdings  Percentage of

EBEEGE)
Hih%% — BHEERREH)
TERHEINAKEROBEFREREZLTESBE -

in equity  total asset of Fair value Unrealised gain  Realised gain
investment as  the Group as asat  (loss) on fair ~ (loss) on fair
Place of at 31 March  at 31 March 31 March  value change  value change  Dividend
Company name  incorporation 2020 2020 2020 for the year for the year  received Principal activities
R-Z_ZF
RZZ-Z2% =ZA=+-H KEE KEE
=A=1+-8H HAEE R-Z-Z ATEEH LTEEZ
HRARE BEEZ ZA=T-R zKkEHK%E ZBERME
NSE2E A s REZEAL At ZATA (B8) (B#B) BHWRE FEZEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TER TET TER
REXLot Holdings  Bermuda 0.117% — — (390) — — Development of the lottery
Limited systems and games, as
well as the distribution
and marketing of lottery
products in the PRC
HEPEER BRE RABEREXERRRE
BRRA B AR BREEVER
7
Greatwalle Inc ~ Cayman Islands 0.321% 0.296% 512 124 — — Provision of security guarding
services and mobile game
business
RABERRE HEHS RERZEFRERFHE
S
MAJOR RISKS OF THE GROUP AEEZETERR

The following risks were identified as the major risks of the Group during
the year under review:

Health and social incidents may cause disruption on business
Widespread outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic and the social incidents
in Hong Kong since June 2019 have disrupted the normal businesses
operations. The Group's business is sensitive to the infectious diseases
which could cause severe disruptions in trains and other forms of travel,
and which would result in a decrease in demand for employing the
Company’s multi-media technologies and advertising platform. Regional
political events or civil unrest will hamper domestic and international
travel. Any of these events may disrupt the Company’s business and
operations and specifically, if the global response to contain the COVID-19
pandemic escalates or is unsuccessful, it may result in decreases in travel
to and from, and economic activity in, areas in which the Company
operates, thereby causing a material adverse effect on the Company's
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

MAJOR RISKS OF THE GROUP (continued)

Change of government policies

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, preventive measures and
restrictions, among others, the compulsory quarantine measures for
travellers had been put in place in the mainland China and Hong Kong.
Policies and measures adopted from time to time by the Chinese and
Hong Kong government have, and any future policy developments
implemented may have, the effect of reducing the number of travellers
which could adversely impact tourism and the multi-media technologies
and advertising platform business of the Company.

Slow down of global and China economy

The Group's business is particularly sensitive to reductions in discretionary
consumer and corporate spending as a result of downturns in the
economy. Consumer demand for consumer products such as mobile is
particularly sensitive to downturns in the economy and the corresponding
impact on discretionary spending. Changes in discretionary consumer
spending could reduce corporate demand for the multi-media
technologies and advertising platform business, thus imposing additional
limits on pricing and harming the business operations of the Company.
The actual or perceived economy performance could adversely impact the
multi-media technologies and advertising platform business and tourism
and hospitality business of the Company.

The recent trade war between the China and the US has created a
lot of uncertainties and risks on the global economy, in particular the
Chinese and the US economies. If there is a slowdown in the growth of
the China economy, Hong Kong's economies would suffer as less China
tourists will visit Hong Kong, thereby affecting the Group’s tourism and
hospitality business. It might also drive up the price of the components
of the Group's products, thereby increasing the costs of the Group. If
the trade war continues, it might materially and adversely impact the
Group's business.

Operating risk

The Group’s multi-media and advertising platform business depends upon
an independent third-party (“Licensor”) licenses for the exclusive rights
of usage of and the operating right to the 25 trains of GSCR Hexiehao
Trains media and advertising business. Any adverse changes to, or loss
of, our relationships with the Licensor may materially and adversely affect
the renewal of the license, and in turn, materially and adversely affect
the Group's business, operating results, and financial condition.

Even when the Group is able to enter into license agreement with the
Licensor, the Group cannot guarantee that such agreements will continue
to be renewed indefinitely. It is also possible that such agreements will
never be renewed at all. The lack of renewal, or termination, of the license
agreements, or the renewal of license agreements on less favorable terms,
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEEESN WKk (E)

MAJOR RISKS OF THE GROUP (continued)

Loss of key individuals or the inability to attract and retain high-
calibre personnel

Loss of key individuals could result in an adverse impact on the Group's
operation and profitability. The risk of the loss of key personnel is
mitigated by regular reviews of human resource management system,
remuneration packages and succession planning within the management
team.

Cyber and information security risk

Frequency of cyber-attacks like sophisticated phishing campaigns and
ransomware have continuously increased in recent years. The potential
threat of cyber-attacks is increasing. Cyber-attacks may lead to loss of
information, leakage of confidential information, unavailability of systems
and disruption of operation that significant costs may be incurred for
data recovery and system restoration, and/or possible claims. The Group
manages this risk by implementing security measures such as firewall,
antispam and anti-virus protection.

CORPORATE, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its various
businesses and recognises the importance of the views and interests of
its stakeholders such as employees, customers, shareholders, business
partners, regulators and the public in making its business decisions.

Environmental Protection

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business activities
on the environment, and supporting environmental protection programs.
Management established environmental policy and communicated
measurable environmental objectives and targets on energy and paper
consumption. In particular, a number of initiatives designed to conserve
resources, including paper recycle and electricity conservation, were
introduced to promote employees’ awareness of the need to achieve
efficient utilisation of resources. In addition, measures were taken to
reduce paper consumption in offices. These should help in building a
sustainable environment for the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in material respects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group.

10 China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019/20
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
BUSINESS PARTNERS

The Group recognises its employees, customers and business partners
are the keys to maintain the sustainable development of the Group. The
Group is committed to building a close and intimate relationship with its
employees, providing quality services and products to its customers, and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

Employees are regarded as one of the vital and valuable assets of the
Group. The Group encourages employees to participate in external
seminars and lectures to keep abreast of changes and to enhance their
knowledge on areas of industrial, legal and compliance. The Group
also encourages continuous professional development training for the
Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, which include
seminars on updating regulatory requirement and development, and

corporate governance practices.

The Group also stays connected with its customers and business partners
and has ongoing communication with them through various channels
such as telephone, electronic mails and physical meetings to obtain their

feedback and suggestions.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a) On 13 July 2020, Shanghai YunYao Culture & Media Limited* (L
BEEXEEBRAE]) (the "Purchaser”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Mr. Xu Shang Wu* (% & =)
and Ms. Ou Xian Lan* (BXZE &) (the “Vendors”) entered into
the share transfer agreements and supplemental agreements
(collectively referred to the “Share Transfer Agreements”), pursuant
to which the Vendors conditionally agreed to sell and the Purchaser
conditionally agreed to purchase an aggregate of 80% of the
entire issued share capital of ShenZhen ZiJun Media Company
Limited* (FYIIE7 88 EE AR A A]) (“ZiJun”), for an aggregate
consideration of RMB1,825,800 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,008,380), which shall be satisfied in cash to the Vendors
or their nominee in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the Share Transfer Agreements. ZiJun has extensive experience in
coordinating the operation of train media business in mainland
China and is currently the Company’s agent organizing and
coordinating the operation of the Company’s multi-media and
advertising platform business. Through the acquisition, it will allow
the Company to have better control of the agent. It will also create
a synergetic effect and facilitate the operation of the Group’s train
media business. The Group has put a lot of efforts and resources
in building the multi-media sharing and advertising platform to
today’s scale, and believes that the performance of the multi-
media technologies and advertising business will improve and will
continue to be one of the key revenue drivers of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEEESN WKk (E)

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(continued)

(b) The outbreak of COVID-19 since early 2020 has brought about
additional uncertainties in the Group’s operating environment and
has impacted the Group’s operations and financial position and
performance.

The Group has been closely monitoring the impact of the
developments on the Group's businesses and has put in place
contingency measures. These contingency measures include:
exploring business opportunities in those businesses less influenced
by COVID-19, such as gamma ray segment. The Company is in
discussion of business cooperation with a state-owned enterprise
in relation to gamma ray technologies. The Group will keep its
contingency measures under review as the situation evolves.

This is not practicable to estimate the impact of COVID-19 on the
financials of the Group as at the date of this report. However,
following the lift of travel restrictions related to the COVID-19
pandemic in mainland China, the railway transport network
services in mainland China have started to resume gradually. In
the interim, the Company continues to be actively engaged in
discussions with a number of new and existing customers placing
multi-media contents on GSCR Hexiehao Trains. The Company
expects its mobile and multi-media technologies business will
regain its momentum once the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided
and will continue a major drive in developing a scalable mobile
and multi-media technology business going forward.

BUSINESS MODEL AND BUSINESS STRATEGY

Diversification is our core business strategy. The Group is committed to
achieving long-term sustainable growth of its businesses in preserving
and enhancing the Shareholders’ value. The Group is focused on looking
for attractive investment opportunities to strengthen and widen its
business scope. The Group has maintained a prudent and disciplined
financial management to ensure its sustainability.

PROSPECTS

COVID-19 is an unprecedented incident affecting not only the region
but the entire world. The Company faces a very challenging business
environment during the year, especially tourism and hospitality segment.
In order to mitigate these challenges, the Group will adopt a flexible
approach in allocating its resources, taking into account factors such as
costs, market conditions and risk diversification, to make the Group's
businesses more resilient. In view of the foregoing, the Group will
continue to allocate substantial resources to multi-media technologies
business segment and the gamma ray segment under the Group’s long-
term strategy and will seek to diversify the distribution channels and
further enhance its knowhow and expertise in the multi-media sharing
and advertising platform and gamma ray technology so as to achieve
prominent growth in these business segments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

PROSPECTS (continued)

The Group will further examine its expenditure to focus on increased
productivity and cost savings, and will focus on prioritising the projects
and deferring or cancelling non-critical expenditure. The Company would
like to thank all our staffs for the dedication they have shown during
these exceptionally challenging times in ensuring that the Company can
maintain its operations as competitive as possible.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to explore potential strategic
investment and cooperation opportunities with an aim of creating
synergies for the Group in various aspects including technological
development, product portfolio, channel expansion and/or cost control.
The Company is confident that the operations and results of the
Group will continue to improve in the near future upon control of the
COVID-19 pandemic and the Group will continue to generate value to
the Shareholders of the Company.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately HK$49,302,000 (2019: HK$44,580,000), representing an
increase of approximately 10.6% compared with last year. Loss for the
year under review amounted to approximately HK$118,559,000 (2019:
HK$1,305,950,000), representing a substantial decrease of 90.0% as
compared to the year ended 31 March 2019. Net loss attributable
to owners of the Company for the year under review amounted to
approximately HK$114,089,000 (2019: HK$1,298,305,000).

Mobile and Multi-media Technologies Business

Against the current backdrop of economic uncertainties under the
COVID-19 pandemic, local social incidents and US-China trade tension
during the year under review, the revenue of mobile and multi-media
technologies business was HK$39,946,000 (2019: HK$34,610,000), which
has increased by 15.4%. Segment loss was significantly narrowed by
90.3% to HK$114,264,000 compared with HK$1,180,876,000 last year.
The Group has successfully built up its competitive advantage in mobile
and multi-media technologies business and will continue its asset-light,
less capital-intensive multi-media technologies focused business strategy.

Gamma Ray Irradiation Services

During the year under review, the performance of gamma ray
irradiation services is relatively stable. The revenue has remained flat at
approximately HK$4,675,000 (2019: HK$4,743,000) for the year ended
31 March 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEEESN WKk (E)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Tourism and Hospitality Business

We Fly reported around HK$4,681,000 revenue in 2020 (2019:
HK$5,227,000). A drop of 10.4% of revenue was recorded in 2020
as compared with the performance in 2019. Segment loss was
HK$4,998,000. In the year ended 31 March 2019, segment loss
was HK$86,039,000 which included an impairment of goodwill of
HK$77,880,000.

Other Operations — Securities Trading and Investment

No revenue (2019: HK$0) has been recognised for the year ended
31 March 2020. The loss was narrowed by 18.8% to approximately
HK$3,589,000 for the year under review from approximately
HK$4,420,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019. The improvement is
mainly due to net unrealized losses of approximately HK$266,000 for the
year under review as compared to approximately HK$1,377,000 for the
preceding year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had bank balance and cash of
approximately HK$2,715,000 (2019: HK$7,317,000), of which 47.6% was
in Hong Kong dollars, 49.8% was in Renminbi and 0.1% was in other
currencies. As at 31 March 2020, the Group had total bank and other
borrowings of approximately HK$269,859,000 (2019: HK$238,790,000),
of which 53.3% was in Hong Kong dollars and 46.7% was in Renminbi
and of which borrowings within one year was HK$259,491,000 (2019:
HK$209,895,000), accounting for approximately 96.2% (2019: 87.90%) of
the total borrowings. The increase in borrowings was mainly due to the
loan was obtained by an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary during the year
under review. As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s borrowings with fixed
interest rates to total borrowings was approximately 19.0%. The gearing
ratio, being the ratio of the sum of total borrowings to total deficit,
was 100.4% as at 31 March 2020 (2019: 66%). The increase in gearing
ratio was mainly due to the loan obtained by an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary during the year under review. The liquidity ratio, being the
ratio of current assets over current liabilities, was 8.37% as at 31 March
2020 (2019: 9.33%). The increase of liquidity ratio was mainly due to the
decrease in amounts due from associates during the year under review.
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Management Discussion and An0||ysis (continued)

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's rights-of-use assets and property, plant
and equipment with carrying amount of approximately HK$11,021,000
(2019: HK$12,584,000) were pledged to a bank to secure the bank
borrowing granted to the Group. As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s
listed securities with carrying amount of approximately HK$512,000 (2019:
HK$759,000) were pledged to secure margin account payable granted to
the Group.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had capital commitments contracted
but not provided for in the consolidated financial statements of
approximately HK$327,961,000 (2019: HK$220,828,000). Details of the
capital commitments are set out in Note 48 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2020, save as disclosed in Note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities.

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE RISK AND INTEREST RATE
RISK

The Group's transactions are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
Renminbi and United States dollars. The Group did not enter into any
foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge against exchange rates
fluctuations during the year under review. Foreign exchange risk arising
from the normal course of operations is considered to be minimal and
the management will closely monitor the fluctuation in the currency and
take appropriate actions when condition arises.

In terms of the interest rate risk exposures, the Group does not have any
significant interest rate risk as the interest rates currently remain at low
levels. As at 31 March 2020, the Group's bank and other borrowings with
fixed interest rates accounted for approximately 38% of total borrowings.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEEESN WKk (E)

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

M

16

On 29 March 2019, the Company and KK Culture Holdings
Limited, Team Pride Limited, Mr. Sui Chok Lee and Silver Golden
Limited (collectively, the “Vendors”) entered into the purchase
agreements pursuant to which the Vendors conditionally agreed to
sell and the Company conditionally agreed to purchase interests,
representing directly and indirectly the entire issued share capital of
Hong Kong Made (Media) Limited (“Hong Kong Made”) and Ample
Success Limited (“Ample Success”), for an aggregate consideration
of HK$50,000,000, which shall be satisfied by the allotment
and issue of 250,000,000 Shares in tranches as consideration at
the issue price of HK$0.200 per Share to the Vendors or their
respective nominees in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the respective agreements. Completion took place on 6
June 2019. As part of the payment of the consideration for the
acquisition of Hong Kong Made and Ample Success, the Company
allotted and issued to the Vendors the first tranche consideration
Shares, being 83,333,325 Shares, representing approximately
2.24% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by
the allotment and issue of such Shares. The aggregate nominal
value of the first tranche consideration Shares amounted to
HK$8,333,332.50.

On 14 August 2020, the Vendors and the Company have entered
into a supplemental agreement (“Supplemental Agreement”) to the
Agreements. Pursuant to the Agreements and the Supplemental

Agreement, the remaining consideration will be satisfied as follow:

The Company shall pay the Vendors HK$16,666,667 (the “Second
Tranche Consideration”) and HK$16,666,668 (the “Third Tranche
Consideration”), representing one third of the Consideration each,
by the allotment and issue of the Second Tranche Consideration
Shares and the Third Tranche Consideration Shares, being
83,333,335 Shares and 83,333,340 Shares respectively, to the
Vendors or their respective nominees on or before 15 July 2022
and 15 July 2023 respectively, subject to the terms and conditions
as disclosed on Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

On 18 March 2020, the Group disposed of its 100% equity

interests of China Baoli Innovation Technologies Limited, at a
consideration of HK$100,000 to an independent third party.
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Management Discussion and An0||ysis (continued)

LITIGATIONS

In April 2016, the Company completed a placing pursuant to the
terms of the placing agreement with a placing agent and allotted
and issued 25,000,000,000 new shares to various placees (the
“Placing”). Pursuant to the terms of the placing agreement, each
placee undertook to the Company that the shares issued and
allotted to it under the Placing would be subject to a lock-up
period of 24 months from the date of allotment and issue of such
shares. In May 2016, three placees under the Placing were found
to have breached their lock-up undertakings to the Company under
the Placing by pledging their shares to two lenders as security for
loans. An interlocutory injunction order (the “Injunction Order”)
was obtained by the Company from the High Court of Hong
Kong (the “Court”) on 27 May 2016, which was subsequently
continued by a court order given on 3 June 2016, restraining the
three placees from breaching the lock-up undertakings by, among
other things, directly or indirectly selling, mortgaging, charging,
pledging, hypothecating, lending, granting or selling any option,
warrant, contract or right to purchase, transferring, disposing of,
creating any right over, or agreeing or offering to do any of the
aforesaid in relation to the 1,667 million shares allotted and issued
to them under the Placing until trial or further order. Further
details of the court orders are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 29 May 2016 and 7 June 2016. The two lenders
then took out applications in the Court in June 2016 and July 2016
respectively seeking declarations that they are beneficially entitled
to the shares being the subject matter of the Injunction Order and
later for variation of the Injunction Order to the effect that those
shares shall no longer be the subject matter of the Injunction Order.
The three placees disputed the contention that the lenders are the
beneficial owners of the shares and legal proceedings regarding the
ownership of those shares were brought in foreign jurisdictions.
On 12 June 2017, the Court ordered that one of the lenders’ (the
“2nd Third Party”) application be adjourned pending the decision of
the legal proceedings in foreign jurisdiction and the other lender’s
application be dismissed with costs to the Company. The lock-up
period has already expired in April 2018 and the Injunction Order
has been automatically discharged upon expiry of the lock-up
period. As at the date hereof, the litigation is still in progress against
the three placees for their breach of the lock-up undertakings. On 6
July 2020, the Company received a letter from the 2nd Third Party
indicating its intention to restore the hearing for its applications.
The 2nd Third Party had also communicated its intention to the
Court. Up to the date hereof, the Company has not received the
2nd Third Party’s application to restore the hearing.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEEESN WKk (E)

LITIGATIONS (continued)

(2) On 20 August 2013, the Company entered into a Placing
Agreement with a Placing Agent. Pursuant to the 2013 Placing
Agreement, the Placing Notes carry interest at 5% per annum and
are to be redeemed on the seventh anniversary from the respective
issue dates of the Placing Notes. One creditor had taken legal
actions against the Company to recover the alleged outstanding
debts under the Placing Notes. The alleged debts amount includes
the principal of HK$10,000,000 and outstanding interests of
approximately HK$1,264,000. The Placing Agent was added as the
2nd Defendant (the “2nd Defendant”) in the Amended Statement
of Claim by the Plaintiff on 16th March 2020. On 10th July 2020,
the Company filed and served its Amended Defence and was
served the Plaintiff's reply. To date, the Company has not been
served with the Defence of the 2nd Defendant. This action is
still in progress and the Company intends to defend this matter
vigorously.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other material litigation expected to
result in a significant adverse effect on the financial position of the Group,
either collectively or individually. Management believes that adequate

provisions have been made in respect of such litigation.

EMPLOYEE AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 March 2020, the Group employed 22 employees (2019: 47).
Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to market
terms and individual merits. Salaries are reviewed periodically based on
performance appraisal and other relevant factors. Staff benefits plans
maintained by the Group include medical insurance, hospitalisation
scheme, mandatory provident fund, share option scheme and share
award scheme. Employees in the PRC are remunerated according to the
prevailing market conditions in the locations of their employments.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence. The
emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board, as authorised
by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company,
having regard to the Group's operating results, individual performance

and comparable market statistics.
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Management Discussion and An0||ysis (continued)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The auditors of the Company expressed a disclaimer of opinion in the
independent auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the ended 31 March 2020 (the “Independent Auditors’
Report”). As stated in the paragraph headed “BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF
OPINION" in the Independent Auditors’ Report, the basis for the auditors
of the Company to express a disclaimer of opinion was (a) limitation of
scope on prior year's scope limitation affecting comparative figures and
related disclosures, (b) limitation of scope on loss on deconsolidation of
We Fly, (c) limitation of scope on share of results and derecognition of
interests in associates and (d) multiple fundamental uncertainties relating
to going concern.

RESUMPTION GUIDANCE

On 11 July 2019, the Company received a letter from the Stock Exchange,
in which, among other things, the Stock Exchange sets out the following
resumption guidance:

(a) to publish all outstanding financial results required by the Listing
Rules and address any audit qualifications if any;

(b)  to demonstrate its compliance with Rules 13.24 of the Listing
Rules; and

(© to inform the market of all material information for the Company’s
shareholders and investors to appraise the Company’s position.

As set out in the letter from the Stock Exchange, the Company must
remedy the issues causing its trading suspension and fully comply with
the Listing Rules to the Stock Exchange’s satisfaction before trading in
the Shares is allowed to resume.

On 24 January 2020, the Company submitted a resumption proposal
to the Stock Exchange and received follow-up queries from the Stock
Exchange. The Company will continue to work towards resumption and
will provide further submission(s) to the Stock Exchange to address the
resumption conditions as set out in the resumption guidance. As at the
date of this report, the Company is working towards resumption and is
taking appropriate steps to fulfil the resumption conditions. The Company
will keep the shareholders of the Company and the public on, among
others, the progress as and when appropriate.

CONTINUED SUSPENSION OF TRADING

At the request of the Company, trading in the shares of the Company
on the Stock Exchange has been suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m.
on 2 July 2019 and will remain suspended until further notice pending
the fulfilment of the resumption conditions.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENSREEAERBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Yi, aged 47, was appointed as an executive Director on
5 September 2016. Mr. Zhang is also the Chairman of the Board. He
graduated from Zhejiang University in 1994 with a major in Finance. Mr.
Zhang has over 16 years of investment experience in the technology field,
with the scope of investment spanning across various regions including
Canada, the United States of America, Singapore, the Mainland China
and Hong Kong. He is in particular familiar with the investment and
operations of telecommunications and communications industries. Mr.
Zhang has good relations with the telecommunications operators and has
accumulated extensive local and overseas network in the industry. Mr.
Zhang is currently the chairman of a private company in the Mainland
China which was founded by Mr. Zhang in 2002. Under his leadership,
the company has now developed into an enterprise with large investment
scale and wide investment geographical range in real estates, biological
medicine, new energy and media, etc. It has a number of projects
including a large-scale urban complex with a gross area of over a million
square meters in Shanghai, Hangzhou and Shenyang. As at the date of
this report, Mr. Zhang is interested in 215,427,500 Shares (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) and does not have any relationship with
any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling

Shareholders.

Ms. Chu Wei Ning, aged 48, was appointed as an executive Director
on 8 July 2015. Ms. Chu is also the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, an authorised representative of the Company and a director
of various subsidiaries of the Group. She is currently responsible for the
strategic investment and business development of the Company. Ms. Chu
obtained a bachelor degree in Business Administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in May 1994 and a master degree of Business
Administration from the University of Texas at Austin with Honors in May
1998. She has been a veteran investment banker and venture capital
investment professional with over 16 years of experience. Prior to joining
the Company, Ms. Chu has been a founding member and the managing
director of a private investment fund which focus on investments in
telecommunications, media, and technology. Previously, she also held
various capacities in Bank of China International, Bear Stearns Asia Limited
and Chase Manhattan Bank (which was subsequently acquired by JP
Morgan). She is currently an independent non-executive director of Bosa
Technology Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8140), a listed company on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange. As at the date of this report, Ms. Chu
is interested in 30,000,000 Shares (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) and does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Ms. Lam Sze Man, aged 37, was appointed as an executive Director
on 3 October 2019. Ms. Lam is a director of various subsidiaries of the
Group. Ms. Lam obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2005. She is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has around
13 years of working experience in accounting. As at the date of this
report, Ms. Lam is interested in 277,500 Shares (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) and does not have any relationship with any Directors,
senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis, aged 44, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 23 August 2018. He is also
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of the
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee. He has over 15 years of
experience in capital investment, assurance and consultancy services
industry. Mr. Chan obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce, majoring
in Accounting and Finance from Deakin University (Melbourne, Australia)
in 2000. He is a fellow member of CPA Australia. He is holding the
position of director in a local consultancy firm. He is also currently a
director of New Territories General Chamber of Commerce; a director,
vice president and committee member of Care of Rehabilitated Offenders
Association. He is also currently an independent non-executive director
of Kwoon Chung Bus Holdings Limited (Stock code: 306), which is
listed on the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive
director of e-Kong Group Limited (now known as Great Wall Belt &
Road Holdings Limited) (Stock code: 524) from June 2015 to May 2017,
China Best Group Holding Limited (Stock code: 370) from September
2014 to October 2016, Leyou Technologies Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Sumpo Food Holdings Limited) (Stock code: 1089) from January
2015 to July 2015 and SingAsia Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8293)
from February 2018 to March 2020, all of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange. As at the date of this report, Mr. Chan does not have any
interest in the Shares and underlying Shares (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) and does not have any relationship with any Directors,
senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

EENSREEAEBEGE)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael, aged 68, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 August 2017. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee, and
a member of the Remuneration Committee. He has over 35 years of
experience in external audit, IT audit, training, accounting and finance,
company secretarial and corporate administration, MIS management,
internal audit, information security, risk management and compliance.
Mr. Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of Huarong
Investment Stock Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 2277), Lansen
Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 503) and Sterling Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code 1825), all of which are listed companies
in Hong Kong. Also, he is the chief executive of C&C Advisory Services
Limited. Mr. Chan is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, a fellow member and specialist in Information Technology of
CPA Australia and an associate of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. He was admitted as a certified information systems
auditor with the Information Systems Audit and Control Association
in 1985 and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors
in 2000. He was admitted as a member of the Chartered Institute of
Arbitrators in 2000 and became a member of the Institute of Internal
Auditors in 1997. Mr. Chan was an adjunct professor in the School of
Accounting and Finance of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University from
2009 to 2014. Mr. Chan worked at CMG Life Assurance Limited (formerly
known as Jardine CMG Life Assurance Limited) from 1991 to 1996
and his last position was general manager, compliance and corporate
affairs. He was employed by Dao Heng Bank Limited in 1996 as the
group auditor (which was subsequently acquired by DBS Bank (Hong
Kong) Limited) and he ceased working for the bank in 2004 with his last
position as managing director and head of compliance, Hong Kong and
Greater China. Mr. Chan was also the group financial controller of Lam
Soon (Hong Kong) Limited from 2004 to 2005, the director of quality
assurance of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
2005 and the deputy general manager of the compliance department
of Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Limited from 2006 to
2009. Mr. Chan graduated with a higher diploma in accountancy from
Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in November 1976 and was awarded the postgraduate
diploma in business administration from the University of Surrey in March
1998. As at the date of this report, Mr. Chan is interested in 25,000
Shares (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) and does not have
any relationship with any Directors, senior management, substantial
Shareholders or controlling Shareholders.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Feng Man, aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 13 December 2019. He is also a member of the Audit
Committee. Mr. Feng obtained a Bachelor degree in Civil Engineering from
the Shanghai Institute of Railway Sciences, Shanghai in 1989, a Master
degree in Geotechnical Engineering from China Academy of Railway
Sciences, Beijing in 1992 and a Master degree in Geotechnical Engineering
from the University of Saskatchewan, Canada in 1999. He is currently a
Registered Professional Engineer in Canada. He has experience over a wide
range of resource types (oil sands, iron, gold, uranium, copper, tin, etc.),
with focus on iron mine development in the last 10 years and project
experiences in Canada, China, Africa, South America, Mongolia, Australia,
etc.. In addition, he has 25 years of mine infrastructure engineering and
engineering management experience. He is currently the general manager
of PeiSi Engineering Co. Ltd.. As at the date of this report, Mr. Feng does
not have any interest in the Shares and underlying Shares (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) and does not have any relationship with
any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling
Shareholders.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chau Lan Sze, aged 45, is the chief executive at train media business
of the Group and is responsible for all marketing and sales function for
the train media business of the Group. She has more than ten years of
experience in advertising planning and business development in China
and Hong Kong. She has numerous experiences in marketing and sales in
different train media channels such as Kowloon Canton Railway Through
Train and Guangzhou-Shenzhen China Railway High-speed Harmony Series

trains.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Huen Lai Chun, aged 54, was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on 2 September 2015. She is also an authorised
representative of the Company. Ms. Huen is an associate member of both
of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in United Kingdom, and also a
fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. She
has over 10 years of experience in handling secretarial and compliance

related matters of listed corporations.
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Report of the Directors

EEEWME

The Board hereby presents its report and the audited consolidated

financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in mobile and multi-media
technologies business, gamma ray irradiation services, tourism and
hospitality business, and other operation — securities trading and

investment.

Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in Note 52 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance, including an indication of likely future
developments in the Group'’s business, can be found in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section set out on pages 4 to 19 of this annual
report. These discussions form part of this Report of the Directors.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on pages 59 to 60 of this
annual report.

DIVIDENDS
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the consolidated results, and consolidated assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page

225 of this annual report.

DONATIONS
The Group did not make any charitable donations during the year ended
31 March 2020.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2020, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution (2019: Nil).

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the movements in bank and other borrowings of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws, or the
laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is

currently in force and was in force throughout the year under review.

During the year under review, the Company has put in place appropriate
insurance cover in respect of Directors’ liabilities.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a MPF scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of trustee. The Group contributes 5%
of relevant payroll costs capped at HK$1,500 per month to MPF scheme,
in which the contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the government
of PRC. The subsidiaries in the PRC are required to contribute a certain
percentage of the payroll cost to the retirement benefits scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under

the scheme.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the year under review, no share option was granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme. As at 31 March
2020, the Company had no unexercised outstanding share option granted

under the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Option

Scheme:

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The primary purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
or reward to the eligible persons for their contributions to, and continuing
efforts to promote the interests of, the Group.

Participants of the Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme and subject to its terms and conditions,
the Board may at its discretion offer to any eligible employee, director,
consultant, agent, supplier, customer or contractor of the Group options
to subscribe for Shares.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up under an option
and minimum period (if any) for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

Such offer shall be open for acceptance on a day specified in the letter
of grant which shall be no longer than thirty days from the date of the
letter of grant. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme during such period as may be determined
by the Board (which shall not be more than ten years commencing on
the date on which the share option is granted and accepted). Unless
otherwise determined by the Board, there is no minimum period for which
a share option must be held before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of share options

The share options shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted
and taken effect when the duplicate letter of grant is signed by the
eligible person and returned to the Company together with a remittance
in favour of the Company of HK$1 for each acceptance of grant of the

share options.

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme and percentage of the issued Shares as at the date of this
annual report

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding vested or unvested options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in
issue from time to time (the “Overriding Limit")
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme and percentage of the issued Shares as at the date of this
annual report (continued)

The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the date of Shareholders’ approval of the Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Subject to the Overriding
Limit, the Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit by ordinary
resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting, provided that the
Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of Shareholders’ approval of
the refreshment.

As approved by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 2
September 2016 (the “2016 AGM"), the total number of Shares in respect
of which options may be granted under the Scheme Mandate Limit was
refreshed to 3,255,719,561 Pre-Adjusted Shares (the “Refreshed Scheme
Mandate Limit”) which is equivalent to 10% of the issued Shares as at
the date of the 2016 AGM.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the Refreshed
Scheme Mandate Limit pursuant to the Share Option Scheme s
325,571,956 Adjusted Shares, representing approximately 8.75% of the
total number of issued Shares as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option
Scheme

The maximum number of Shares (issued and to be issued) in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes to any eligible person in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue, unless a Shareholders’
approval has been obtained.

Any grant of share options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates must
be approved by the independent non-executive Directors. Where share
options are proposed to be granted to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective associates,
and the grant would result in the aggregate of Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted or to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of offer of the relevant
share options to (i) represent in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number
of issued Shares for the time being; and (ii) have an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the Shares, in excess of HK$5,000,000,
the proposed grant shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders
in general meeting with the connected persons abstaining from voting
in favour.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price determined by the Directors shall be at least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares on the date of offer;

(ii) the average closing price of the Shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and

(i) the nominal value of the Shares.

Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to early termination by the Company in general meeting or the
Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on its date of adoption. The Share Option
Scheme will expire on 21 August 2021 and the remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme is about one year.

SHARE AWARDS

During the year under review, no share award was granted, vested or
forfeited under the Share Award Scheme. As at 31 March 2020, the
Company had 155,000 unvested Shares (Note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements) awarded under the Share Award Scheme.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

On 29 March 2019, the Company and KK Culture Holdings Limited, Team
Pride Limited, Mr. Sui Chok Lee and Silver Golden Limited (collectively,
the “Vendors”) entered into the purchase agreements pursuant to which
the Vendors conditionally agreed to sell and the Company conditionally
agreed to purchase interests, representing directly and indirectly the entire
issued share capital of Hong Kong Made (Media) Limited (“Hong Kong
Made”) and Ample Success Limited (“Ample Success”), for an aggregate
consideration of HK$50,000,000, which shall be satisfied by the allotment
and issue of 250,000,000 Shares in tranches as consideration at the
issue price of HK$0.200 per Share to the Vendors or their respective
nominees in accordance with the terms and conditions of the respective
agreements. Completion took place on 6 June 2019. As part of the
payment of the consideration for the acquisition of Hong Kong Made
and Ample Success, the Company allotted and issued to the Vendors the
first tranche consideration Shares, being 83,333,325 Shares, representing
approximately 2.24% of the issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the allotment and issue of such Shares. The aggregate
nominal value of the first tranche consideration Shares amounted to
HK$8,333,332.50.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)

On 14 August 2020, the Vendors and the Company have entered
into a supplemental agreement (“Supplemental Agreement”) to the
Agreements. Pursuant to the Agreements and the Supplemental
Agreement, the remaining consideration will be satisfied as follow:

The Company shall pay the Vendors HK$16,666,667 (the “Second Tranche
Consideration”) and HK$16,666,668 (the “Third Tranche Consideration”),
representing one third of the Consideration each, by the allotment
and issue of the Second Tranche Consideration Shares and the Third
Tranche Consideration Shares, being 83,333,335 Shares and 83,333,340
Shares respectively, to the Vendors or their respective nominees on or
before 15 July 2022 and 15 July 2023 respectively, subject to the terms
and conditions as disclosed on Note 42 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Save for the Share Option Scheme, the Share Award Scheme and the
above agreements, no other equity-linked agreements were entered by
the Group or existed during the year under review.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year under review was
the Company, its holding companies, its fellow subsidiaries or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year under review were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman)

Ms. Chu Wei Ning (Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Lam Sze Man (appointed on 3 October 2019)

Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony (resigned on 9 September 2019)
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel (resigned on 3 October 2019)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael

Mr. Feng Man (appointed on 13 December 2019)
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (resigned on 18 September 2019)
Mr. Han Chunijian (retired on 30 September 2019)

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the Company’s forthcoming
annual general meeting have an unexpired service contract, which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT
IN RELATION TO THE COMPANY'’S BUSINESS

Other than those disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ Material
Interest in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts of Significance” in
Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements and “Transactions and
Balances with Related Parties” in Note 51 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Company’s business to which the subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or parent company of the Company was a party and in
which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
under review or at any time during the year under review.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out
on pages 20 to 23 of this annual report.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code were as follows:
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Long position in Shares RBRBZHRE
Approximate
percentage of issued
Number of share capital of the
Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held Company (Note 2)
HERATERITR
TEOBEI L
EEsE B REEMtE FEEROHE (K1 7t2)
Zhang Yi Interest in controlled corporation (Note 1) 215,347,500 5.79%
R 4K EEEEER ()
Beneficial owner 80,000 0.002%
EmBEEA
Sub-total 215,427,500 5.792%
NET
Chu Wei Ning Beneficial owner 30,000,000 0.81%
MEE EmEAA
Lam Sze Man Beneficial owner 277,500 0.007%
M & EmEAA
Chan Kee Huen, Michael Beneficial owner 25,000 0.0007%
Bk 50 (8 EmEAA
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE (continued)

Long position in Shares (continued)
Notes:

(1) These Shares are held by One Faith Investments Limited, which is
beneficially and wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang Yi.

(2) Based on the number of issued Shares of 3,721,561,225 as at
31 March 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors or
chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So far as the Directors are aware of, as at 31 March 2020, there was no
person (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who
had any interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares
which would be required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year under review.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group made approximately
67.52% of its entire sales to the five largest customers and sales to
the largest customer included therein amounted to approximately
45.67%. Purchases from the Group’'s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 52.64% of the total purchases for the year ended 31
March 2020 and purchases from the largest supplier included therein

amounted to approximately 12.59%.

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates or any
Shareholders, to the best knowledge of the Directors, holding more
than 5% of the Company’s total issued share capital, had any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers during the year

under review.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Particulars of transactions with related parties of the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in Note 51 to the consolidated
financial statements. These transactions were exempt connected
transactions for the Company or did not fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held
by the public.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management and the
external auditor of the Company the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, and discussed the auditing, internal control and
financial reporting process including the review of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2020, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed

securities.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares. Intending holders
and investors of the Shares are recommended to consult their professional
advisers if they are in any doubt as to the taxation implications (including
tax relief) of subscribing for, purchasing, holding, disposing of or dealing
in the Shares. It is emphasised that none of the Company or its Directors
or officers will accept any responsibility for any tax effect on, or liabilities
of, holders of Shares resulting from their subscription for, purchase,
holding, disposal of or dealing in such Shares.
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AUDITOR

The Board appointed Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited (“Asian Alliance”)
as the new auditor of the Company on 19 April 2018 to fill the vacancy
following the resignation of Ting Ho Kwan & Chan CPA Limited.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2020 have been audited by Asian Alliance who will retire and,
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. A resolution for re-appointment of
Asian Alliance as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to
the Shareholders, customers, suppliers, bankers and professional advisors
for their support to the Company over the past year and to sincerely
thank the staff for their ongoing dedication and contribution made in
the year.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Yi

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 August 2020
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Corporate Governance Report
EERERRE

Good corporate governance has always been recognised as vital to the
Group's success and sustainable development. We commit ourselves to
a high standard of corporate governance and have devoted considerable
efforts in identifying and formulating corporate governance practices
appropriate to the Company’s needs.

The Company has put in place corporate governance practices to meet the
code provision (the “Code Provision(s)”) as set out in the CG Code, that
are considered to be relevant to the Group, and has complied with most
of the Code Provisions for the time being in force throughout the year
under review save for certain deviations from the Code Provisions, details
of which are explained in the relevant paragraphs in this annual report.
The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance practices to

ensure that these continue to meet the requirements of the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is collectively responsible for formulating the Group's
overall strategy, reviewing and monitoring the Group’s business
performance, preparing and approving the Group’s financial statements,
recommending the Directors’ appointment or re-appointment to
Shareholders, considering and approving the Group’s material contracts
and transactions (in particular those may involve conflict of interests) as
well as other significant policies and financial matters. The Board gives
clear directions as to the powers delegated to the management for
the day-to-day operation, management and administration functions of
the Group. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions being carried out by the Group’s management and
the Board has full support from the Group’s management to discharge
its responsibilities.

The Directors are collectively responsible for the oversight of the
management of business and affairs of the Group in the best interests
of the Shareholders.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised a total of
six Directors, with three executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Yi, Ms.
Chu Wei Ning and Ms. Lam Sze Man. Ms. Lam Sze Man was appointed
as an executive Director on 3 October 2019. Mr. Yeung Chun Wai,
Anthony and Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel resigned as executive Directors
with effect from 9 September 2019 and 3 October 2019 respectively.
The three independent non-executive Directors were, namely Mr. Chan
Fong Kong, Francis, Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael and Mr. Feng Man.
Mr. Feng Man was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 13 December 2019. Mr. Chan Chi Yuen resigned as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 18 September 2019. Mr. Han
Chunjian retired as an independent non-executive Director at the Annual
General Meeting held on 30 September 2019. A list containing the names
of the Directors and their roles and functions is published on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 20 to 23
of this annual report. To the best knowledge of the Directors, there is
no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships

between the members of the Board.

TRERERE(R)

Exzg(H)
BREFCREHNAFRE0EE23H - REEM
RA G BEERRNBCEALERE XK KB
HBBRABBER -

There were six Board meetings and one general meeting held during the HE-T-TF=A=1T—HIFE AQAEH
year ended 31 March 2020 and Directors’ attendance at the meetings TAREFEEER—RARERG  EFHESH
are as follows: ZAEERINE
Number of Number of
Board meetings  general meeting
Name of Directors attended/held attended/held
HE R HE R
EEng EEEERARH BERXKERE
Executive Directors: BTES:
Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman) RAK L& (FE) 3/6 0/1
Ms. Chu Wei Ning (Chief Executive Officer) VB EL T (7TEAEE) 6/6 11
Ms. Lam Sze Man MEFH LT
(appointed on 3 October 2019) (RZBE-—NFL+A=ZHAEZE) 4/4 0/0
Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony HEELE
(resigned on 9 September 2019) (R=ZF—NFENANHEF) 1/2 0/0
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel maKEE
(resigned on 3 October 2019) (RZF—NF+H=HEFF) 2/2 01
Independent non-executive Directors: BYFHITES:
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis Bk 75 Ml 5t A& 6/6 11
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael BR 5248 5t £ 6/6 11
Mr. Feng Man 5
(appointed on 13 December 2019) (R-ZFE—NEFE+ZHF+=HEZL) 2/3 0/0
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BREE L E
(resigned on 18 September 2019) (RZZF—NFNA+/NAEF) 2/2 0/0
Mr. Han Chunjian BERILE
(retired on 30 September 2019) (R=ZF—NFENHA=1HREF) 0/2 0/1

Save for the following deviations, none of the Directors is aware of any
information which would reasonably indicate that the Company is not,

or was not, throughout the year under review, in compliance with the

Code Provisions of the CG Code:
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TRERERE(E)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Under Code Provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. During the year under review, Mr. Han Chunjian, who
retired at the Annual General Meeting, was absent at the Annual General
Meeting due to other important engagement.

Under Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently,
save for Mr. Chan Chi Yuen who was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director not for a specific term, the other independent non-
executive Directors were appointed for a term of three years, while all
of them are subject to retirement by rotation at the Company’s annual
general meetings as specified in the Bye-laws. Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 18 September
2019.

The Directors have disclosed to the Company the number and nature
of offices held in other public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments in a timely manner and will provide updates to

the Company on any subsequent changes.

All Directors have been provided with updates by the Group's
management, giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group's performance, position, recent developments and prospects in
sufficient details to keep them abreast of the Group’s affairs and facilitate
them to discharge their duties under the relevant requirements of the
Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TRERERE(R)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) Exg(H)

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in BIEETRBFEBSIBOMIEZETE  REBEFEEH
information of Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to paragraphs AEEZEAFERSHHRE LR BE13.510)
(a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules during the year BEQEEBROOBETERCEFTENZHH
under review and up to the date of this annual report are set out below: R

Name of Directors

ExpS
Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony

BERELE

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
PRAER ST A

Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis
bR 75 W 55 A

Mr. Han Chunjian
BED KE

Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel
mRIKEE

Ms. Lam Sze Man

MEF s+

Mr. Feng Man
I

Details of Change
BFBFHE

Resigned as an executive Director with effect from 9 September 2019, and ceased to be a
member of the Remuneration Committee.

BEZZ-hFAANRRBEERTESZS X TBAFHEZESKE -

Resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 18 September 2019,
and ceased to be the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee.

BE-Z-NFAATNARBEEBYIFNTES I ITBRFIMNEESIREULEREZE
erRRBREEEKE -

Appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 18 September
2019.

BE_Z-NFNANAT\BREZERAFTMEEGERE -

Re5|gned as an independent non-executive director of SingAsia Holdings Limited (Stock code:
8293) with effect from 31 March 2020.
BE-ZE-ZF=A=1+"HRHEE2TERERAF (RHOMRI : 8293) HIUIIFATES -

Retired as an independent non-executive Director at the Annual General Meeting with effect
from 30 September 2019.
BE-Z-NAFAA=ZTHERRREFASLLREBIIFENTES -

Resigned as an executive Director with effect from 3 October 2019, and ceased to be an
authorised representative as required under Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules, and an authorised
representative of the Company for the acceptance of service of process and notices in Hong
Kong under the Companies Ordinance.

BE-ZT-NAFTAZHREEATES U IABRLETRAUEIGCKEAREREREK &
RBEARGIRRAAFETBEEYEZRZREFXHLRBHANARBREERR -

Appointed as an executive Director with effect from 3 October 2019.

BE-Z-NF+AZHEBEZERRTES -

Appointed as an independent non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee
with effect from 13 December 2019.
BEZE-NAFT_RAT=ZRREZERBIUFNTEEREZZEGKE -
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Pursuant to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, an audit committee must
comprise a minimum of three members. Following the resignation of Mr.
Chan Chi Yuen as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 18 September 2019 and ceased to be a member of the Audit
Committee, the Company then had only two members in the Audit
Committee which did not meet the requirement under Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, every board of directors
of a listed issuer must include at least three independent non-
executive directors. Following the retirement of Mr. Han Chunjian as
an independent non-executive Director at the Annual General Meeting
with effect from 30 September 2019, the Company then had only two
independent non-executive Directors, thus the number of independent
non-executive directors fell below the minimum number as required under
Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules.

The Board appointed Mr. Feng Man as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee with effect from
13 December 2019. Following the appointment of Mr. Feng Man as
an independent non-executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee, the Company has met the requirements under Rules 3.10(1)
and 3.21 of the Listing Rules with effect from 13 December 2019
respectively.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. Zhang Yi was appointed as the chairman of the Board on 5
September 2016 and Ms. Chu Wei Ning was appointed as the chief
executive officer of the Company on 27 June 2016.

The chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible for
ensuring that good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established and the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practices. The chairman is also responsible
for ensuring that the Directors receive, in a timely manner, adequate
information, with the support of the company secretary and the senior
management, which must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable,
appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board meetings, and all key and

appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner.

The chairman encourages the Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board's affairs, taking the lead to act in the best
interests of the Company. The chairman also promotes a culture to
facilitate effective contributions, encourages the Directors to express
dissenting views and concerns and allows sufficient discussion of issues

before decisions are made.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE (continued)

The chief executive officer focuses on implementing objectives, policies
and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. The chief executive
officer is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day management and
operations and is also responsible for developing strategic plans, and
formulating and reviewing the organisational structure, control systems
and internal procedures and processes for the Board’s approval.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Throughout the year under review, the Board at all times met the
requirements under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules
respectively that it has at least one of the independent non-executive
Directors possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise, and the number of independent

non-executive Directors represent at least one-third of the Board.

Pursuant to Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, every board of directors
of a listed issuer must include at least three independent non-
executive directors. Following the retirement of Mr. Han Chunjian as
an independent non-executive Director at the Annual General Meeting
held on 30 September 2019, the Company had only two independent
non-executive Directors, thus the number of independent non-executive
Directors fell below the minimum number as required under Rule 3.10(1)
of the Listing Rules. Following the appointment of Mr. Feng Man as
an independent non-executive Director, the Company has met the
requirements set out in Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules with effect from
30 September 2019.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experience and independent judgment to the
Board. Through active participation at Board meetings, taking the
lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests, the
independent non-executive Directors have made various contributions to

the development of the Company’s strategies.

All independent non-executive Directors are financially independent
from the Group. The Company has confirmed with all independent non-
executive Directors as to their independence and received an annual
confirmation of independence from each of them for the year under review,

having regard to the factors as set out in the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Under Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Save for
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen who was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director not for a specific term, the other independent non-executive
Directors were appointed for a term of three years, while all of them
are subject to retirement by rotation at the Company’s annual general
meetings as specified in the Bye-laws. Mr. Chan Chi Yuen resigned as
an independent non-executive Director on 18 September 2019.

TRERERE(R)

EIERTHRAR(E)

TRBHTNERKESTSHERERZBERF
BRERE - TRASRTEARAZAFERELE
BN BAGEIRERE - HET Re T ARRE
EREZABEASREFERE  UHEESHE -

BIUFHITES

REBEEERN EZeRTABEY—EFALT
RAIE310Q K3I0AKZHE  BIEL — BB I
WITEFVEEFEBIENTEER  RAHBEBEED
SENEMNPBEREER  BBYERITESFA
HNELEFEXNEAEEL=92— -

B EMAREII0)G SLMETAEFEL
AEREL=RBIUFNTES - REFRELE
TE-NAFAAZTHBTHNRRBAFRAG LRE
BYFRNTEER ARFEAMABBEUIFNTE
=BT ESAZERN EWARAFE3.1001)
GRRESEAB -REBREEE T -NAFNA
STHAREZERBIUNFRTESRR  ARACH
& EWRAEII0MNERERTE -

BYFRTEZRESE WK ERZEBLRUBE
EAB KREBIYAH BIUFNTEZES
BE2EEREEH  TESREENRERER
E REARARAZEBERELTRAER -

ERBYFHTESEV R LELOBINAEE -
PEMRREIBEMEZEE  ARFAECRZE
BYFATESHERARSTZ B LM - YWARE
EEMBEHAMNEBFERE 2B 2 FERER

E-3

=

RIBEETHZTABIALL  FRTEENZ
TREEEES LABRIEMRE - RREESL
EREZEAERTETHZBILIFRATESSI - Hid
BYFATEFTHRY=F  ERFHELRRA
AIRARRZBRRAFAELHBESE - REEX
ERZZE-NFAATNBEBERLIFATES -

FEENRIEERAERAR 201920 FERS 39



Corporate Governance Report (continued)
ﬂé%kﬁ_ \A$& [=] (n\ﬁ)

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established relevant Board committees to assist it in

discharging its responsibilities.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 27 March 2012. As at
the date of this report, the Nomination Committee consisted of two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kee Huen,
Michael (as Chairman) and Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis. Mr. Chan Chi
Yuen resigned as an independent non-executive Director and ceased to be
a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 18 September
2019.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of candidates for directorship, appointment
or re-appointment and succession of Directors, and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors. Details of the
duties and powers of the Nomination Committee are set out in its written
terms of reference which are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

There was one Nomination Committee meeting held during the year

ended 31 March 2020 and members’ attendance at the meeting are as
follows:

Name of members

ExZXEE
EEECKRUMHBESZES

REEES
REZBER-_T-—-F=ZA-t+LtHRI - RAE
BERH REZESHMEBBIIEATEETRA
BREER)ERABEEBK - REBELERE
BIUANTEZRITBRRAZEENE B =-F
—“NEAATNREER -

REAZEGIZATRIEFEIRE  ABLRA
B BBEEEARE EERIREFZEREEL
MEZFFREERER  ANRFRBIFERTES
ZEYE - REZEGZBBEIENFBFAREE
ERESRE TRARARBEIMBELEE

:;:E ZA=+—HLLEFE REZEE
ReE KRELESHZBROT:

H]]

Number of meetings
attended/held
HE/BITEERY

REHA

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (Chairman) BRECE R E(EE)
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis PR 77 Ml 5 A4

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen PRERSTE

(resigned on 18 September 2019)

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning
Board diversity, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge,
and industry and regional experience etc. The Nomination Committee
would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity
on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The nomination policy of the Company aims to ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. In identifying
and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the Nomination
Committee would consider the candidate’s character, qualifications,
experience, independence and other relevant criteria necessary to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and achieve Board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board. In evaluating and recommending retiring Directors to the Board
for re-appointment, the Nomination Committee would also consider the
overall contribution and service of the retiring Directors to the Company,
including but not limited to the attendance of the meetings of the Board
and/or its committees and general meetings of the Company where
applicable, in addition to the level of participation in and performance
on the Board and/or its committees.

During the year under review, the work performed by the Nomination
Committee included (i) reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board; (ii)
reviewing the annual confirmation of independence submitted by the
independent non-executive Directors and assessing their independence;
and (iii) making recommendations to the Board on the selection of
candidates for directorship and re-appointment of Directors.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee made
recommendations to the Board on the selection of candidates for
directorship. In identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and composition of
the Board, and carried out the selection process by making reference to
the profile such as age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge of candidates. Recommendations of
candidates for directorship to the Board was based on merit, experience,
skills and knowledge relevant to the needs of the Board and the
Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 20 July 2006. As at
the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee consisted of two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Fong Kong,
Francis (as Chairman) and Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael. Mr. Yeung
Chun Wai, Anthony resigned as an executive Director and ceased to be
a member of the Remuneration Committee on 9 September 2019, and
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen resigned as an independent non-executive Director
and ceased to be the chairman of the Remuneration Committee on 18
September 2019.

TRERERE(R)

ExZE8E€(H)
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KL EREEFGREZ L (WER) - EFER
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ZHEHBTZEE@M2UERERRR -

REEFE  REZESGETZIEREORIES
GZRE  ABRERK (BIERRE - AR ER)
(NVEHBUIFNTEFRR2FEBIUERE
ARG RS2 B RN BEEEANENE
MEZEEEENETSRUIMKBER

NEBEFEE REZBQCHBEESAERES
SREKEBEER RYEAEIEEREAN R
FEREGCEHEZSZAE  RERKEHES
U2ERBAZFR XERBEER HEK
B REARMBETHREF  RMEFES(ELE
BHESEREAZHEBERN IUNEESGRAAF
ZHEERBAIRE &K% RERABSER -

FHESS

FHZEER _ZTERFLA-THRY - RAR
SR FNZEeaMBB IR TESRIM
FE(ER)RREELEEK - BEBEENR-E
—HhEAMANBBRERATEERTIBRAFHZES
RE MEREEEEAR-_ZF-AFAATN\BE
EBIFRTEERTBERFNEZREE IR -

FEENRIEERAERAR 201920 FERS 41



Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
remuneration proposals made by the management, and making
recommendations to the Board on remuneration policy and structure
of the Company and remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management. Details of the duties and powers of the Remuneration
Committee are set out in its written terms of reference which are available

on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model that it will
review the proposals made by the management on the remuneration
of individual executive Director and senior management, and make
recommendations to the Board. The Board will have final authority to

approve the recommendations made by the Remuneration Committee.

FMEZES IR ERNEREBRIZHFM IR
RARRZHEMB R L RBUALEZERSREREA
BHFMEBRNEZSRHEBER - HFHEZES
ZEBGRENFERNASEBELE  TRAR
AIRE XA E -

BEMEZEemRM Bl FIHZEEREMHE
BERENRTEERSRAERAEBFMEL 2T
RO URMERGRUEEER ZEFSHAELRT
MEEGRHZERER ZRERTEE -

There were one Remuneration Committee meeting held during the year HE_Z_ZF=-A=T—HILFE FWEEE
ended 31 March 2020 and members’ attendance at the meetings are as BRIT-AEE KEEEGZZ2BERAT:
follow:
Number of
meetings
Name of members attended/held
HE BT
MEHA BERE
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis RAMEER-F-AFAAT/\AEZE 0/0
(appointed as Chairman on 18 September 2019) RBEE)
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael FR 5018 5t 4 11
Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony BEEEER-Z-NFNANAEFE) 0/1
(resigned on 9 September 2019)
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (resigned on 18 September 2019) BRERLEERZZF-AFANAFT/NAEFE) 11

During the year under review, the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee included (i) making recommendations to the Board on
remuneration packages of proposed candidates for Directors; and (ii)
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on Directors’ fees

and remuneration packages of executive Directors.

The remuneration packages of the Directors for the year ended 31 March
2020 have been reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and approved
by the Board by taking into consideration factors such as salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment, duty and responsibility,
market conditions and desirability of performance based remuneration.
Details of the emoluments of all Directors are set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for
the year ended 31 March 2020 are as follows:

TRERERE(R)

EEZEg(H)

FMEES (&)
BIECETFAZFRNENBIS aREREEAER
HE-_ZT-_TF=A=T—HIFEZFHENF
AR ¢

Number of
employees

BEAR

HK$1 to HK$500,000

Total BEt

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 26 March 1999. As at the date
of this report, the Audit Committee consisted of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (as Chairman),
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis and Mr. Feng Man. Pursuant to Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules, an audit committee must comprise a minimum
of three members. Following Mr. Chan Chi Yuen's resignation as an
independent non-executive Director and cessation as a member of the
Audit Committee with effect from 18 September 2019, the Company
then had only two members in the Audit Committee which did not
meet the requirement under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. Following the
appointment of Mr. Feng Man as an independent non-executive Director
and a member of the Audit Committee with effect from 13 December
2019, the Company then re-complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee members possess appropriate professional
qualifications, business or accounting and related financial management
expertise and experience to provide relevant advice and recommendations
to the Company. The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for oversight
of the financial reporting system and risk management and internal
control systems of the Company, making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor,
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and reviewing and monitoring the independence and objectivity
of the external auditor. Details of the duties and powers of the Audit
Committee are set out in its written terms of reference which are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties which include: (i) developing and reviewing the
Company's policies and practices on corporate governance; (ii) reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management; (iii) reviewing and monitoring
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; (iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the
code of conduct and compliance (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees; and (v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

There were five Audit Committee meetings held during the year ended
31 March 2020 and members’ attendance at the meetings are as follows:

Name of members

Exzeg(®)

EREES(H)
BE-T-TF-_A=t+RALFE BEXKZES
RERTOAREH KBEHFESRZBERWT:

Number of meetings
attended/held

REHA HE/BOTERERH
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (Chairman) PRECIB S (£ /) 5/5
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis PR 5 Ml 5t A4 4/5
Mr. Feng Man (appointed on 13 December 2019) B (R =FE—NE+ A+ =HEZ(F) 0/0
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (resigned on 18 September 2019) BRERKEE(R=F—NFAA+AET) 4/4
During the year under review, the work performed by the Audit REBFE %Tyi/\ SETZIEBRFEOERAE
Committee included (i) reviewing the unaudited interim results for the six SEHE_ZT-NFAA=THILERHE ﬂ Zﬂiﬁ‘“

months ended 30 September 2019 and the audited annual results for the Iz R &%i—g_ﬂﬁﬁiﬂ =+—BLtFE

year ended 31 March 2019 of the Group; (i) reviewing the independence
and objectivity of the external auditor; (iii) reviewing the internal control
review reports, and the compliance and corporate governance issues of
the Group; and (iv) discussing with the external auditor the sufficiency of
the internal control of the Group. There was no disagreement between
the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection and appointment
of the external auditor during the year under review.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy since August 2013
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board,
and sees board diversity as an essential element in achieving a sustainable
and balanced development. In reviewing Board composition, the
Nomination Committee will consider balancing of a number of factors,
including but not limited to age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
members' appointments will be based on merit, having due regard to
the overall effective function of the Board as a whole.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The aim of the dividend policy of the Company is to distribute to the
Shareholders the funds surplus to the operating needs of the Group.
The distribution of dividend depends upon, among others, the financial
performance, future funding needs of the Company and the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2020 was audited by Asian Alliance. During the year under
review, the remuneration payable to Asian Alliance for their statutory
audit services amounted to HK$1,210,000 and non-audit services for
reviewing working capital forecast amounted to HK$40,000.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare consolidated
financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies which are pertinent
to its operations and relevant to the consolidated financial statements,
have made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and
have prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. The responsibilities of the Directors for the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 and those
of the auditor to the Shareholders are set out on pages 57 to 58 of this

annual report.

GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES

As mentioned above, the Directors have acknowledged their
responsibilities for preparing the financial statements which give true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. The Directors are aware
of the Group’s reported loss attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$114,089,000 and net cash used in operating
activities of approximately HK$27,785,000 for the year ended 31 March
2020, as well as the Group's net current liabilities of approximately
HK$521,198,000 and net liabilities of approximately HK$430,491,000 as
at 31 March 2020. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. Further discussion on this issue has been
set out in “Note 2 — Basis of preparation — Going concern basis” to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report. Having made
appropriate enquiries and examined the major areas which will give rise to
the aforesaid significant financial exposures, the Directors, based on the
cash flow forecast which has been prepared on the basis that the Group
will successfully implement the plans and measures as set out in Note
2 to the consolidated financial statements, are satisfied that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to meet with its financial obligations
when they fall due. In this connection, the Directors have continued
to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis for the
year ended 31 March 2020 and considered that the Group has applied
consistent accounting policies, and made judgements and estimates
that are appropriate and reasonable in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS
During the year under review, the Group has complied with Principle
C.2 of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. Management is responsible
for the design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, while
the Board oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing
basis. Main features of the risk management and internal control systems
are described in the sections below:

Risk Assessment System

The Group has adopted a risk management system which manages the
risks associated with its business and operations. The system comprises
the following phases:

o Identification: Understand business objectives, identify risks that
could affect the achievement of objectives, and the ownership of
risks.

o Evaluation: Evaluate the identified risks based on the likelihood of
the occurrence and impact level of the identified risks.

o Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments done by the Internal Control Aduvisor,

certain significant risks were identified during the year under review.

Operational Risk

As at 31 March 2020, there were insufficient written policies and
procedures for revenue and receipts cycle. Under this circumstance, the
staff would not be able to understand the standard of the procedures
when performing the duties and hence, some key control activities
may not be performed. The management has established those written
policies and procedures for revenue and receipts processes and approve,
review and update on a regular basis.

There was lack of approval signature on sale discount approval from train
media business. If the Group is without a proper documentation, the
management may have difficulties in ensuring whether the sale discount
has been properly approved and thus the Company may suffer losses. The
Company has developed a written policy to state the approval procedures
of sale discount.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS
(continued)

Operational Risk (continued)

The Group has put in place the measures to mitigate those significant
risks. Also, an internal audit advisor will be appointed to provide further
advice and support to the Group.

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is compatible
with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO”) 2013 framework. The framework enables the
Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency
of operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. The components of the framework are
shown as follow:

o Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures
that provide the basis carrying out internal control across the
Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed.

o Control Activities: Actions established by policies and procedures
to help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the

achievement of objectives are carried out.

o Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with information needed to
carry out day-to-day controls.

° Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each component of internal control is present and

functioning.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS
(continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information
and enable a consistent practice of timely, accurate and complete
disclosure of material information of the Group, the Group has adopted
policies and procedures which set out guidelines and procedures as
well as measures to handle and disseminate inside information. Certain
reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that
proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement
in relation to the Group, which include:

J The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their

obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external parties
such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted by the Internal Control
Advisor, deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal controls
are identified and recommendations are proposed for improvement

during the year under review.

Internal Control Advisor

The Group has engaged the Internal Control Advisor to carry out
the internal audit functions by performing independent appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems. The Internal Control Advisor is independent
of the Group’s daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting periodic
interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operational effectiveness to
identify any irregularities and risks, develops action plans and makes
recommendations to address the identified risks, and reports to the Audit
Committee on any key findings and progress of the internal audit process.
The Audit Committee in turn reports to the Board on any material issues
and makes recommendations to the Board.

48 China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019/20

EREERAREERF(E)

REEZRZ(E)

ETM@$EIEEW%%%ZHE'ﬁﬁ§@%
TRE EERTEZAEBEERESHE K
SECEMETRERERF @ HIEE5 - THBRE
M REVEMABES - ENKERRE TAEBEE
BABRFEEEREZE  HILEERBEAEE
MEBRRE 821

. PEEEEEVANERTTEHNER - &
EAREENEEFTAENMNEREFNRER
% o

. AEBETEARAKRARIREBZ -

. ﬁﬁ%$ﬁﬁﬁ%‘“ﬁ%&&é%%%%
BEREBERRARREENEEAL -

RIBRIEEIT BB T #EITT 2 APEIE BT TE - B
EDEFERERADEHNRTRERTERRL
TR EREE -

WA B
AEEEZXANMBELERAERNLEADE Y
AEEZRABREELRABEZZRETRHLE X
EITELFZ AREZEERABELRAAEEZAE
B ERETEREE KR EAASEREF
%@@%@&W%%%%%'M%%E@Eﬁﬁ%
Rk SIEEEASIRELRENEYRRO
Hh1ﬁ§V§AE SEMALETRFOE
ZRRREE - AE - EREEGRNEFEREE
MEBAFELAERLES -



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS
(continued)

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness. The Board is
also responsible for reviewing the internal control review reports, and
approving policies and procedures designed by the management. The
Board conducted a review and assessment of the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems and procedures
for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 by way of discussions with
the management of the Group, the members of the Audit Committee
and the Internal Control Advisor.

The Board, through its review and the review made by the Internal
Control Advisor and Audit Committee, concluded that, the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems need
to be improved during the year under review. Such systems, however, are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

During the year under review, the Company has adopted a code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions on terms no less

exacting than the required standard as set out in the Model Code.

The Board was informed by Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony (“Mr.
Yeung”) (resigned as executive Director with effect from 9 September
2019) on 5 July 2019 that he has entered into certain margin financing
arrangement(s) and certain Shares held by Mr. Yeung, his spouse and
their controlled corporations were deposited in a margin securities trading
account (the “Margin Account”) maintained with a securities firm (the
"Broker”) as collaterals to secure his margin financing (the “Margin
Securities”). Mr. Yeung informed the Board that pursuant to the terms
and conditions applicable to the Margin Account, the Broker disposed of
71,983,720, 12,625,000 and 13,500,000 Margin Securities, representing
approximately 2.64% in total of the entire issued share capital of the
Company, on the market on 25 June 2019, 26 June 2019 and 27 June
2019 respectively (the “Disposals”) to settle the outstanding balances
owing to the Broker. The Disposals fell within the black-out period in
relation to the publication of the annual results of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Black-out Period”). The Directors (except
Mr. Yeung), after considering the above-mentioned information provided
by Mr. Yeung, were satisfied that the Disposals during the Black-out
Period were made under exceptional circumstances under paragraph C.14
of the Model Code.
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COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, having made specific enquiry, all current
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions throughout the year under
review and up to the date of this annual report.

Every newly appointed Director will be given a comprehensive and
tailored induction on his/her first appointment so as to ensure that he/
she has appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Group and of his/her duties, responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing briefing and
professional development to Directors, whenever necessary.

The Directors are continuously updated on latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance with the same by them.

The Directors are committed to complying with Code Provision A.6.5
of the CG Code on directors’ training to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills so as to ensure that their contribution to the Board
will be informed and relevant.

All current Directors have provided their training records for the year
under review to the Company pursuant to the CG Code. The individual
training record of each Director for the year ended 31 March 2020 is
summarised below:

Name of Directors

BITESETRFRGZ2EETR(E)
BEXHIEEEIN  EAARMEHARESDNE 2
BREITESHRES BAWI@EE@*W&EIZKE
E#&%EI,HH*EL—M@E#HIJ%%@Z%EE%+
NAIZEBETEFRRHZIETFA -

BUNZEEEHEREREZERES
HMEWREBE  UHERFITEFEE

SEHFER
ZERE

BE2EBREE FERLTHRRBEEEKE
ERETZRBY BERER -

AEENTBELNETERAEFRHBREE

ERRE-
EERBEESEAMLTRAAREGEREERTE
ZRFBRRER BRESTEAEBMAE -

BExyHhETEETZTA \%‘XAGS CARA
WEEEREEFMENB LR 2T ARERE
EREFSHFLMNELBE TR -

ERREEFCREBLETIAARFRHAFEER
OEFEAZBILE RBEE-T-TF=F=
THIEFE  SEEMEX 2@ R EI4C 858t
mr

Type of trainings

EEpR 1% 31 58 Bl
Executive Directors: HITES

Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman) R E(EE AB
Ms. Chu Wei Ning (Chief Executive Officer) i %Eﬁt(ﬁiﬁ? ) AB
Ms. Lam Sze Man (appointed on 3 October 2019) MEFEF LT (R=ZF—NF+HA=ZHEZT) AB
Independent non-executive Directors: BYFHTES

Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis PR 77 Ml 5 A4 A,B
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (Y i AB
Mr. Feng Man (appointed on 13 December 2019) BREE(RZFE-NFF=A+=HEZ(F) AB

A: Attending seminars/conferences/training sessions and reading materials
relating to corporate governance, directors’ duties and responsibilities,
and updates on rules, laws and/or regulations relating to listed
companies

B: Reading newspapers/journals/articles and in-house briefings relating to
the economy, general business, and/or the Company’s business
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company has arranged
appropriate insurance cover for directors’ liabilities in respect of potential
legal actions against the Directors arising out of corporate activities of the
Group pursuant to Code Provision A.1.8 of the CG Code. Such directors’
liability insurance will be reviewed and renewed annually.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no claim has been made against
the Directors.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external service provider as its Company
Secretary since 2 September 2015. Ms. Chu Wei Ning, the chief executive
officer of the Company, and Ms. Lam Sze Man, an executive Director,
are the contact person of the external service provider. The biographical
details of the Company Secretary are disclosed in the “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual
report. During the year under review, Ms. Huen Lai Chun, being the
Company Secretary of the Company, undertook over 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update her skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general meeting
Pursuant to Section 74(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act and the Bye-
laws 58, the Shareholder(s) holding as at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
with the right of voting at general meetings of the Company may request

the Board to convene a special general meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of the
Company at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
for the attention of the Company Secretary and may consist of several

documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting,
but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
three months from the said date.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TRERERE(E)

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT (continued)

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board
Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong.

Other Shareholders’ enquiries can be directed in writing with contact
details (including name, address, telephone number and email address)
to the principal office in Hong Kong of the Company at Suites 3103-04,
31/F, Oxford House, Taikoo Place, 979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay, Hong
Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at general meetings
of the Company.

Procedures for putting proposals at a general meeting
Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at
general meetings of the Company. Proposals shall be directed in writing
with contact details (including name, address, telephone number and
email address) to the principal office in Hong Kong of the Company
at Suites 3103-04, 31/F, Oxford House, Taikoo Place, 979 King's Road,
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary.

The procedures for proposing a person for election as a Director are

available on the website of the Company.
The Board may, in its sole discretion, consider if such proposals are

appropriate and shall be put forward to the Shareholders for approval at
the next general meeting of the Company to be convened by the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company communicates with its Shareholders and investors
through various channels including publication of interim and annual
reports, announcements, circulars, press releases and other corporate
communications and publications available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for direct
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The Company
encourages their participation through general meetings where they meet
and exchange views with the Board, and exercise their right to vote at
general meetings.

To promote the communication between the Company and
its Shareholders, the Company has established a Shareholders’
communication policy which will be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure
its effectiveness and compliance with the prevailing regulatory and other
requirements.

An up-to-date consolidated version of the Memorandum of Association
and Bye-laws of the Company is published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. There have been no changes to such
constitutional documents during the year under review.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B HE RS

TO THE MEMBERS OF

CHINA BAOLI TECHNOLOGIES HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEEARKEZERERAR

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of China
Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 59 to 224,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the
Basic for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(@) Limitation of scope on prior year’s scope limitation affecting
comparative figures and related disclosures
As explained in our report dated 12 July 2019 on the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2019 (the “2019 Consolidated Financial Statements”), we were
not provided with sufficient evidence to enable us to satisfy
ourselves as to whether the Group’s share of result and thus
impairment loss of Yota and its subsidiaries (the “Yota Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2019 were fairly stated and whether
the summarised financial information of the Yota Group as shown
in Note 21 to the 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements were
properly disclosed. We qualified our opinion on the Group’s 2019
Consolidated Financial Statements in respect of this limitation of

scope accordingly.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

(a)

(b)

Limitation of scope on prior year’s scope limitation affecting
comparative figures and related disclosures (continued)

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the figures as described
above may affect the related disclosures in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2020. The comparative figures for the year ended 31
March 2019 shown in these consolidated financial statements may

not be comparable with the figures for the current year.

Limitation of scope on loss on deconsolidation of We Fly
Travel Limited (“We Fly”)

As stated in Note 43 to the consolidated financial statements, a
director who was appointed by the Group as a director of We
Fly, resigned on 3 February 2020, accordingly, the directors of
the Company (the “Directors”) resolved that the Group no longer
had the power to govern the financial and operating policies of
We Fly, and the control over We Fly was lost on that date and
deconsolidate We Fly since 3 February 2020 (the “Deconsolidation
Date").

Due to the non-cooperation of the management of We Fly, the
Directors were unable to access to the books and records of We Fly
since the Deconsolidation Date, despite the fact that the Directors
have taken all reasonable steps and has used its best endeavors
to resolve the matter.

Under the circumstances as explained above, we were not able to
carry out procedures which we considered necessary on the books
and records of We Fly, to satisfy ourselves as to the existence,
ownership, completeness, accuracy, valuation and classification of
its total assets of approximately HK$194,116,000 and total liabilities
of approximately HK$23,956,000 as at the Deconsolidation Date
and of its loss of approximately HK$4,998,000 for the period
from 1 April 2019 to the Deconsolidation Date. Consequently,
we were unable to satisfy ourselves as to whether the loss on
deconsolidation of approximately HK$175,437,000 arising thereon
was fairly stated. There were no other satisfactory audit procedures
that we could adopt to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence in

this regard.

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the above amounts
would affect the amounts recorded in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in respect of We
Fly for the period from 1 April 2019 to the Deconsolidation Date,
with a corresponding effect on the loss on deconsolidation of a
subsidiary, and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
B AR E (E)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

(c)

(d)

56

Limitation of scope on share of results and derecognition
of interests in associates

As stated in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Directors assessed that the Group has lost its significant
influence on the Yota Group on 30 April 2019 (the “Derecognition
Date”). As the books and records of the Yota Group were kept
and maintained by the official liquidator, which were not made
available to the Group’s management, we have not been provided
with sufficient appropriate audit evidence, including information
and explanations, to ascertain the financial position of the Yota
Group as at the Derecognition Date and its result of operations
for the period from 1 April 2019 to the Derecognition Date. There
were no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt

to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence in this regard.

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the above amounts
would affect the amounts recorded in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in respect of the
Yota Group for the period from 1 April 2019 to the Derecognition
Date, with a corresponding effect on the loss on derecognition of
associates, and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated

financial statements.

Multiple fundamental uncertainties relating to going concern
As stated in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group reported loss attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$114,089,000 for the year ended 31 March
2020 and, as of that date, the Group's current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by approximately HK$521,198,000 and the Group
had net liabilities of approximately HK$430,491,000, in which
total borrowings amounted to approximately HK$269,359,000,
while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$2,715,000.

These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and therefore it may be unable to realise its

assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

As explained in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared by
the Directors on a going concern basis, the validity of which
is dependent on the Group’s ability to obtain sufficient future
funding. Due to the uncertainty of the Group’s ability to maintain
adequate future cash flows, we were unable to ascertain
whether the assumptions made by the Directors in preparing the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis are
proper and appropriate.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

(d) Multiple fundamental uncertainties relating to going concern
(Continued)
Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments would be necessary to reclassify all non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively,
write-down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts
and to provide for further liabilities which may arise. The
consolidated financial statements have not incorporated any of
these adjustments. However, the uncertainty surrounding the
Group’s future cash flows raises significant doubt about the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. We consider
that appropriate disclosures have been made in the consolidated
financial statements concerning this situation, but we are unable to
obtain adequate evidence concerning the Group’s ability to meet
any financial obligations as and when they fall due and we consider
that these material uncertainties relating to going concern basis.

We consider the cumulative effect of the above matters on the
consolidated financial statements is so extreme that we have disclaimed

our opinion.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
B AR E (E)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act and Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the
HKICPA and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. However, because of the matters described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not able
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an
audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Lam Chik Tong

Practising Certificate Number: P05612

8/F., Catic Plaza
8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

31 August 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H E =

ma
TEFE=A=+—HLFE

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
K 5F FHET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers BEPAHKA 8 49,302 44,580
Cost of revenue @ N (42,636) (103,149)
Gross profit (loss) ER(ES) 6,666 (58,569)
Other income, gains and losses, net Ha A Wz & g8 55 10 15,140 30,024
Impairment losses under expected credit loss J& Hi{E & B EERX T 2 @ E
model, net of reversal EiiE (bR EE) 12 (6,464) (612,901)
Impairment loss on interests in associates B Na R RERBRE 24 — (331,352)
Impairment loss on goodwiill BB REEE 25 — (87,196)
Administrative expenses THER (118,216) (203,888)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (4,912) (19,576)
Loss on deconsolidation of a subsidiary WEBARKRIEEAARZEIR 43 (175,437) —
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries RN =EPNCIdl € 3,445 —
Loss on derecognition of associates WILERBE RNF 2 EE 24 (313) —
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary o E M B ARz e 44 207,760 —
Finance costs BERA 11 (43,138) (25,468)
Share of profit of associates JE A Bk & A R 2 g A 24 — 474
Loss before tax BRBE AT 18 (115,469) (1,308,452)
Income tax (expense) credit Frigdi (M) % 13 (3,090) 2,502
Loss for the year rTEEBER 14 (118,559) (1,305,950)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTATEGEAFEERE:
— Owners of the Company — ARAEBA (114,089) (1,298,305)
— Non-controlling interests — JEERRER (4,470) (7,645)
(118,559) (1,305,950)
Loss per share SREE 8
— Basic and diluted — EARR#E (3.08) centsfl (36.29) centsflll
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meBEmkEtMEEWER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HEZE T _ZTF = A=+ —HILFZ

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-NF
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET
Loss for the year rEEEE (118,559) (1,305,950)
Other comprehensive income (expense): Htt2EBA(EZH) :
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to HEnEN HBEEEmoEE -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign & /8N E T E £ 2 IE 5
operations =8 11,874 (25)
Release of exchange reserve upon deregistration of LS I BB A ] IR AR BR 1B
subsidiaries ke (3,923) -
Share of exchange reserve of associates FEAR R & DR 2 E KB — (3,168)
Release of exchange reserve upon derecognition of AR LB SR R B B AR R
associates FE 5 15 313 —
Other comprehensive income (expense) for the year, net AEE Hih & mE U A (ZH)
of income tax (BRATEBIE) 8,264 (3,193)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEEEZEXHARE (110,295) (1,309,143)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to: DTATEGEZEZ HAAEE:
Owners of the Company PN/NEIEZ SN (106,395) (1,301,645)
Non-controlling interests R R (3,900) (7,498)
(110,295) (1,309,143)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BRI R

As at 31 March 2020 R-ZZE-FEF=F=+—H

2020 2019
—EZEF —T-NF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
K iF FET FET
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BELRZE 19 6,699 9,986
Land use rights 4 5 AR A 20 — 8,328
Right-of-use asset ERAEEE 21 11,197 —
Intangible assets mEEE 23 52,292 19
Goodwiill EES 25 54,962 185,285
Interests in associates REE DR 2R 24 — —
Deferred tax assets BELEFHIBEE 36 — 2,524
125,150 206,142
Current assets REBEE
Inventories "E 26 7 11,638
Trade and other receivables EWES R EMRE 27 44,374 36,005
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss & QX FEFAEZEZ
EmMEE 28 512 778
Bank balances and cash RITEBRBES 29 2,715 7,317
47,608 55,738
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables R85 Rk H A AR1E 30 237,970 387,047
Contract liabilities AHaE 33 26,543 469
Lease liabilities HEBE 37 3,586 —
License fees payables e RFRTIEE 32 28,633 —
Tax payable JE 7% 18 3,090 —
Bank and other borrowings WITREMEES 34 259,491 209,895
Convertible loan AR E R 35 9,493 —
568,806 597,411
Net current liabilities RBAaEFEE (521,198) (541,673)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBEE (396,048) (335,531)
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Consohdofed Statement of Financial Position (continued)
N
n-IT\ (=] /Zl-ﬁ%;lj( /R’%% (nE)
As at 31 March 2020 R=ZF-_THF=F=+—H
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-NF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
b et FHET FET
Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 34 9,868 28,895
Lease liabilities HEEE 31 812 —
License fees payables R RFTEE 32 23,763 —
Deferred tax liabilities BEXEHRIBAE 36 — 30
34,443 28,925
Net liabilities aBEFE (430,491) (364,456)
Capital and reserves BERRFE
Share capital [N 37 372,156 363,823
Reserves &1 (790,861) (716,627)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KARIER NELER (418,705) (352,804)
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR = 53 (11,786) (11,652)
Total deficit 5 At 42 58 (430,491) (364,456)
The consolidated financial statements on pages 59 to 224 were approved FOOEEFLRUAMNBREMBREIRZZEZZSFN
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 August 2020 A=t—BEEZEEei EREERE SHUTA
and are signed on its behalf by: TREEZE:

Zhang Yi
iR X
Director

s
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H E =

Attributable to the owner of the Company

Consolidated Statement of Chonges in Equity

LT

“TF=ZA=t—RLFE

ARERENES
Shares
held under
Capital Share share award Share-based Non-
Share Share redemption  Other stheme  payment Exchange  Special Contributed Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium reserve - reserve reserve reserve  reserve  reserve surplus losses Total interests Total
RERORE  NREA
£4RE HHfE ERZAR
kx RHEE HBE AtHR BRERE ROER BE EXRE GHBE  MABR  EUER BE FERER &g
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
TET  FET FEr  FEL T FET TEr  FEr  TEL FET AT FER TET  FET
(Note a) (Wote b)
(ita)  (Wito)
At 1 April 2018 RZZ-\¥MA-H 352,251 2,044,106 13878 46962 (1,268) 20421 13,969 78176 684,966 (2,420,199) 861,478 (4,154) 857324
Loss for the year KEREE - - - - - - - - — (1,298305) (1298305 (7,645) (1305,950)
Other comprehensive (expense) income for the year ~ AFEEH2E (R H)MA
Items that may be redlssified subsequently to RETENABZERL
profit or foss: EE:
Exchange differences arising on translation of BERNRBRELL
foreign operations EXZR - - - - - - (172) - - - (172) 147 (25)
Share of exchange reserve of associates EEBELRZELEE - - - - - - (3168) - - — (3168 - (3169)
Other comprehensive (expense) income for the FEREMZE(TH)
year, net of income tax WA (BEEH %) - - - - - - (3340 - - - (3340 W 319)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AERREX AR - - - - - - B33 - = (1,298,305 (1301645)  (7498) (1,309,143)
Issuance of shares for the further acquisition of an 3t —F KB -HEE AR
associate (Note 371b)) BARG W 2,543 3245 - - - - - - - - 349% - 349%
Issuance of shares under share award scheme BE H)« H REFHEORG
(Note 37¢)) i 9,029 - - - (9,029) - - - - - - - -
Equity settled share-based transaction (Note 41)
- - - - - 52,368 - - - — 52,368 — 52368
Allotment of awarded shares to trustee (Vote 47 - 62,98 - - 10,281 (72,539) - - - - - - -
Share award forfeited (Notes 41) - - - - - (250) - - - 250 - - -
Lapse of share options (Note 40) - - - - - - - - - 28,216 - - -
A3 March 2019 RIE-AEZAZT-8 38383 23886 348 46982 (16 — 06 TBI6 684966 (3690038 (52804 (11650 (364456)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

o I A =
meEagER(E)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 B Z=ZT =%

FZA=1+—HBLFE

Attributable to the owner of the Company

ARRREAEE
Shares
held under
Capital Contingent ~ share award Share-based Non-
Share  Share redemption  Other consideration scheme  payment Exchange  Special Contributed Accumulated controlling
capital premium Teserve  reserve reserve reserve TeServe  reserve  reserve surplus losses Total interests Total
RERGRE  HURGA
BERE FHESE ERZAR
RE RHEE HE HbEE IAREEE RORR B EXBE RAHE MARH  EHER BE FEREZ a8
K000 HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSO0D  HKSOO0  HKSUGD  AKSOO0 HKSUOD AKSOO0  HKSOO0  HKSUGD HKSUO0  HKSOO0  HKSO00
fEr  TET FEr  FEr FEr FET fE#r  TEr  TEx &z AL FET FEr  TEx
(Note b)
(W26

At 1 Aprl 2019 R-E-AEFmA-R 36383 2038816 13878 46982 - (16) — 069 T8I 634966 (3690038 (32804 (11652 (364456)

Loss for the year KEEER - - - - - - - - - — (14089 (1408 (4470) (118559)

Other comprehensive income for the year ~ AEFEf2ERA

ltems that may be reclassified subsequenty — REHEHFHEERIEE

to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation ~ RE BN EBEELZENES

of foreign operations - - - - - - - 11304 - - - 1304 510 18
Release of exchange reserve upon RUBLATERRRELRR

deregistration of subsidiaries - - - - - - - (3,923) - - - (3,923) - (39
Release of exchange reserve upon RETERBERIRBRES

derecognition of associates L - - - - - - - 313 - - - 313 - 313
Other comprehensive income for the year, ~ AEFEM2ARA(BHERE)

net of income tax - - - - - - - 7,694 - - - 7694 570 8,264

Total comprehensive expense for the year ~ AEE2EXLEE - - - - - - - 769 - — (114089 (106395  (3900) (110,295)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Vote 42) 8333 6,000 - - 25,800 - - - - - — 40,133 - 40133

Deemed disposal of equity interest of a

subsidiary without losing control (Note 45) - - - 361 - - - - - - - 361 361) -

Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (Note 43) - - - - - - - - - - - - 4127 4127

At 31 March 2020 SIS L4816 B8 4133 25,800 (16) — B33 I 634966  (380412]) (18705 (11786) (430491)

Notes: M &t

(@) The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between (a) ARE 2RI EEAAR BRMNEE S E
the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company in ERAMKENE AR 2 RANHEREMEIT.ZRA
exchange for the nominal amount of share capital of its subsidiaries HFEZHE -
acquired at the date of the group reorganisation.

(b)  The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference (b)  AEEZBARGIEME DR R AR B
between the consolidated shareholders’ funds of the subsidiaries at BAZEOMRE & MR & W EH s E
the date on which they were acquired by the Company, and the BOZANFIRMEEZ Z8  EADE2 B
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at i (B AR ST $#54948,000,0008 TR N =TT 5k
the time of the group reorganisation; the cancellation of an amount HZARNBBRAZ #ERE L6 000 JT -
of approximately HK$48,000,000 from the share premium account UWER-ZZ_FEHETR_TT=FFH
of the Company and the credit of an amount of approximately R R ¥ 75 BT 15 B B £926,719,000/% 7T ©
HK$610,247,000 of the Company’s share capital cancelled in 2002 and
the contribution of approximately HK$26,719,000 from the placing of
warrants in 2002 that had expired in 2003.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the RIBERE—NN—FREDEEIERT) - ARF

contributed surplus account of the Company is available for ZEHABBKRAL DK o AT - A H B TS

distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, A AIARR AR EIRSOR SRS - B A

or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if: BERELE DI :

(i) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay (i) RN B R S A R R S E B
its liabilities as they become due; or HHaFE: g

(i) the realisable value of the Company's assets would thereby be (i)  AnEEE A EREESELD) R
less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share ARBEREETRAMBK N S ER 2
capital and share premium account. aR=

() The other reserve with the amount of HK$46,962,000 represents the (0 H b 1%46,952,0007’5 - BREERLE

capital injection from an investor in relation to the disposal of certain —HEAR T RN o (36 25 SR 5 B 5.
equity interest in a subsidiary not resulting in the Group losing control REZM B AR 2 R E - MARMLEREE
over that subsidiary, in which the disposal had not yet been completed HER MRS FTETE o
at the reporting date.
On 19 March 2020, the Group and the investor entered into a R-ZF-_ZF=A+NH" Zl-‘%‘%@ﬁi\%%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ
supplemental agreement pursuant to which the Group and the investor N AL AEERZEAERE
agreed to extend the completion of the disposal to not later than 18 HEFENTKAHERETER T -_—F
March 2021. =A+N\H-

(d) In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Company had no d) AREEFRR ARFARZFT_TF=-A[=1
reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2020 —BER T -AF=A=t+—HUEAHS KT
and 31 March 2019. BRER Z -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZT-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RESEE
Loss before tax R 75 Al &S 1B (115,469) (1,308,452)
Adjustments for: MTZIIEE
Interest income A2 A (155) (32,988)
Finance costs A KA 43,138 25,468
Gain from change in fair value of convertible loan ARRERITETIALS 2
derivative component NTEZEEH W= (49) —
Impairment losses recognised in respect of MEEE QRS ERZME
interests in associates &8 — 331,352
Impairment losses recognised in respect of HEWE ZRIBRER 2 RE
trade receivables &8 5,930 792
Impairment losses recognised in respect of U E AR IE T R 2 RLE
other receivables &8 2,057 2,126
Impairment loss recognised in respect of U S AR RIAER
amounts due from associates B & 1B — 610,077
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in respect BEERE 5 RIE R
of trade receivables B & 1B (134) (64)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in respect 1 [0 3t P U E b AR E e 3R
of other receivables B & 1B (1,389) (30)
Impairment loss on goodwill AR EEE — 87,196
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M- -BELZBEITE 1,953 3,029
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 3,525 —
Written off of property, plant and equipment L/ EN V=N 479 63
Written-down of inventories 7 & #MOR — 21,426
Amortisation of land use rights - b (55 A A A 5 — 463
Amortisation of intangible asset A E 20,673 8
Net unrealised losses on financial assets at fair BRATEFABRZEMEE
value through profit or loss ZRBIEEEFE 266 1,377
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment LEWE BERREZ
g = (1) (149)
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries B AR 2 = (3.445) —
Loss on deconsolidation of a subsidiary MEBARKIESREAR ZEE 175,437 —
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMB AR 2= (207,760) —
Loss on derecognition of associates IR E AT 2 BB 313 —
Gain on early renewal of license fee agreement RAMEARTEERE 2 WS (17,382) —
Share of profit of associates & A5 B R B 2 s A — (474)
Share-based payments VAR (7 A B 1R 2 5P 5K — 52,368
Operating cash flows before movements in EEESHBAZKRERER
working capital (92,013) (206,412)
Decrease in inventories GFERD 12,744 64,010
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables FEUE 5 I H BRI (35 hn) 7l 2> (6,908) 27,062
Increase in trade and other payables FETE 5 Ik H h BR I8 38 hn 32,318 72,703
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities SHEEEINOR D) 26,074 (939)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETEBMABESEE (27,785) (43,576)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

n'IT\/\Iﬁzﬁ /JILEZ:—E (IIE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z T T F = A=+ —HILFE

2020 2019
—E-FF —Nn&F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREED
Interest received B A B 10 24
Payment for the purchase of property, plant and BEME BELRZRBIZAR
equipment (3) (3,619)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEWE BEREREZME
equipment I 128 2,032
Advance to associates ERERANCI - — (20,895)
Net cash outflow from deconsolidation of MEBARKIESEEARZ
a subsidiary W mHFE (2,153) —
Net cash inflow from disposal of a subsidiary HEMBAR 2HE R A FHE 100 —
Net cash outflow from deregistration of subsidiaries =58 AR 2 ¥ & %L F 58 (2) -
Net cash inflow from acquisition of a subsidiary WHEMB AR 2R AFE 107 —
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZBHRARESER (1,813) (22,458)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEETH
Interest paid ERFE (493) (2,034)
Proceeds from issue of convertible loan BATO MR B R 2 FT{S I8 8,550 —
New bank and other borrowings raised BRI REMEE 8,049 20,528
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BEERITRAMEE (3.120) (9,144)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEEaE (3.300) —
Advance from shareholders and directors MR R EEBHK 948 26,903
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMETDREREFH 10,634 36,253
NET DECREASE IN BANK BALANCES AND CASH SRITE&#RERE LR F (18,964) (29,781)
BANK BALANCES AND CASH AT BEGINNING FHZETHEBRRE
OF THE YEAR 7,317 33,271
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes Exgy s 14,362 3,827
BANK BALANCES AND CASH AT END FRZB|ITEHRRES
OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash NIRITEBRERBERT 2,715 7,317
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place of
business in Hong Kong is located at Suites 3103-04, 31/F., Oxford
House, Taikoo Place, 979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are mobile and multi-media
technologies business, gamma ray irradiation services, tourism and
hospitality business, and other operations — securities trading and

investment.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Going concern basis

As stated in the consolidated financial statements, the Group
reported loss attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$114,089,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020
and, as of that date, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by approximately HK$521,198,000 and the Group
had net liabilities of approximately HK$430,491,000, in which
total bank and other borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$269,359,000, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately HK$2,715,000 only. Notwithstanding the above, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis as the directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
have given careful consideration to the impact of the current and
anticipated future liquidity of the Group and are satisfied that:

(1) The Company is in the final stage of discussion with the
People’s Government of Tongnan County of Chongging
City to capitalise its loan which amounted to approximately
HK$121,839,000;

(2)  The Company reached an agreement with one of the
creditors to capitalise the loan which amounted to
approximately HK$23,400,000 subsequent to the reporting

period;

—RER

FEENREERBRAR (AARDIRAE
FRETMRLZEREBRAR - HRNES
BEMERSGMERAT (BT ER LT -
A B 2 FE M #% = B AL 7 Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda - ifl
HEABITZEEWRUNRBEANARREE
979 A U1 R S K E311#3103-04%

ARBZEIBERBAREER MANBLR
FZIBEBRTHREZEBRMER - M
BRI RS -~ IR MOB R R A R E A

S 3

EMBHRUAARRA 2D EEE T
D

ER I

mBEEE

BEKSEE%E

WMGRE BRI BEZTS_TF=
A=+ —RALFE AEEE2RANAEES
A JE 16 /55 18 49114,089,00058 7T & & = #%
H ASENRHEBEEAERBEED
521,198,000 T - BEAK B BHEEFELD
430,491,000 T - EPRITREMEERLRE
#)/5269,359,000 T - MR & MRS EFEE
B4 42,715,000 T - &EWL - R4
BHREDEFELSEEERY  RERARA
RES(ES)EREZEREAEBERNNA
HARARBESHTE  FIEM:

(1 AR2FEEREEEMEER A
RBEFETHNEERE  UBHEYD
121,839,000/ T E K E A1k

(2) MRIMEHE  ARFHER—ZEEA
X R A B AN (B B 3 4923,400,000
T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#EZE T -_ZTF=A=+—HIFE

68

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (continued)

(3)  The shareholders and directors of the Company undertake
not to require the Company to repay their loans until such
time when repayment will not affect the ability of the Group
to repay other creditors in the normal course of business;

(4) The mobile and multi-media technologies business has
generated approximately HK$39,946,000 revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2020 and this proves the success
of Company’s business strategies in focusing more on
asset-light, less capital-intensive mobile and multi-media
technologies business; and

(5)  The Company is in discussion with potential investors to
implement a fund-raising exercise which can raise fund in
the maximum amount of HK$200,000,000.

In addition, the management of the Company has been actively
working on restructuring and resumption progress. Through
fund-raising exercises and continuing the above mentioned
business strategies, the Group would be able to meet its financial
obligations and obtain additional financing resources in pursuing
other business and fulfilling the operational needs. The Directors
have prepared a cash flow forecast covering a period up to
31 March 2021 on the basis that the Group’s aforementioned
plans and measures will be successful, and are satisfied that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within the twelve months
from 31 March 2020. Accordingly, the Directors consider that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments that would result from the failure of the Group to
obtain sufficient future funding. Should the Group be unable to
continue to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have
to be made to reduce the carrying amounts of the assets of the
Group to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities
as current assets and liabilities, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRMEGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC)-Interpretation
(“Int") 23

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9  Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation
Amendments to Hong Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Kong Accounting Settlement
Standard (“HKAS") 19
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2015-2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

3.1 HKFRS 16 Leases
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in
the current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases
("HKAS 17"), and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this
standard to contracts that were not previously identified as
containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed
contracts which already existed prior to the date of initial
application.

3.

FERHIEBMBERELEARKEIT (&
BB HEER ]
REFERBERZHTEBUBREER
REMBH

EARFE AEEBEREARATHEEGR
g ((HEEEFMAgG)BEMZHTEE
BT s E R R EERT

EEMBREER HME
£165%
55 (BBRUBHRE EREBZTETEHE

2EZ8®

—R2E(RED
%5235

EAVERERER ABEWEZRAERS
FIK 25 FT B

EREEEN
(IEEEEN]D

sHENEET - MR e s iy

195 2B FT
EEGEN REE R RAERE
F2858 2 1EFT ZERMES
EAMBHRELY —T-AFE_T—+t
pACT FRP2EBHBER

5 2RI B

BTES  RAFEREAFE BT HER
SHEAREBCITHAEBEREFERBEFE
ZHBRAMKR R IZEGEVBRE
BB BEERLEERAYE -

31 EEBUBHREEREIHEHE
AEBRAFEARERSBVBR
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16RMREBGHEAE17RBE((F
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z =TT F = A=+ —HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)

3.1

70

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Definition of a lease (continued)

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1
April 2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in
accordance with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in

assessing whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessee
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial

application, 1 April 2019.

As at 1 April 2019, the Group recognised additional lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to
the related lease liabilities by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii)
transition. Any difference at the date of initial application
is recognised in the opening accumulated losses and
comparative information has not been restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to
the extent relevant to the respective lease contracts:

(i) relied on the assessment of whether leases are
onerous by applying HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets as an alternative of
impairment review;

(ii) elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12

months of the date of initial application;

(iii)  excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-
of-use assets at the date of initial application; and

(iv) used hindsight based on facts and circumstances
as at date of initial application in determining the
lease term for the Group's leases with extension and
termination options.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG 3. ERAFIEBUVBBEEARAEIT(E

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") BEBREERNDE)

(continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily REFEBRHEMZHITEBHBREER

effective for the current year (continued) R HAEFT (&)

3.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued) 31 FBEHBEHEEREI6HHE(E)
As a lessee (continued) TERATAA ()
When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously REREADEAKEHENEED
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied HEBERN ASEEEAREXRE
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities RAMARAEEEREAIESERTE -
at the date of initial application. The incremental borrowing FFr & A ) 18 2 18 5 FI £ 510.62% ©

rate applied is 10.62%.

At 1 April
2019
RZTE—NF
mA—HA
HK$'000
FET
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 RZZE—NFZA=Z+—HEFRENEK
March 2019 EHEARE 7,774
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental BREBAEEERMNEFROHBEEEE
borrowing rates 6,531

Add: Change in allocation basis between lease and
non-lease components

Less: Practical expedient — leases with lease term
ending within 12 months from the date of
initial application

& 834
B AATREER — BEREREAEH
BEREARNEBNEE

Lease liabilities relating to operating leases recognised 7 & F§ & 7 87 75 3 2 22 BI| 551655 B FE 3R

upon application of HKFRS 16 and lease liabilities
as at 1 April 2019
Add: Accrued lease payments at 31 March 2019

Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019

Analysed as:
Current
Non-current

(785)
MELEHEFENEEARBK
R-E-NFEMA-—BANHEEEE 6,580
mR-_ZE-NAE=ZA=+—B8EHE
ER® 550
RZEBE-NFHNA—HWNAEERE 7,130
DA
Nk 3,283
IER B 3,847
7,130

FEEARERIERER AT 201920 FEHRE A
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#EZE T -_ZTF=A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)
3.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 April

2019 comprises the following:

ERHIEBUBRELENREBIT (&
BMBREERDE)

REFERVNERZHIETBUBREER

R EAERT (&)

31 BEUBEBEEEREI6HHEE (E)
1ERABEA (B)
RZZE-NAFHA-—ENEREEER
HERENATSE:

Right-of-use assets

EREEE
Notes HK$'000
k3 FET
Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases 1A F& Fl & /& BF 7% 3 & 2 BI| 551657 B 7
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 RNHKEHEERNTERAREEE 7,130
Adjustments on rental deposits at 1 April 2019 RZZE—NFWA—HHEHLZLE
&Y 38 2 (@) 348
Reclassified from land use rights BEtFRAEER S b) 8,328
Less: Accrued lease liabilities at 1 April 2019 BN ZE—NFNA—B8ER
HEARE (550)
15,256

(a) Before the application of HKFRS 16, the Group
considered refundable rental deposits paid as rights
and obligations under leases to which HKAS 17
applied under other receivables. Based on the
definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such
deposits are not payments relating to the right to use
of the underlying assets and were adjusted to reflect
the discounting effect at transition. Accordingly,
approximately HK$348,000 was adjusted from
refundable rental deposits paid to right-of-use assets.

(b) Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) for own used
properties were classified as land use rights as at
31 March 2019. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the
non-current portion of land use rights amounting to
approximately of HK$8,328,000 was reclassified to
right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG 3.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)

3.1

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)
As a lessee (continued)
The transition to HKFRS

accumulated losses at 1 April 2019.

16 has no impact on the

The following adjustments were made to the amounts

recognised

in the consolidated statement of financial

position at 1 April 2019. Line items that were not affected

by the changes have not been included.

FERHFITERMBRELEARAET(E
BMBHREERDGE)

REFERBERZHTEBUBREER

R HEET (&)

31 BEHEHEEEREI6HHEE(E)
1ERAMEA ()
BEEBEMBHREERE16 LR
—E-NFMA-ARRFERLE

=4
[

RZZE-NFOA-BHEaHBRRAER
THRABNSEDHELATHE - R
FHEHTEMNAELEBIEAER -

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at HKFRS 16
31 March at 1 April
2019 Adjustments 2019
R-ZZE-h&
A—H
AR REEHE
—E-hF B mEER
=H=+-—8 H16EETER
EHRNEEE AR BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Land use rights + 5 AR A 8,328 (8,328) —
Right-of-use assets ERAREEE — 15,256 15,256
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables EWE SR HEAMIRIE 36,005 (348) 35,657
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables ERNES R EMERIR 387,047 (550) 386,497
Lease liabilities — current portion HEsE — RYHAS — 3,283 3,283
Non-current liabilities ERBEME
Lease liabilities — non-current portion HEBE —FERHBEH — 3,847 3,847
Note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating Kt BERBE_T-_TF=-A=+

activities under indirect method for the year ended 31
March 2020, movements in working capital have been
computed based on opening consolidated statement of
financial position as at 1 April 2019 as disclosed above.

—HIEFERMABEAFTENES
ERRELRSREBMmE  £E
BB IRE EXABRER-
Z-NEFEIA-BNEEEH
BMRRERFE -
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)

3.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)
As a lessor
In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS
16, the Group is not required to make any adjustment on
transition for leases in which the Group is a lessor but
account for these leases in accordance with HKFRS 16 from
the date of initial application and comparative information
has not been restated.

Before application of HKFRS 16, refundable rental deposits
received were considered as rights and obligations under
leases to which HKAS 17 applied under trade and other
payables. Based on the definition of lease payments under
HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to
the right-of-use assets should be adjusted to reflect the
discounting effect at transition. Based on the assessment
by the management of the Company, the amount of the
adjustment is insignificant and therefore no adjustment to
refundable rental deposits received has been made.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of Business?

Amendments to HKAS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*
and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform*

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

74 China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019/20

ERHIEBUBRELENREBIT (&
BMBREERDE)

REFERVNERZHIETBUBREER

R EAERT (&)

31 BEUBEBEEEREI6HHEE (E)
1E73 M4 A
BREFEEVHERELEINFEI6FNBE
B AEBBEARAEESLEA
MEEBEFLEMAR  BEEAE
REABBMERBEE B REER
FeREZEHEAR BAEET
LB EH -

NIERE B M H IS ER L1657 A1
BERARONEESRERRERENES
NEMBRBTEE G ERF 177 E
ANESETHENREEE - BRiIEE
BUBREEREIETHENRS
TE ZERSYIFEEREEEM
R WA B AR BB
BEEMNERYE REARTEERE
MM BESBEXIEAR Bl
BEHEWARODESRSIEHBE -

CHEMAEMRERZHTEBHBRSEER
R EAERT

RSB I AR R T I 2 AR A B R AR
ZHEA BN M E LR R HERT:

EAVBREERN  RERAL
F175%

BB BMEEL EBZER
FE3H BT

EBGEIERIZE105 RABHREBE NG

LB GFEL AeELERZ
F2858 2 1EF] BELERRAS

EAGTENEIR ERAZTEE
ME 2R
B8 25 FT

EBVBREERN MR ERP
Eok - BAEGH
AE I 253957 I
BB IS RS 4R
BT 2AEFT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRMEGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.
2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for

which the acquisition is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a
revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was issued
in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the Directors anticipate that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material
The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material

by including additional guidance and explanations in making
materiality judgments. In particular, the amendments:

o include the concept of “obscuring” material information
in which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the
information;

J replace threshold for materiality influencing users from

“could influence” to “could reasonably be expected to
influence”; and

3.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

(continued)

o include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than
simply referring to “users” which was considered too broad
when deciding what information to disclose in the financial
statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs
and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 April 2020. The application of the amendments is
not expected to have significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group but may affect the presentation
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

The amendments:

o add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business. The election on whether to apply
the optional concentration test is available on transaction-

by-transaction basis;

J clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set
of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs; and

o narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by
focusing on goods and services provided to customers and
by removing the reference to an ability to reduce costs.

The amendments are applied prospectively to all business
combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition date
is on or after the first annual reporting period beginning on or
after 1 April 2020, with early application permitted.

The Directors anticipate that the application of the amendments

is not expected to have significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z—Z T F ==+ —HILFE
APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG 3. EAFITEBUBRELENRAEBIT(E

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“New Framework”) and the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:

o reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

o introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights and
a new liability definition that is likely to be broader than the
definition it replaces, but does not change the distinction

between a liability and an equity instrument;

o discusses historical cost and current value measures,
and provides additional guidance on how to select a
measurement basis for a particular asset or liability;

o states that the primary measure of financial performance
is profit or loss, and that only in exceptional circumstances
other comprehensive income will be used and only for
income or expenses that arise from a change in the current
value of an asset or liability; and

o discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the
reporting entity and combined financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that references in
certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New Framework, whilst
some HKFRSs are still referred to the previous versions of the
framework. These amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with earlier application
permitted. Other than specific standards which still refer to the
previous versions of the framework, the Group will rely on the
New Framework on its effective date in determining the accounting
policies especially for transactions, events or conditions that are

not otherwise dealt with under the accounting standards.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (since
1 April 2019) or HKAS 17 Leases (before application of HKFRS 16),
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories

or value in use in HKAS 36 /Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation

technique equals the transaction price.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to
the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition

of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date;

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at
the acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the
lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date;
or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same amount as
the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable
or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with

market terms.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a

transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from
the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at

the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019/20

TEEHEREGE)

EBa 6t (E)

BERAEERE  EAFEERERZNRK
BORMESRLRKRETBEMSREET
(B ZRFEZEM  BHARER
HAEEAMAEEENKRBRMZ FEZ
EZREAE o WG EMTHE - FTURIB TR
EEMAMAEEBEZFEBLAERNE
EROESEYEE: i iR = Wil il ek ST
BHBERFRRELREMB) 2 RFE
2 AIZRIBRBEaRAREREER
W g e

BREHEAEEEZANFRREE THA AR
MIRLLPIEIE BB A RFEE 2 K
RER 0 ¥R 1R IF P ROHE 5 R EL DI FEAE R R B
FHHENFEEREAFTEZEERSE
B-HERARTTARSMELER -

EAKBEREBAHTERZRERBRA
REZHER  IARESRWBERZ LY
B8 YRAAERREHZAHTEBIZAR
Bz—8n AaBEREFERNRBZAAR
BzAFEEZHSENAR - FEHRHER
RIGFESMI(NEBEER K E R BT —F)
ABSRUBANCFEZEERBRAZE
SNERTEH 2 T o

TEERERMAEHIABRZIARBZER
BERRE RARAAREBZAEITR - 5
HREGZIARBTERERBEANE
a8 HERBENEZAOAR - 2EAE
ERABZHAARENERREARERN
EEQTE MEREKGERBEERBRE

N
ol
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the
cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a
cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit)
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the
group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an

associate and a joint venture is described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of
the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments in associates (continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate on the same basis as would be required
if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as
a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the

relevant associate.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture. There is
no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership

interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments in associates (continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate
are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related
to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods
or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of

the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria

is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that

the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring

control of goods or services.

Sale with a right of return/exchange
For a sale of products with a right of return/exchange for dissimilar
products, the Group recognises all of the following:

(a) revenue for the transferred products in the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
(therefore, revenue would not be recognised for the
products expected to be returned/exchanged);

(b) a refund liability/contract liability; and

(© an asset (and corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) for
its right to recover products from customers.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Over time recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation (continued)
Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the

payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction
price for any significant financing component.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods
or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for
those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another party.
In this case, the Group does not control the specified good or
service provided by another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent,
it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the

specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 3)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are

subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 3)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead account for
the lease component and any associated non-lease components

as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of offices that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 3) (continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any

remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life
and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on

the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9") and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered
as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-

use assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 3) (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less

any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement
or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive

income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period

in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received. Government grants
that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit schemes are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or

permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Any
changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service
cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their

inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value
of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.

Share options granted to suppliers/consultants

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other
than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or
services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated
reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity
obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service. The fair
values of the goods or services received are recognised as expenses
(unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)
Share award

The Group also grants shares of the Company to employees under
its share award scheme, under which the awarded shares are either
newly issued or are purchased from the open market. The net
consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental
costs, is presented as “Shares held under share award scheme
reserve” and deducted from equity.

For the shares granted under the share award scheme, the fair
value of shares granted to employees is recognised as share-
based payment expenses with a corresponding increase in share-
based payment reserve within equity. The fair value is based on
the closing price of the Company’s shares on grant date plus
any directly attributable incremental costs. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the shares, the total fair value of the shares is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the probability that

the shares will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of shares that is expected
to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative
fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited to profit
or loss for the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share-based payment reserve. On vesting date,
the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of shares that vest with corresponding adjustment
to the share-based payment reserve.

When the awarded shares are transferred to the awardees upon
vesting, the related acquisition cost of the awarded shares vested
are credited to the “Shares held under share award scheme
reserve”, and the grant date fair value of the awarded shares vested
are debited to the share-based payment reserve. The difference
between the related weighted average acquisition cost and the
grant date fair value of the awarded shares vested is transferred
to retained profits directly.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable

and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit or loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial

recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease
terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with
the tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable
that the relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax
treatment, the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using
either the most likely amount or the expected value.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for

on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Intangible assets (continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
(continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets other than goodwiill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets with finite useful life to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

TEEFEERGE)
BELEE(E)
REBEOHUBZELEE (F)

NG HERR  REBAFKBZEBTELEE
WMERRAGEHAFESR HERATERBZET
BEZBREEZKAR R #E R EMR
FHREBEZ® - REB A HFARENE
& BE B Rk 4 HI T 4% B A RUAE ] E
& R EBED R

BREERHERERATEREARLEE
ERREBEN R KRR - RIEEBETY
BEELEZEBRLEMGRERFHEREEE
FHEZZRAE YREERLIBARFR

B HER -

ME - BERRE ERAEEERENEE
(BERM ZRBE
AEERBREMREHNEDE  BELRE
EREEERERACAFHNETLEE 2
REE NEEREGADRBTZEEED
HEREBE NEFEEFREHETR  BlE
HETARBE E 2 IR E & B A R EEE
ZiE(E) -

ME BELRE EREEERETREE
ZAREl e B ERERIfEE o WE EEE
AMEETAIRE S8 AEBESGEERMR
BREELFEUZATKRODHE -

o REBFERAREERBF AR
ENTR - WIFEABIR  EAH5AE
R—BMOBEEEN  RAREETEHIER
BRlzHREEEXSEM  GRIGDEZAH 5
BEN-BZOREEz& N ATELEEN
ERII

AR SRR AT ERDEXANEEREE
ZBEE Rt AEREER - Mt ARKRE
ERETIERBBB AR KR (RKRT 5 R
He¥RREEZFHERRFRMGIRKER
ERBZEE(RRACELBM) ZHERR)
FHRERE -

PEEHRIBEBARAR 201920 EEHRE 99



Notes to the Conso|ic|c:teo| Financial Statements (continued)

e SRR MY A T8

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z =TT F = A=+ —HIFE

100

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a
cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised
and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered to
exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable
costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the

economic benefits expected to be received from the contract.

For onerous contracts relating to leases in which the Group
opts to apply HKFRS 16.C10(b) practical expedient at date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group adjusted the amount
of provision for onerous lease recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position immediately before the date of

initial application to the relevant right-of-use assets.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the Group's

ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on

the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on

the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income (“OCI") if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling

in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset

that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI

as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces

an accounting mismatch.

(@)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the

determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other

gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade receivables,
deposits, other receivables, amounts due from associates and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The

ECL on trade receivables are assessed collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or

risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to

meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the

Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a
low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have
low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit
rating of “investment grade” as per globally understood

definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since
initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the

Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified

debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default

criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(©) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with

the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined

at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor
in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is
guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected losses is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other

party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that are
specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that,
the risks are taken into account by adjusting the discount rate
instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level may
not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped
on the following basis:

o Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade
receivables and deposit and other receivables are each

assessed as a separate group);

o Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; or
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar
credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative
amount of income recognised over the guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset,
the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for

the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit

or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability

and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the

Company’s own equity instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, lease
liabilities, license fees payables, bank and other borrowings and
convertible loan are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder in accordance
with the terms and conditions. Financial guarantee contracts
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently

measured at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9 (since 1 April 2018)/HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (before
application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018); and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Convertible loan
A conversion option that will be settled other than by the exchange
of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Group’s own equity instruments is a conversion
option derivative.

At the date of issue, both the debt component and derivative
components are recognised at fair value. In subsequent periods,
the debt component of the convertible loan is carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. The derivative component
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is

recognised in profit or loss.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 4, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to

be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if

the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the management has made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern and liquidity

As explained in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the financial position of the Group indicates the existence of
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The assessment
of the going concern assumptions involves making judgement by
the management, at a particular point of time, about the future
outcome of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain.
The management considers that the Group has ability to continue
as a going concern and the major conditions that may cast
significant doubt about the going concern assumptions are set out
in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivable under simplified approach. The provision rates are
based on aging analysis as groupings of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns. The provision matrix are based on internal
credit ratings and the Group's historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The Group calculate the ECL for the other receivables by grouping
the counterparties with similar nature under general approach.
The provision rate are based on internal credit ratings and taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade and other
receivables are disclosed in Notes 7(b) and 27 respectively.

Principal versus agent consideration (agent)

The Group is considered as an agent for its contracts with
customers relating to the provision of online travel product booking
service as the Group did not obtain the control over the travel
products before passing on to customers taking into consideration
indicators such as the Group is not exposed to inventory risk.
When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, the Group
recognises a fee revenue in the amount it expects to be entitled
as specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recognised
revenue relating to provision of online travel product booking
service amounted to approximately HK$4,681,000 (2019:
HK$5,227,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in provision of multi-media and advertising
services. The Group concluded that the Group acts as the principal
for such transactions as it controls the specified good before
it is transferred to the customer after taking into consideration
indicators such as the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling
the promise to provide the multi-media and advertising services.
The Group has inventory risk, latitude in establishing prices and
selecting suppliers. When the Group satisfies the performance
obligation, the Group recognises revenue in the gross amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled as
specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recognised
revenue relating to provision of multi-media and advertising
services amounted to approximately HK$33,683,000 (2019: Nil).

Loss of control over We Fly Travel Limited (“We Fly”)

As stated in Note 43 to the consolidated financial statements, on
3 February 2020, a director who was appointed by the Group as a
director of We Fly has resigned as a director of We Fly, accordingly,
the Directors resolved that the Group no longer had the power
to govern the financial and operating policies of We Fly, and the
control over We Fly could no longer meet the definition of control
in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements on that date and
the financial statements of We Fly have been deconsolidated from
the financial statements of the Company since 3 February 2020.

Loss of significant influence over Yota Group

As stated in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements,
upon submission of all the information to the official liquidator on
30 April 2019, the Directors were of the opinion that the Group
has lost its significant influence on the Yota Group on 30 April
2019 and Yota will cease to be accounted for as an associate of
the Group.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
These estimates are based on the current market condition and
the historical experience of selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes in customer taste
or competitor actions. Management reassesses these estimates
at each reporting date. As at 31 March 2020, inventories of
approximately HK$7,000 (2019: HK$11,638,000) are stated at net
realisable value.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value-in-
use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future cash, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March 2020, the carrying
amount of goodwill is HK$54,962,000 (2019: HK$185,285,000)
(net of accumulated impairment loss of HK$32,293,000 (2019:
HK$167,689,000)). Details of the recoverable amount calculation
are disclosed in Note 25.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes
in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital
structure on the basis of a net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio.
For this purpose the Group defines net debt as total debt
(which include trade and other payables, contract liabilities, lease
liabilities, license fees payables, bank and other borrowings and
convertible loan) less bank balances and cash. Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity. The Group’s policy is to keep
that ratio at a reasonable level.

BRETHERATTREREM ZEER
R (4E)

HEHTREEZEERR(E)
BEZ G EE
ErHmEREREAGHEIEBEZE
SEABEUzARESE  NFERAEERA
FEBALERAZERSE - St EFEREEZA
AEBFBABHRRESELENEELEZ A
REEREUREBEIEE - UFTERE -
EEBRAKRESAELAEY  KNEEN
BRABEBERRREME EE] - BIATgEE
HFEAREEBE N_E-_ZEF=A=+—
B A2 EEEARS4,962,0008 0 (=% —
JU4F : 185,285,000/ 7)) (3B K 5TRE K B
32,293,000/ L (= Z — .4 : 167,689,000/%
To)) o AT Bl & REET E A BRI 258 5 o

EXEBRER
AEBEAERE 2 TEZANRBBHER N
MRS R RK AR Z EE - MRIAE
BRARGRE  KREAEERBSELE
EEBEEZB 2N UKBERBRRTRE
W RRRBEMSOEZMNS

AEEEGERRIRERRLEARE
I RBCRA RSB R (AT ELRRKT
EREERFEARRNZEZRBEM 2 M
RFEFTE  TRREFARR 2 EBHHELE
RIRHE -

TEEN - AEERREHFREL
PEERL AL EBEARRE - gLt
5 ARBREBFEAERETRE(ER
FERNESZNEMKRE  a0aE HER
& BANEFEE  RITREMGEEURA
BEEFORERTESREAS - KRAEE
AEEmBEEDRSD AEBEZBEIKZ
RRFEEREAKFE -
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. EZIKEL%MIE(Z%)
The net debt-to-adjusted capital ratios as at 31 March 2020 and RZZBZZEFR_ZF-NAF=ZA=+—HZ
2019 are as follows: BB FEHLCAERER L RN T
2020 2019
— 7 —_ q—: iﬁ_ﬂfﬁ
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Trade and other payables ERE SR H A ARIE 237,970 387,047
Contract liabilities AHAaE 26,543 469
Lease liabilities HE&aE 4,398 —
License fees payable R REFEE 52,396 —
Bank and other borrowings fﬂﬁ&ﬁf’mﬁ =i 269,359 238,790
Convertible loan BIE:Ys 9,493 —
Total debt B4R 600,159 626,306
Less: bank balances and cash W RITEBKRE S 2,715 7,317
Net debt BB T 597,444 618,989
Adjusted capital — Total deficit KHABRER — BRIEE (430,491) (364,456)
Net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BERFEHLCHAERER L X (139%) (170%)
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to RNF S EEAHE AT EZ A S IR

either internally or externally imposed capital requirements.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS R THE
(a) Categories of financial instruments @ =@IAEEH
2020 2019
—E-FF —h&F
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
Financial assets EWMEE
FVTPL BRATFEFARER
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL R AT EFABREGE
— Held-for-trading — B{EEE 512 778
Loan and receivables (including bank ERREREE(BIERITLE
balances and cash): BERE) :
— Trade and other receivables — EWES R HMIRIE 43,749 25,746
— Bank balances and cash — RITEBRRS 2,715 7,317
46,464 33,063
46,976 33,841
Financial liabilities Ea- =N
At amortised cost: b X i) N
— Trade and other payables — ENBSREAMKRIE 237,970 387,047
— Lease liabilities — HEaE 4,398 —
— Convertible loan — AIBMBRER 9,493 —
— License fees payables — ENETEE 52,396 —
— Bank and other borrowings — RITRHEMEE 269,359 238,790
573,616 625,837
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BBEAREBEBEEREE

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVTPL, trade and other receivables, amounts
due from associates, bank balances and cash, trade and
other payables, lease liabilities, convertible loan, license
fees payables and bank and other borrowings. Details
of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely

and effective manner.

AEEBZFECRIABERATE
AABREZEREE BRBEZRE
b AR IE - FEUREE & DB RE - RITHE
#HhkBEL ENEZREMEE M
ER8E  THRBRENR  ENRBTEEN
RRTREMER ZE2MTAZ
HEREMERE HZEeRITA
HEzREBReETSER(EEER -
MERRREMERRR)  FEERR

EnsERR - BRMNMREZSE
REzBRENTIX - EEEEERER
EEABRER  UREREEBRA MM
REGEE G °
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Market risk

(1)

Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and PRC
with most of the transactions denominated and
settled in HK$ and Renminbi (“RMB").

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities

7.

¢RI AE)
(b) BHEEBRESEEERKEE)

5 R
()  EBEEER

AEBTERNERRTEEE
REAZHABETRARE (A
REDFAERESH -

ANEE B B A A INES ET R EUR o
R BEEGERMEEZI
MRER  TEREEEREREY
SRE KNS E B o

REBEBNUINECIEBEE TR
D EB ANz BB EZE

at the end of reporting period, that are denominated BKEEREBBERBEHRL
in currencies other than the functional currency of BREENT
the relevant group entities, are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
afE &
2020 2019 2020 2019
—2-2% —Z-hNF ZB-EE  —ZThFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
United States Dollar ("USD") eSS 15,797 153,406 - —
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT
The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign currency AEBFZEBYEETTZINERE
risk of USD. b o
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(1)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The following table details the Group's sensitivity
to a 5% (2019: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$
against USD. A 5% (2019: 5%) is the sensitivity rate
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translations at the end of the reporting period for
a 5% (2019: 5%) change in foreign currency rates.
A positive number below indicates a decrease in
post tax loss where HK$ strengthens 5% (2019: 5%)
against USD. For a 5% (2019: 5%) weakening of HK$
against USD there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the post-tax loss and the balances below
would be negative.

7. EBMIAE)
(b) HEEBEEEEREX(E)

4% Jm B (48
()  EBEEER(E)
BRE D (E)

TRAMAEBEYETHLETH
BEREES% (ZE—F:5%)
TEHRE 5% (22— L
5%)BRBRAEEZERABER
SNSRI RERAZSREL X
M EREEYERELRZE
BEBZTME - GERESWER
BABEZUIINEFEEE R
B WARREHRIES% (ZF—
NF 5% 2N EER BB AR
BRE - TXEBBERMIBITHE
TTHES% (ZF —NF:5%)
AlfifeEER D - WBTHET
B (5% (ZZ — L4 :5%) @ 8
BMEEEBSERESMAR 2
8 MIXZEBEREH -

2020 2019
—E-EF ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Decrease (increase) in loss & B A (g )
— USD Impact — EneE 790 7,670

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances, margin
account payable, royalty fee payable and variable-rate
other borrowings, and exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank borrowing,
lease liabilities, license fees payables, fixed-rate other
borrowings, fixed-rate placing notes and convertible
loan.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note.

(i) FIFE
REEREEMZERTES -
BRAFREFPHIE - BNEFE
BRHEMZEEEZRESRER
KRR - WEEEBRTEBRITE
E HEaE ENETEE-
HibEBfEE  TEREZEER
ARBRERZAFEFERRR

AEEE BRI A RS R -
AW EEEBEERMEY 2
TE TR ERFTERERY
HEANERER -

AEEFEHERSRAE A
EEBRAANTRDHE AR
B -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#EZE T -_ZTF=A=+—HIFE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. £®MIAE)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HEEBEEBEEREEE)
(continued)
Market risk (continued) mEEE(E)
(i) Interest rate risk (continued) (i) FEE g (&)

Interest expense on financial liabilities not measured
at FVTPL:

THRAFEFABRGESEDN
TREENFEMX:

2020 2019

—E-FF —E-AF

HK$000 HK$°000

FET FET

Financial liabilities at amortised cost — IZ# K A EN LR EE 43,138 25,468
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for margin
account payable, royalty fee payable and variable-rate
other borrowings at the end of the reporting period.
The analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A
50 basis points (2019: 50 basis points) increase or
decrease in variable rates of other borrowings is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates. Bank balances are excluded
from sensitivity analysis as the Directors consider that
the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising

from variable rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2019: 50
basis points) higher/lower for margin account payable
and variable-rate other borrowings and all other
variables were held constant, the post-tax loss for the
year ended 31 March 2020 would increase/decrease
by approximately HK$822,000 (2019: HK$1,478,000).

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in listed equity securities. In addition, the
Group has appointed a special team to monitor the
price risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(iii) ~ Other price risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date. If the prices of the respective equity
instruments had been 10% higher/lower, post-
tax loss for the year ended 31 March 2020 would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$51,000 (2019:
HK$78,000) as a result of the changes in fair value
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Operational risk assessment

During the vyear ended 31 March 2020, the Group's
exposure to operational risk is primarily attributable to
heavy reliance on a major customer located in PRC for the
segment of mobile and multi-media technologies business.
These major customers accounted for approximately
HK$22,516,000 or 46% of the Group's total revenue for
the year ended 31 March 2020. The Directors will continue
closely monitoring the performance and financial position
of this major customer to avoid any adverse impact on the

Group's financial position.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

At 31 March 2020, other than those financial assets whose
carrying amounts best represent the maximum exposure to
credit risk, the Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade and other receivables, amounts due from associates
and bank balances. The carrying amounts of financial
assets at amortised cost stated in Note 7(a) represented
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation
to financial assets which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risk associated
with its financial assets.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned

by international credit-rating agencies.

¢RIA(E)

BREBREEEERBE(E)

g B ()
(i)  EaEREEE (&)
BREDW

NTSREENINIDERBRELR
FrE¥s s RAEERREE -
WEBBRATAZE®R AT
®10% @ BB E T -_ZTF=F1
—t+—HIFEZREBEGR
/B IN4951,0008 T (—E— R
178,000/ 7L) « RIRANIZAT
Bt \EmrseRmEEZRATE
e o

Feg- 0N 8
HE-Z-_ZTHF=-A=+-—ALEFE"
AEBEROCERREIZEEARNE
FHREZEERMEB D DEREMKBE
URFEN—ZETEEF ZETER
PEAEBBEE-_T-_TE=/=1+—
HIEFE /LRI A 22,516,000 T3k
46% - EFREBEIYERZEIER
FRXRARMBMKR Ao ARE
] &) B 75 AR O 35 B A AT S R R 2 o

EERBRRAETE
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

At 31 March 2020, the Group has no concentration of credit
risk on trade receivables from the largest customer. At 31
March 2019, the Group has concentration of credit risk on
trade receivables from the largest customer amounting to
approximately HK$3,985,000, representing approximately
40.91% of the total gross trade receivables.

At 31 March 2020, trade receivables from the five largest
customers amounting to approximately HK$4,546,000
(2019: HK$5,211,000), representing approximately 40.21%
(2019: 53.49%) of the total gross trade receivables.

At 31 March 2020, the Group’'s concentration of credit
risk by geographical location is in the PRC as 100% (2019:
63.90%) of total gross trade receivables are arisen in the
PRC.

To manage risk arising from trade receivable, the Group
has policies in place to ensure that credit terms are made
to counterparties with an appropriate credit history and
the management performs ongoing credit evaluations of its
counterparties. The credit period granted to the customers
and the credit quality of these customers is assessed, which
takes into account their financial position, past experience
and other factors. Credit limits granted to customers are
reviewed periodically. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade balances individually.
In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

For all other instruments including other receivables and
amounts due from associates, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition. The Group have assessed and concluded
that the risk of default rate for the other instruments are
steady based on the Group assessment of the financial
health of the counterparties.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. ERMIAME)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HEEBEEEEREE(E)
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) =B R R EF S (& )
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment REEBHRNEEER BT RTHEE
comprises the following categories: AT %8 51
Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
AEEETR it EWE SRR HiteMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
default and does not have any past- credit-impaired
due amounts
1K 2 Bz ROUFHRAORABRRE BEVEFE 2HBHEEBE — REAEHEERBE
a] 360 2 5K 38 I EAE B E
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
dates but usually settle in full credit-impaired
BxeE EHALEREPEEREETE B 2PEHEEBE — REABEHEEERE
BERELHEE I = B R (E
Doubtful There have been significant increases  Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
in credit risk since initial recognition credit-impaired credit-impaired
through information developed
internally or external resources
F & NES I ER KRG EEERE 2HEHEEEE — 2HEHEERE —
E =L B2 B 1) 56 HE SR DA 2R BB B 0 I EAE B E I EAE B E
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — credit-  Lifetime ECL — credit-
credit-impaired impaired impaired
&8 FHRESEBEAECREEERE 2HENEEREE — 2HEHEEEFE —
Bz ERE Bz ERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written-off Amount is written-off

debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
i g5 EEBRENEBABARSEVBRE - MiEeHE i gH < %R
BARS B3 & B B ATkl TE A

FEENRIEERAERAR 201920 FERS 123



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
e R RMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HEZE T _ZTF = A=+ —HILFZ

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. £®MIAE)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HEEBEEBEEREEE)
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) =& 7B R E 5 (&
The table below details the credit risk exposures of TRFLANEBAEETHEREERSB
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL AN EREENEERBRE -
assessment.
External Internal
2020 Note credit rating credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
MEEE ABEE REAH2HES
ZEZEF MaE P& FR FEFR REAE
HK$'000
FET
Financial assets at amortised costs
RBERAGENESREE
Bank balances 29  AA+ N/A 12m ECL 2,715
HR17 48R TERA REAEHEEERE
Other receivables and 27 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL 38,842
deposits paid Lifetime ECL 2,933
(credit-impaired)
HEKRERERENEZES T#EA (Htit1) REAEHEERE
HEHEEES
(FERE)
41,775
Trade receivables 27 N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL (Provision matrix) 11,307
[EWE 58| AiER (H5t2) FHEBREEER
(BEER)
Amounts due from associates 24 N/A (Note 3) Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 625,937
JEE Wi Bt & 2 B R IE i A (B 5t3) 2HEHEEER
(FERE)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. £2®WMIAE)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HEEBEEEEREE(E)

(continued)

=& mBRAEFE(E)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

External Internal
2019 Note credit rating  credit rating  12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
ShERE B NEEE REALEEHELR
—E-hF sk FFAR B EEEE EEECE
HK$'000
FET
Financial assets at amortised costs
BREHKATEN SR EE
Bank balances 29 AA+ N/A 12m ECL 7,317
R 1745 24 i A REAEBHEEEE
Other receivables and 27  N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL 16,860
deposits paid Lifetime ECL 2,324
(credit-impaired)
HmEKEERENEZS i i3 REAEHEEEE
2HEHEESR
(EERE)
19,184
Trade receivables 27  N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL (Provision matrix) 9,742
W B 5 RIR i (B &2) 2HEHEEBE
(BB
Amounts due from associates 24 N/A (Note 3) Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 633,551
FE W Bt & A B R I8 i (B #3) SHEHREESR
(fEERE)
Notes: B i#
1) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, 1) RARBEERREREMS  A&EEH

the Group uses past due information to assess whether
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. To measure the ECL, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the historical observed default
rates adjusted by forward looking estimates.

To measure the ECL, amounts due from associates
have been assessed individually. As stated in Note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements, after taking into
account of the Order, the winding up petition and the
net liabilities of Yota, the Directors are of the view that
a full impairment on amounts due from associates of the
Group should be made to reflect the current conditions
of Yota.

ERBEHENFEEERRAD
THRANRZEERE LT -

2) HRERESEREME ARBECDE
REEVBREEANFIFRHNE
feHEA R RRAEEE B
EEEERB RHEFEIGCED
B ERESEECSENKEEE
2 B 5 8 K A A BE M A AR Y
BEBRIMEBOREHSMAE -

3) BRITEEHEEEE BWEHE
ARIFBEEEBIFEE - HWEAY
MR T2 - ZEE @GS -
BREFMYotaWAEFE BF
RE - EBRAEBEEE QR ZRK
TH JFE 1 1 78 EURL (B LA R B Yota By 3R
ko

FEENRIEERAERAR 201920 FERS 125



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e SRR M (E

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#EZE T -_ZTF=A=+—HIFE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. £®MIAE)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HEEBEEBEEREEE)

(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) =& 7B R E 5 (&
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TICE YA B AN S B R A B R A
exposure on the Group's trade receivables using a provision ENERESRENEERBAED
matrix: B
31 March 2020 —E-EF=A=+-—H

Trade receivables

EWE5KRE
Days past due
BHXH
Current 1-90 days > 90 days Total
Bp &8 1£90K >90K st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Total gross carrying amount REAE 427 1,780 9,100 11,307
Average loss rate T EBEEE 0.12% 1.91% 68.74%

Expected credit loss TEHEEEIE 1 34 6,256 6,291

31 March 2019 —E-h&=A=+—H

Trade receivables

EWE 5 KRE
Days past due
8 H R B

Current 1-90 days > 90 days Total
BN EA 1£90K >90K #at
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Total gross carrying amount BREAE 1,604 4,948 3,190 9,742

Average loss rate T EEE 0.69% 1.74% 22.23%
Expected credit loss EHEEERE 1 86 709 806
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7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRM

For the year ended 31

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The following tables shows the reconciliation of loss

EMIA(E)
(b) HBEABREEEERBKEGE)

=B mBRAEFE(E)

March 2020 HZE—ZT-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

TREARCREELCTEZREKRES

allowance that has been recognised for trade receivables ARIBFE R Y E 1B BB Y AR -
under simplified approach:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(not credit- ECL (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HEHGEE 2HBEHEE
BR(EEES BER(EE
ERE) ) #Et
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FrET FrET FrET
At 1 April 2018 RZZE—N\FWMA—H 48 34,744 34,792
Changes due to financial instruments HERZZT—N\FMNA—H
recognised as at 1 April 2018: BRANEMITAmMEAL
— Transfer to credit-impaired — EBEREEEERE (4) 4 —
— Impairment losses recognised — BRAREFIE — 619 619
— Impairment losses reversed — BEEREERE (44) (20) (64)
— Written-off — — (34,714) (34,714)
New financial assets originated or RESBENTEREE
purchased 97 76 173
At 31 March 2019 RZZE-AFE=ZRA=+—H 97 709 806
Changes due to financial instruments RER_-Z— L FWMWA—H
recognised as at 1 April 2019: HROESMITAMBEA
— Impairment losses recognised — BRARMEFIE — 4,971 4,971
— Impairment losses reversed — BEEREERE (97) (37) (134)
— Written-off — Mg — 311 (311)
New financial assets originated or BREXNBENHREE
purchased 35 924 959
At 31 March 2020 R-ZB-ZHF=ZA=+—H 35 6,256 6,291
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Nofes to the Conso|ic|c:teo| Financial Statements (continued)

e SRR M (E )

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z =TT F = A=+ —HIFE

7.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. S®@MIAE)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)

(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are

HHRBREBREEREEKGE)

= B B e R s T 14 ()
ERESEEBEEEENEHTIER

mainly due to: AT EIEMEC:
2020
—E-EF
Increase
¥ hn
Lifetime ECL
(not credit- Lifetime ECL
impaired) (credit-impaired)
2HEHEERFE 2HBEHEERE
(¥ | ERE) (E&RE)
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Further impairment made for credit-impaired Fi{s &R EMN R E 5 FKE
trade receivables fEH O E — P RE — 4,971
No realistic prospect of recovery of trade I fE BB AT gE ) R B
receivables 8RB — (311)
New financial assets originated or purchased JRESBENF S/ E E 35 924
2019
—E-NF
Increase
3
Lifetime ECL
(not credit- Lifetime ECL
impaired) (credit-impaired)
THEHEEEE 2HEHEEHE
(I B ERE) (ZERE)
HK$000 HK$'000
FEoT FET
Further impairment made for credit-impaired Ht{= B E R B E 5 8R1E
trade receivables EH B — B R E — 619
No realistic prospect of recovery of trade 3 % B BR U B AT B EY R B
receivables Z8RIE — (34,714)
New financial assets originated or purchased R4 HKBFEMH SR EE 97 76
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRM

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The following tables shows the reconciliation of loss

$RITAE(E)
(b) HEEBEEEEREX(E)

=& mBRAEFE(E)

TREATCOHEMEBEERERDNR

allowance that has been recognised for other receivables SERNEIEREYE:
and deposits paid:
12m ECL Lifetime
(not credit- ECL (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
1218 B 78
FEFE 2HEYESE
(X |iEE BEREUEE
) ) “Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FWMWHA—H 50 31,501 31,551
Changes due to financial instruments HER_-Z—N\FMA—H
recognised as at 1 April 2018: RN cm TAmEE
— Transfer to credit-impaired — EREEZEERE (20) 20 —
— Impairment losses recognised — BEARMEFIE — 2,076 2,076
— Impairment losses reversed — BEEREERE (30) — (30)
— Written-off — s — (31,273) (31,273)
New financial assets originated or RESBENFTSREE
purchased 50 — 50
At 31 March 2019 RZZE-hF=A=+—H 50 2,324 2,374
Changes due to financial instruments HER_-ZT—\FMA—H
recognised as at 1 April 2018: TR SR T A4
— Impairment losses recognised — ERRERE — 780 780
— Impairment losses reversed — EREBREREIE (50) (1,339) (1,389)
New financial assets originated or RESBENT R EE
purchased 1,277 — 1,277
At 31 March 2020 R-ZZB-ZZ2F=ZA=+—H 1,277 1,765 3,042
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Nofes to the Conso|ic|c:teo| Financial Statements (continued)

e SRR M (E )

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z =TT F = A=+ —HIFE

7.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. S®@MIAE)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BHERBREEBEERBE(E)

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables and
deposits paid are mainly due to:

= B B e R s T 14 ()
HitEWRBERENZSBREEN
BYHTERATFIBEME:

2020
—s-%F
Increase
¥ hn
12m ECL
(not credit- Lifetime ECL
impaired) (credit-impaired)
1218 B 5 2HEH
FEEEBER EEBE
(X BEERE) (FERE)
HK$’000 HK$000
FHETT FET
Further impairment made for credit-impaired gt12 & Jil (B 79 £ 4 & Ui 3R 18
other receivables and deposits paid RENZSIELNE—F
B — 780
New financial assets originated or purchased JRESBENF S/ E E 1,277 —
2019
“E-AF
Increase
3
12m ECL
(not credit- Lifetime ECL
impaired) (credit-impaired)
1218 A & B 2 B 78
FEEE EEEBE
(I £ 15 B R E) (ZEmE)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FrET
Further impairment made for credit-impaired #t 1z & J5l (B 79 £ 4 /& U 3R 18
other receivables and deposits paid REMRSEL#E—F
L E — 2,076
No realistic prospect of recovery of other 7 f B PR U B A R Y Eh fE
receivables and deposits paid WERBEREMNIZS — (31,273)
New financial assets originated or purchased B4 KB EMNH SR EE 50 —
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ma ,ﬁ%%#&%éﬁﬁ?(n )

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z—Z T F ==+ —HILFE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The following tables shows the reconciliation of loss

7. EBMIAE)
(b) HEEBEEEEREX(E)

=& mBRAEFE(E)
TRERD BB = R ERIARER

allowance that has been recognised for amounts due from HEERENYER:
associates:
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
2HEHEEERE
(FE8RHMHE)
HK$000
FrET
At 1 April 2018 — As restated RZZE—\FMA—H—#&E75 23,474
Changes due to financial instruments recognised E’\‘ T-NFOA-—HERNE

as at 1 April 2018: mTAmBEEE:

— Impairment losses recognised — EmRAREERE 610,077
As at 31 March 2019 —NLWF=A=+—H 633,551
Exchange adjustment FE X 38 % (7,614)
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_ZEF=A=+-—H 625,937

Changes in the loss allowance for amounts due from
associates are mainly due to:

B & ARERREBERERNED
%ILAT%IE}SEQZ-

Increase in Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)

2HRMEEBER(EERE)EM

2020 2019
—E-FF —T-NF
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
Further impairment made for credit-impaired Fi1Z B 8 (B & JE U Bk 2 A &)
amounts due from associates RIBVE L B — R E — 610,077
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
e R RMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#EZE T -_ZTF=A=+—HIFE

7.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. S®@MIAE)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BHERBREEBEERBE(E)

(continued)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to
approval by the management when the borrowings exceed
certain pre-determined levels of authority. Prudent liquidity
risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and
marketable securities, the availability of funding through
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the
ability to close out market positions. The Group aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit
lines available and sufficient bank deposits to meet short-

term cash requirements.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately HK$521,198,000 as at 31
March 2020. The liquidity of the Group primarily depends
on the future funding being available and the ability of
the Group to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
Details of which are set out in Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically,
margin payable, amounts due to associates and fixed-
rate other borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of
the probability of the lenders choosing to exercise their
rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
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7.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRM

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below includes both interest and principal cash

flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,

the undiscovered amount is derived from interest rate at the

end of the reporting period.

7. EBMIAE)

(b) HEEBEEEEREX(E)

mEBEZm b (&

TREFEMNEREAERSRE - K
ARERS
BENBRERRZAEFHESGH -

EREBRIPNEFE

Weighted  On demand Total Carrying

average  or less than 1-2 2-5 undiscounted amount at

interest rate 1 year years years cash flow 31 March 2020

R-B-ZF

EERH AFBEBEE =A=1+-AH

mETHRE PIMEF 1228 2E5F REAH ZEREE

2020 % HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000

—ZE-Ef % FET FET FET FET FET

Non-derivative financial liabilities FITELHERE

Trade and other payables ERESREMEE N/ATE B 237,970 — — 237,970 237,970
Bank borrowing BITEE

— fixed rate —EL 5.15 8,690 - - 8,690 8,508

Margin payable BRI 8.00 42,538 — — 42,538 42,538
Other borrowing Hinfa &

— fixed rate —E8 10.91 67,420 - - 67,420 66,659

— variable rate — 38 4.75 121,839 — — 121,839 121,839

Lease liabilities HEBME 10.62 3,851 825 - 4,676 4,398

License fees payable ERSTER 21.00 30,690 31,365 - 62,055 52,396

Convertible loan AR E 18.00 10,089 - - 10,089 9,493

Placing notes EERE 5.00 20,808 10,294 - 31,102 29,815

543,895 42,484 - 586,379 573,616
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R IS AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#EZE T -_ZTF=A=+—HIFE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

7. E®WMIEAE)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HEEBEEBEEREEE)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEE2mEE (H)
Weighted On demand Total Carrying
average or less than 1-2 2-5  undiscounted amount at
interest rate 1 year years years cash flow 31 March 2019
RZZE-NE
[ ¥:3e AUBRBRE =ZA=T—H
TR E kS 1226 2E5F mEHEH ZREE
2019 % HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
ZZT-NEF % FET FET FET FET FET
Non-derivative financial liabilities HITELHEE
Trade and other payables ERESREMERE
(excluding amount due to associate) (TR g R
B2 NRHE) N/ATE 252,007 - — 252,007 252,007
Amount due to an associate JE AT — B 2 2 A OB 9.35 135,040 - — 135,040 135,040
Bank borrowing RiTEE
— fixed rate —EE 5.15 — 246 9,467 9,713 9,238
Margin payable JE AT 77 & FUR 8.15 39,214 - — 39,214 39,214
Other borrowing Hinfg &
— fixed rate —EE 8.43 40,119 — — 40,119 39,433
— variable rate — 3B 475 121,248 — — 121,248 121,248
Placing notes REZR 5.00 11,000 10,808 10,294 32,102 29,657
598,628 11,054 19,761 629,443 625,837
()  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (0 ERMIAZATHEHE

134

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The Directors
is responsible to determine the appropriate valuation
technique and inputs for fair value measurement.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level
1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The Directors
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

(i) Financial assets and financial liabilities that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these
financial assets and financial liabilities are determined
(in particular, the valuation technique(s) and input
used).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRMEGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. &@@MIAE)
(c)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (0 =2RMIAZAFEFEE)
(continued)
(i)  Financial assets and financial liabilities that (i) BREEFZHBEULAFEIAENE
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis BEERLHEME(H)

(continued)

Fair value hierarchy

DNFEER

Fair value as at
31 March Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R=A=+—8
Z2R¥EE E5—E BETE 5=
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET FAET

2020 —EC-EH
Financial assets: EREE:
Financial assets FVTPL BAFEE AR
ZERMEE 512 512 - -
Financial liabilities: SREE:
Derivative financial liabilities $T4£ & @& E 84 — — 84
2019 —ZT-hF
Financial assets: EEEE:
Financial assets FVTPL BEAFEFARR
ZEBMEE 778 778 — —
Fair value as at
Financial assets/ RUTBEBHZAFE Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial liabilities 31 March 2020 31 March 2019 hierarchy and key input(s)
—EC-®E —E-NE
SREE ¢REHE =ZHA=+-H =R=+—H ATFEEBR ‘“EERWRIZHAZE
Financial assets at FVTPL Assets — approximately  Assets — approximately Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active
HK$512,000 HK$778,000 market
BAFEFARRZ BE — #512,0008 T EE — #778,0008 T E—F EBRTSABEAE
Derivative financial liabilities  Liabilities — approximately — Level 3 Probability of default (Note)
HK$84,000
TESRAR & & — £84,0005 T — F=E BHMEWZ)
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.
m e

7.

136

B %5 ER AR B A

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H ==

1 (&)

ZEF=A=+—RHLFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)

(c)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets and financial liabilities that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

(continued)
Note:

As at 31 March 2020, an increase in the probability of
default used in isolation would result in an increase in
the fair value measurement of the derivative financial
liabilities, and vice versa. A 3% increase in the
probability of default holding all other variables constant
would increase the carrying amount of the derivative
financial liabilities by approximately HK$55,000. A 3 %
decrease in the probability of default holding all other
variables constant would decrease the carrying amount
of the derivative financial liabilities by approximately
HK$64,000.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019,
there was no transfer between investments in Level
1 and Level 2, or transfer into or out of Level 3.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31
March 2020 and 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRMEGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 B ZE —T_ZF=-A=+—HILFE

REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers

For the year ended 31 March 2020

8. WA

()

BEFEHBAZSE

BE-_E-_EF=A=+—HILFE

Mobile and
multi-media  Tourism and ~ Gamma ray
technologies hospitality irradiation
business business service Total
FHRRZER He 3 & 10 35 5t 4%
LS HEEB R 51 R 75 @it
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Types of goods or service EmR BB ER
Sales of mobile phones and related products 35 & F {4 [ 18 B & @ 6,263 — - 6,263
Multi-media and advertising service LEERESRB 33,683 — — 33,683
Online travel product booking service 8 Lk E R TERT R — 4,681 - 4,681
Irradiation sterilisation processing services WA EERE RS — — 4,675 4,675
Total @t 39,946 4,681 4,675 49,302
Geographical markets it 32 T 35
Hong Kong B — 4,681 - 4,681
PRC H 39,946 — 4,675 44,621
Total @st 39,946 4,681 4,675 49,302
Timing of revenue recognition UON 351
A point in time R E R 8 6,263 4,681 4,675 15,619
Over time i 33,683 — — 33,683
Total et 39,946 4,681 4,675 49,302
Sales channel/type of customer HERE/EFER
Retail 3 — 4,681 - 4,681
Wholesale #t % 6,263 - - 6,263
Corporate NG| 33,683 — 4,675 38,358
Total Foy 39,946 4,681 4,675 49,302
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e SRR M (E )

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z T T F = A=+ —HILFE

8.

138

REVENUE (continued)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

LONGY
() FEFEHBAZZE(E)

BE-_F_SF-HA=1T—-HALFE

(&)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from TXHINEFRELHWALD IBERFT
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in the WESHEZHE:
segment information:
Segment revenue
2 B Uk A
HK$’000
FET
Mobile and multi-media technologies business FRREEBREMES 39,946
Tourism and hospitality business (Note) I 2% X B H 25 (i) 4,681
Gamma ray irradiation service 135 59 47 B8R &Y AR 75 4,675
Revenue from contracts with customers and EFEHWMAEAKRA
total revenue 49,302
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRMEGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

L ONE Y
BEFEHBAZDE(E)

REVENUE (continued) 8.
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i)

customers (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2019

BE-_E-NF=ZA=+—HILFE

Mobile and
multi-media  Tourism and Gamma ray
technologies hospitality irradiation
business business service Total
FHEZER Tk 3 2 WIESE RS
RIE HE XS R 57 IR 75 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Types of goods or service Eme R E R
Sales of mobile phones and related  $#4& F# R AHBEE &
products 34,610 — — 34,610
Online travel product booking service #3 I 1% % & @ 18 £] IR 15 — 5,227 - 5,227
Irradiation sterilisation processing MEESRE RS
services — — 4,743 4,743
Total Fob 34,610 5,227 4,743 44,580
Geographical markets it 3 35
Hong Kong BB — 5,227 — 5,227
PRC H 34,610 — 4,743 39,353
Total At 34,610 5,227 4,743 44,580
Timing of revenue recognition W A 7 3R
A point in time A S B T B 34,610 5,227 4,743 44,580
Sales channel/type of customer  $§ERE RFER
Retail = — 5,227 — 5,227
Wholesale % 34,610 — — 34,610
Corporate yNS]! — — 4,743 4,743
Total st 34,610 5,227 4743 44,580
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R IS AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#EZE T -_ZTF=A=+—HIFE

8. REVENUE (continued) 8. WA(E)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i)
customers (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 (continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in the
segment information:

BEFEHBAZE(E)

BE-—F-NFZA=+—HIFE
(&)
TXHRINEFP WA RS ZE R PT
REcB YK

Segment revenue

7 B A
HK$'000
FET
Mobile and multi-media technologies business FRREZEBEMES 34,610
Tourism and hospitality business (Note) IR 3F N O B S (M At 5,227
Gamma ray irradiation service 035 5% 4% BR 5 AR 75 4,743
Revenue from contracts with customers and total BEFAHWAEBAWA
revenue 44,580
Note: B i# -
Total customer sales proceeds BEFHEMBSREBELE
2020 2019
—BC-EF —E-hNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F¥ET
Gross sales proceeds related to passenger HRREBWABBEZHEMS
tickets revenue* RIE R 130,566 217,160
* The Group’s gross sales proceeds from provision of online * AEBRERHP LREERTE

travel product booking service, including air tickets,
hotel accommodation and other travel products, are
considered as cash collected on behalf of a principal as
an agent. The gross sales proceeds from these sales,
which do not represent revenue, represent the price at
which the products have been sold inclusive of service
fees. The related service income is recorded by the Group
on net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRM

For the year ended 31 March 2020 B ZE —T_ZF=-A=+—HILFE

8. REVENUE (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
Sales of mobile phones and related products
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the mobile phones and related products. The payment is
generally due within 30 to 90 days from delivery.

Under the contract terms, certain customers have a right to
exchange for dissimilar products within 7 days. The Group
uses its accumulated historical experience to estimate the
number of exchange on a portfolio level using the expected
value method. Revenue is recognised for sales which are
considered highly probable that a significant reversal in the
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. A contract
liability is recognised for sales in which revenue has yet
been recognised. The Group’s right to recover the product
when customers exercise their right is recognised as a right
to returned goods asset and a corresponding adjustment to
cost of revenue.

Multi-media and advertising income

Multi-media and advertising service represents provision
of one-stop advertising solution packages under which
the deliverables to customers are published in the public
platform. Multi-media and advertising service is recognised
over time as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group. Invoices are
issued according to contractual terms payment and due
immediately.

Online travel product booking service

The performance obligation is satisfied when services are
rendered and the payment is normally due immediately
upon completion of the service. However, certain customers
are granted credit period from 30 to 60 days.

Irradiation sterilisation processing services

The performance obligation is satisfied when services are
rendered and the credit period granted to the customers is
normally 30 to 90 days.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with customers
All revenue contracts are for period of one year or less. As
permitted by HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

8. WA(E)
(i) BFAHZENEE
HEFHRIEBES

(iii)

BHECRRINFHEMBEAERE
BT o AR — MR R #30=90H I
/ﬁg °

BREEOGR ETEFPEENIAN
BRTRMER -AKBERHLEZR
WESL&ER ERABHEEEGHER
MEaKFMEmMERERRE - HE
WABRB R/ IAAIBE B ADER R
Yo A ) B8 K B (Bl B SR o AN EH B W
ATHER ASHRAWEE - BXP
T E R B - AN 5 B E E R O
NenwRAREARERDEREEN
T M) 2 S WA RS 1 L A AR R S

ZREREZNA
ZHEENESREERK-BAES
BANRE BUERAKFEEMAE
FPRNORBEAR - ZHEERESR
BIBERRTUER  ZERTFPER
REEBEAAREBERHEAHNE - #
SNREBEEOERNRHEER - WHER
BEEN -

A L e 4 E 47 R AT AR

J& 8 B X 1= IR 7S B B 17 A B
ERERRBELEIEE - A - &
TEPEXRTI0Z60EZEEH -

B 51 R
BHEARRERBEEETAETER
FPZEEH®ER30EI0H -

PEEFEFANBRTEANEEZRS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z =TT F = A=+ —HIFE

142

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Information reported to the board of Directors (the “Board”), being
the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"), for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided. No
operating segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated
in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments are as follows:

(a) Mobile and multi-media technologies business — running
a mobile and multi-media technologies via different media
channels using electronic paper display and dual-screen

technologies.

(b)  Tourism and hospitality business — provision of online travel
product booking platform.

(©) Gamma ray irradiation services — provision of irradiation

services by utilising gamma ray technologies.

(d)  Other operations — securities trading and investment.
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9. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRM

For the year ended 31 March 2020 B ZE —T_ZF=-A=+—HILFE

Segment revenues and results (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and

results by reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 March 2020

&

(a)

g (E)

BB ARFEE(E)
BABRHRD B D2 AEENEA R
REDWE25IWT

BE-Z-_ZF=-A=Z+—-HLHFE

Other
operations

Tourism and Gamma ray — securities
hospitality irradiation trading and

business services investment Total

Hths

KER - MEHSE —R5EH
HREH
HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000

FET FET FET FET

RERH kRE At
HKS$000

Revenue

Segment results

Unallocated corporate income
Unallocated corporate expenses
Loss on deconsolidation of a subsidiary

Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries
Loss on derecognition of associates
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Finance costs

Loss before tax

L'ON

PEHER

AR ERARA

APEAFMAX

MBARKRLEAAR
ZEBR

THENBAR W

RUIERBE DR 2 BR

HEMBAR K E

BEKK

BR Bt A B R

(4,998) (1,250) (3,589)

4,681 4,675 — 49,302

(124,101)

10
(21,162)

(175,437)
3,445
(313)
207,760
(5,671)

(115,469)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H ==
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ZEF=A=+—RLFE

9.  OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 9. ReIHP(E)
Segment revenues and results (continued) (a) DMBRARESE(E)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-_Z-hWF=ZA=+—RHLFE
Other
Mobile and operations
multi-media  Tourism and ~ Gamma ray — securities
technologies hospitality irradiation  trading and
business business services  investment Total
Hit %%
FRRZER RER  MESE —FFEER
Bii¥®  EBER  BIRE RRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FET FHET
Revenue A 34,610 5,227 4,743 — 44,580
Segment results HBLLE (1180876) (86,039 Q515 (44200 (1273850
Unallocated corporate income F N NI ON 24
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBRRAFAX (26,922)
Finance costs BERAK (7,704)
Loss before tax BR 4 A 5 1B (1,308,452)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are EENMBzEHRRERNEBILGEED
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in BWMEMMAER 2G5 HEMER -
the Group's consolidated financial statements. Segment DHEEEEDEMNBRARIKIEGA
results represent the loss from each segment without ABRZEE  ZHWNBAR 2 W= -
allocation of loss on deconsolidation of a subsidiary, gain BRIFERBE AR ZEBE HEHB
on deregistration of subsidiaries, loss on derecognition NREIZW S FRITRER - & TEMm
of associates, gain on disposal of a subsidiary, central WA W= REEFHE BEXETR

administration cost, certain other income, gains and losses,

net,

finance costs and directors’

emoluments.

This is

the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of

resources allocation and performance assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

mEVBHRRMEGE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

9.  OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 9. REDIE)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) 2HBEERAEE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and LT RZEABRRREEDHE D 2R
liabilities by reportable and operating segments. SEEERBES -
As at 31 March 2020 R-FE-FEF=F=+—H
Mobile and multi- Tourism and Gamma ray Other operations —
media technologies hospitality irradiation  securities trading
business business services and investment Total
Hit %% —
FHRZHER 1 R M52 HHEE
EXES HEXEH R 5 R RBRE @it
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
ASSETS &E
Segment assets DEEE 144,442 - 13,162 512 158,116
Unallocated corporate assets RORAREE 14,642
Consolidated total assets BEEEBE 172,758
LIABILITIES &
Segment liabilities nHEE 393,426 - 8,683 42,538 444,647
Unallocated corporate liabilities k2 B AAEE 158,602
Consolidated total liabilities HEBEAE 603,249
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=ZH=+4+—H
Mobile and multi- Tourism and Gamma ray  Other operations —
media technologies hospitality irradiation securities trading
business business services and investment Total
Hit %% —
FHEZER ii§ g MIE5 & EFEE
Bt %% EIEES R R% RRE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
ASSETS BE
Segment assets AHEE 43,428 193,254 14,647 778 252,107
Unallocated corporate assets ROBRRAREE 9,773
Consolidated total assets BEEEHRE 261,880
LIABILITIES BRE
Segment liabilities AHEE 413,257 18,354 9,623 39,214 480,448
Unallocated corporate liabilities &2 B AR &1 145,888
Consolidated total liabilities RAREREAE 626,336
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H ==

9.

146

1 (&)

ZEF=A=+—RLFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

(b)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and

allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments

other than certain other receivables, bank balances

and cash,

equipment and deferred tax assets; and

certain corporate property, plant and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other

than certain other payables and accruals, amounts

due to directors and placing notes.

Other segment information
Year ended 31 March 2020

Amounts included in the measure of segment result or segment

assets:

9. REEIB(E)

(b) HBEEREEE)
MRERSBRBARRD BESEER
mE:

o rE TR EMRTE - RITAR
EBE HTRIVE BER
RIBARIELERIBEEI - FTAE
BEMEZEEESH R

o FrE TREMEAMREREER
IEWEH%%*”IE&EE%%‘%T%
SN FIBBEAREEED -

Hithp BER

BE-F_SF-HA=1T—-HILFE

AEOBMEEADHNEERFAAZESHR:

Other
Mobile and operation
multi-media Tourism and  Gammaray  — securities
technologies hospitality irradiation trading and
business business services investment  Unallocated Total
Hit %% —
FHRRSESE B R N H R HFEE
BER HEER B 51 R 5 kBE AR @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FAT FET FET FAT FET FET
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in respect RERELESEERAL
of trade receivables HERE 128 - 6 - — 134
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in respect BEGEKERERD
of other receivables REEE 1,389 - - - - 1,389
Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade RENESRERAZAE
receivables BR (5.897) - (33) - - (5,930)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of other HEMERIERR 2 HE
receivables B# (1,998) — (53) - (6) (2,057)
Written-off of property, plant and equipment WMENE BEREE (297) - - - (182) (479)
Gain on early renewal of license fee agreement RIUSERTHES
EPA ¢ 17,382 - - - - 17,382
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HENE - BERRE IS 1 - - - - 1
Loss on derecognition of associates KIEERBENR 2 EE (313) — — - — (313)
Loss on deconsolidation of a subsidiary WERARAKLGEAEAE BB - (175,437) - - —  (175437)
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries FENEAR 2N - - 3,445 - — 3,445
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HERNBAR 2 W& 207,760 - - - - 207,760
Net unrealised losses on financial assets at fair value EAFE;ABHEZEBEE
through profit or loss IREREBRTE - - - (266) - (266)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment % BERXENE (324) (12) (553) - (1,064) (1,953)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRELENE - — (444) - (3,081) (3,525)
Amortisation of intangible asset included as cost ABERAKERZ
of revenue BRAESH (20,673) - - - - (20673)
Addition of property, plant and equipment REVE BEREE - — 3 - - 3
Addition of intangible asset RERWEE 56,250 - - - - 56,250
Royalty fee Ei)-2 (61,667) - - - - (61,667)
Finance cost BARA (33,415) - (728) (3.329) (5.671)  (43138)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 9.
Other segment information (continued)

rea e (E)
Hth o BER (H)

Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included in the EHmMEFELERRERMERTED E

measure of segment result:

BRI EAAZEH

Other
Mobile and operation
multi-media Tourism and  Gammaray  — securities
technologies  hospitality irradiation trading and
business business services investment  Unallocated Total
Hig %% —
FHRRSRER R 3% 5 & BEHEE
E3EY ] HEER B 51 BR 5 k& #E AW @
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Addition of goodwill REBE 57,952 - - - - 57,952
Interest income from financial institutions RESBEBZMSMA 9 - 1 - - 10
Exchange gain (loss), net EXNE(BE)FE (1,106) — — - — (1,106)
Year ended 31 March 2019 BE-—FE—NF=ZA=+—HIFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment result or segment AESHEEINDHEERTAZETE:
assets:
Other
Mobile and operation
multi media  Tourism and ~ Gamma ray ~ — securities
technologies  hospitality irradiation  trading and
business business services investment  Unallocated Total
FHER Hih %% —
ZRERM EER  MES&R BHEE
2% HEER RiREB EE KOE #ir
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Interest income from associates REBELRZHERA 32,964 - - — — 32,964
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in respect AEREKESRERR 2 AERSR
of trade receivables 53 - n — — 64
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in respect ROGgEKEDEERR 2 REER
of other receivables 30 — — — — 30
Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade receivables FEKZFEERRZHERRE (792) - - — — (792)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of other receivables 3t W E ttRIB R 2 ME KB (1,478) - (639) - ©) (2,126)
Written off of property, plant and equipment WENE BERRE - - - - (63) (63)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HENE BERREBE NG 149 - - - - 149
Net unrealised losses on financial assets BRATEFABREZEREEL
at fair value through profit or loss AERERFE - - - (1,377) — (1,377)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment NE BERXENE (759) (80) (1,207) — (983) (3,029)
Amortisation of intangible asset BVEERH - (8) - - - 8)
Written-down of inventories as cost of revenue HRFEBRARAE (21,426) — — — — (21,426)
Amortisation of land use rights TiERESEE - - (463) — — (463)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill HHERAZAEER (9,316) (77,880) — — — (87,196)
Addition of property, plant and equipment REVE  BEREE 822 - 9 — 2,788 3,619
Royalty fee HHEE (57,448) — — — — (57,448)
Share of profit of associates A2 AR 474 — — — — 474
Finance cost BEKA (14,168) — (560) (3,036) (7,704) (25,468)
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OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) re o (E)
Other segment information (continued) HihpHER (E)
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included in the EHMEFELEREERMENTAE DA
measure of segment result: BRI EFAZSRE:
Other
operation
Mobile  Tourism and ~ Gamma ray — securities
technologies hospitality irradiation trading and
business business services investment  Unallocated Total
HhEs —
FR AR g {in38 &t & ZHEE
25 ERER B4R R E FAE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Interest income from financial institutions RESBEBEZFSMA 21 — 3 — — 24
Exchange gain (loss), net Eili(BE)3E (1,654) — — — 209 (1,863)
Geographical information ih & & R
The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and the PRC. REBZEBUREERPH -

Information about the Group's revenue from external customers
is presented based on the location of customers.

FRASBERBIBEPZUAERTIER
BEFLEZY -

2020 2019
—E-EE —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong BB 4,681 5,227
The PRC i 44,621 39,353
49,302 44,580
Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluded EHEAEEHFERHEE(CT

deferred tax assets) is presented based on the geographical
locations of the assets.

“BIERERHIEE
NEZ

E)ZERDEREEMEMLEZT

2020 2019

—E-EF —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$000

FHET FET

Hong Kong BB 5,340 188,363
The PRC H 119,810 15,255
125,150 203,618
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

mEVBHRRMEGE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 9. REDIE)
Information about major customers FERETEREFZEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing REEFEEAREERKABBION IR
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows: WAWT:
2020 2019
—E_ZF —E-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Customer A! B R — 6,334
Customer B! BRZ — 4,471
Customer C' EFPA 22,516 —
1 Revenue from mobile and multi-media technologies ! REFREZERBREMERZBA
business
OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 10. HtWA WEREBEFHE
2020 2019
—E-FF —T-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FE&T
Interest income from financial institutions K B8 & @l # 18 2 F B W A 10 24
Written-off of property, plant and L/ DN L &
equipment (479) (63)
Interest income from associates REBEQEZF B A — 32,964
Imputed interest income on rental deposit HERE 2 HEEF EW A 145 —
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - WEKSHEZKE
equipment 1 149
Gain from change in fair value of convertible AT ERTHE T E LD 2 A FE
loan derivative component FEHUW = 49 —
Net unrealised losses on financial assets at EAFEHAEBHZZEREE 2
fair value through profit or loss REEBHEFE (266) (1,377)
Gain on early renewal of license fee RAEBFTREDZ 2 WA
agreement 17,382 —
Exchange loss, net FE 3 B9 18 5 B (1,106) (1,863)
Government grants X I #/ BL 8 190
Others HA (604) —
15,140 30,024
HEENRRERAERAR 201920 FERE 149
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z =TT F = A=+ —HIFE

11. FINANCE COSTS 11. ®MEHLX
2020 2019
ZEC-EF —T-hF
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
Interests on: THIER ZFE -
Bank borrowings RITEE 728 560
Margin account payable FE T FF R BR P R IE 3,324 3,036
Placing notes at effective interest rates REBRFEHE 2 REREE 1,658 1,812
Early redemption of placing notes IRATE R E ZIR — 261
Overdue royalty fee payable BEENENEE 12,947 7,939
Overdue rental expenses BmHESRAX 260 —
Convertible loan payable at effective REBAERGTE 2 BN BRR
interest rates B 992 —
Other borrowings HEEE 14,376 11,860
Lease liabilities HEBE 568 —
License fees payables JER R AT E 8,285 —
43,138 25,468
12. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS 12. EHEEEFEEXTZREREB R
MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL BEE)
2020 2019
—E-%F —T-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Reversal of impairment losses on: THREREBEZER :
Trade receivables W E ZRE 134 64
Other receivables H fth fE W BR TH 1,389 30
Impairment losses on: B RIE 2 R E R
Trade receivables B E S EE (5,930) (792)
Other receivables E i UL BR T8 (2,057) (2,126)
Amounts due from associates JE B 2 N B BR R — (610,077)
(6,464) (612,901)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H E =

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT)

ma E!ﬁ%#li%%ﬁﬁ?( g)

TEFE=A=+—HLFE

FrEsimxx(ER)

2020 2019

—E_ZF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FAET

Current tax — PRC BNHERRLIE — & 3,090 —
Deferred taxation iR iE 18 — (2,502)
3,090 (2,502)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill
was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the
following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the
first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

The Directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit
for both years.

RZZE—N\FZA=Z+—H BELEZEB
ZE—EEBBUERND(ETR) RO ER([E
BIEZR]) - H5| AM LSRN EHEGHE - &
PIERR-_FT—-NF=ZA=F+N\BE %ﬁk?%
FRITANBETEER - REMEHFEE
T EZ éﬁi%;%@a%fﬁﬁézﬁ%%ﬁiﬁé
G 1E8.25% IR R H A - M B2E EE T
B i W) 16 216.5% B B R B o T A MR
HIFSRERENEEEEN G K EER
16.5% H) 1R HE 75 KB A o

EERA BETMMABIFESREHEMSR
CEHEEEAMBREMSLAER %M
BEEREBREH IR EERBR T2
16.5% 5 & -
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13.

152

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) (continued)

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made for both
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 as the Group did not
generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong.

13.

FERMAX(ER)(E)

HARAEERBE-_Z-_ZFLR_T-NF
A=t ALMEFEABREEBELE
A ERBOR N - I EAEL B ARE -

RETEEERSHETEEMSRED R

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries and subsidiaries without permanent establishment
in the PRC are 25% and 10% respectively for both years ended

31 March 2020 and 2019.

FR-ZZ-NF=A

TEMEBEBRIESD -
FEEFSEECZHNBRARIRBEZE-_ZE=%
Tt BAtMEFEZ

TR DB A25% K 10% °

B P

A T

The income tax expense (credit) for the year can be reconciled to $¢V}5ﬁ BHAZ(E2)H] BEHERA
the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss SHEYERMT:
as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF —hE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss before tax & 5% i S 18 (115,469) (1,308,452)
Tax at applicable domestic income tax rate ?;zm%ﬂxiﬂgﬁﬁ TR %E16.5%
of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) E—NF 16.5%) T EZF B (19,052) (215,895)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for TT?D MAZ s RMBEE
tax purpose 53,966 198,660
Tax effect of income not taxable for BEARTWAZBEZE
tax purpose (37,966) (5,541)
Tax effect of temporary differences not REERBRIYERER 2B
recognised for the year %+ 1" —
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERZMBEBR 2B G E 8,658 31,131
Tax effect of share of profit of associates — FEAG 5t & A R 2 & Fl 2 i 15 5 & — (78)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries fEH M A AERE ¥ 2 WEQF)
operating in other jurisdictions TRAME 28 (2,527) (10,779)
Income tax expense (credit) for the year AFEEMBHRAX(KR) 3,090 (2,502)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRMEGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14. XFEEFE
2020 2019
Z-2F —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Loss for the year has been arrived at RNEEEBIRNBRTYIEER
after charging: BiGH
Staff costs BT KA
— directors’ emoluments (excluding share- — BE2WE (TEEURSG
based payments) AEE 20 5,221 7,777
— salaries and other benefits in kind — HehHMOEDNR 8,186 16,850
— retirement benefits scheme contributions — RIKE R F 8K 756 1,328
— share-based payments — UM AER 2K — 52,368
14,163 78,323
Auditors’ remuneration % 208m T &
— audit services — BRRB 1,210 1,824
— non-audit services — FEBEZRE 40 —
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment %1% - BE &R EITE 1,953 3,029
Depreciation of right-of-use-assets FRABEENE 3,525 —
Amortisation of intangible asset included ANBRIEW AR A2
as cost of revenue | A E 20,673 8
Amortisation of land use rights = b 5 AR e 8E — 463
Minimum lease payments paid under KEHREBRTENz&EHE
operating lease ES — 7,810
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense HRARZIZEFENXAR 8,024 69,600
Written-down of inventories recognised as cost 52 & U A B AR 2 17 & iR
of revenue — 21,426
Royalty fee HAEE 61,667 57,448
HEENRRERAERAR 201920 FERE 153
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H ==

15.

154

1 (&)

ZEF=A=+—RLFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS

Directors’

disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the CO, is

as follows:

and chief executive's remuneration for the years,

For the year ended 31 March 2020

15. EERTHRARMNS
BREER TR LRARIGEHBREZEER
THREHEFEZHEHOT

BE-Z-_ZH=ZA=Z+—-HLHFE

Retirement
Salaries and benefits
other benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
FeRHEAM EBREF
ok BENA# B R:E: st
HKS$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman) REEE(EE) 342 — 18 360
Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony HBRERE(R=ZF-IF
(resigned on 9 September 2019) AN EEE) - 786 9 795
Ms. Chu Wei Ning MEEZ T (TTHAEH)
(Chief Executive Officer) — 2,622 18 2,640
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel BERKEER=ZFE-—NF
(resigned on 3 October 2019) +A=HEE) 183 — - 183
Ms. Lam Sze Man MEFFR L (R=F-NF
(appointed on 3 October 2019) +HA=ZHEZT) 360 — 9 369
Independent non-executive directors BYFHITES
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen REREERZF-NF
(resigned on 18 September 2019) NAT/VHEHF) 202 — — 202
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael R HE 240 - - 240
Mr. Han Chunjian BHASE(RZF-NF
(retired on 30 September 2019) NA=+HRE) 120 - - 120
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis B ARl (R=F—/14F
(appointed on 23 August 2018) NAZFT=HEZF) 240 - - 240
Mr. Feng Man BREER=ZF-NE
(appointed on 13 December 2019) +-A+=ZHEZL) 72 — — 72
1,759 3,408 54 5,221
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRMEGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS 15. EERTHREARZMS (B)
(continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-_Z-NF=ZA=+—HILFE
Salaries  Retirement
and other benefits Shared-
benefits in scheme based
Fees kind contributions  Sub-total  payments Total
e kEM  RIKER VAR B
we EBEUMNE  FEHERN - PANE:S @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Executive directors YITES
Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman) RIRTE(FE) 30 330 18 378 46 424
Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony BEREEEE(R=ZFE-NEF
(resigned on 9 September 2019) NANEFEE) — 3,582 18 3,600 17,400 21,000
Ms. Chu Wei Ning VUG B L+ (778 4 )
(Chief Executive Officer) — 2,640 18 2,658 17,400 20,058
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel BERNEERZFE-NEF
(resigned on 3 October 2019) THA=ZAFF) 360 — — 360 46 406
Independent non-executive BYEHTES
directors
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BERRRER-ZENE
(resigned on 16 July 2018) +t AT NAEE) 35 — — 35 — 35
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen REREE(R=ZF-NEF
(resigned on 18 September 2019) NATNAEFE) 120 — — 120 46 166
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael RRExE 240 — — 240 15 255
Mr. Han Chunjian BEARE(R=F-NF
(retired on 30 September 2019) NA=1HEF) 240 — — 240 15 255
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis BRARTER=E-NE
(appointed on 23 August 2018) NAZ+=HEZE) 146 — — 146 — 146
1171 6,552 54 7777 34,968 42,745
Notes: M iF
(a) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their (a) EXITRATESZBE A RS RME

services in connection with the management of the affairs of

the Company and the Group.

(b)

above were for their services as the Directors.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown

There were no arrangement under which a director or the chief

executive waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

FREREARARAEEEH 2 MBM

S e

FNEEHHRMRS AT

EXARBELFATEEZHEIRI

REBEE-ZE_ZFER-_F—NF=A=+—
BLEFE TESESXTREENEXRE

MEBEEMME 22 -

FEIE DR IZERARAR 2019/20 FE

R
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H ==

15.

16.

156

1 (&)

ZEF=A=+—RLFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS
(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, certain directors were
granted awarded shares, in respect of their services to the Group
under the share award scheme of the Company. Details of the
share award scheme are set out in Note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements. The amount of the awarded shares is
determined according to their seniority and contributions to the

mobile technologies business and expected future contributions.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included two (2019: two) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining
three (2019: three) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

15.

16.

ESRTHARME (B)

RBE-_Z-NF=ZA=T—BLFE =&
TEEREBEARA 2RO BB M BER
AEERE ZREER R - ROKRE
ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%WHmOﬁ@%
MBEDRBREZFE  HFHEMER
ZERMEEBMRARZEBMETE

hEBa%HESR
AEEFALERRFRERERA (22—
NEMBESF REZHFHFBEHRLX

BEMBmRMTIS - HHR=2(ZF—N
FZRAFARREFHTRARLZES
hREAFEZHMARET:

2020 2019

g g 35 —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Salaries and other benefits in kind HekHEMEMHN = 2,462 3,359

Share-based payments LARE 0 7 B 2 K — 17,400

Retirement benefits scheme contributions & K48 #l 5+ 21 fit 7 40 51

2,502 20,810

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the FMNTFUTHEZIEEESFHFRE AN
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is R

as follows:

2020 2019

ZECZEF —T-hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Up to HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 JTL LA~ 2 1

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T 21,500,000/ 7T 1 1

HK$18,500,001 to HK$19,000,000 18,500,001/ 7T 219,000,000 7T — 1
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18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H E =

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company during the year ended 31 March 2020, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period
(2019: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable

to the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

17.

18.

ma E!ﬁ%#li%%ﬁﬁ?( g)

TEFE=A=+—HLFE

[ @=\
BE_ T ZF-A=1+—RALFELER
ANFEERFIRA HFIRERKS - B®R
EHRARITER R EMRE(ZT—NF
) -

BRER

AARBEREARGERERNRETBERIR
EINBIERE:

2020 2019
—EB-EHF iﬁ_ﬂfﬁ
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the year attributable to owners of T EEFREARBFEHIEBMEZ
the Company for the purpose of basic ARREBAELEAFEREE
and diluted loss per share (114,089) (1,298,305)
2020 2019
—E-2F —E-NF
‘000 ‘000
F®R TR
Number of shares vl =]
Weighted average number of ordinary FEEREARBEEEMAZ
shares for the purpose of basic and L5 AR 0 R T
diluted loss per share 3,706,534 3,577,097

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
of basic and diluted loss per share has been adjusted for the share
consolidation on 3 August 2018.

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31
March 2020 does not assume the conversion of the subsidiary’s
outstanding convertible loan since their assumed exercise would
result in a decrease in loss per share.

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31
March 2019 does not assume the conversion of the Company’s
outstanding share options because the exercise price of those
options was higher than the average market price for shares.

BREARBEER 2L BRMETHHE
RRZE-NAFNA=ZBMETHORML A G
i 1 H 3 & o

mRRRERIBARZKE %Tiﬁ EEA
BERERERR)  RAHEEE —F
F=ZA=+— Etifﬁﬁiféﬁé}}éﬁaiﬁ{
REZEAMRBRERDEER -

HRARBRITEBRENTEESREN
WEFHTE RAEFERE_F-AF=A=
T-HLSESEREIFERTERRZER
Mot i -

FEEARERIERER AT 201920 FEHRE 157
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H ==

19.

158

1 (&)

ZEF=A=+—RLFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. V¥ BERRE
Leasehold Leasehold Plant and Motor Furniture,
buildings  improvements machinery vehicles  and fixtures Total
HEBF HEWELE BERKE RE BRREE @
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FETL FET
COST BA
At 1 April 2018 —Z-)\EmA—-H 7,980 2,588 29,392 4130 3,740 47,830
Additions nE — 2,627 9 735 248 3,619
Disposals HE - — — (3,134) (328) (3,462)
Written-off i - — — — (101) (101)
Exchange adjustments EXHE (512) — (1,879) (68) (168) (2,627)
At 31 March 2019 “Z-NE=ZR=1+-H 7,468 5,215 27,522 1,663 3,391 45,259
Additions RE - — - — 3 3
Disposals HE - — - — (308) (308)
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (Vote 43) WEBARKEGRAEAR
(Htit43) - (229) - - (281) (510)
Written-off HsH - (825) - — (1,413) (2,238)
Exchange adjustments Rk (493) - (1,808) (65) (101) (2,467)
At 31 March 2020 R-Z-EF=A=1+-AH 6,975 4,161 25,714 1,598 1,291 39,739
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND RAMERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2018 RZE-N\EME—A 3,081 2,235 26,746 2,447 1,385 35,804
Provided for the year AEERE 329 m 809 423 757 3,029
Disposals & - - - (1,470) (109) (1,579)
Written-off W - - - — (38) (38)
Exchange adjustments ERHE (198) — (1,719) (64) (52) (2,033)
At 31 March 2019 RZZE-NFE=ZA=1+—H 3,212 2,946 25,836 1,336 1,943 35,273
Provided for the year KEERE 313 912 229 136 363 1,953
Disposals HE - - - - (181) (181)
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (Vote 43) WEARKIEGA AR
(B:#43) - (196) - - (39) (235)
Written-off g - (743) - — (1,016) (1,759)
Exchange adjustments LS (221) — (1,624) (65) (101) (2,011)
At 31 March 2020 R-Z-Z2F=Zf=1+—A 3,304 2,919 24,441 1,407 969 33,040
NET BOOK VALUES REFE
At 31 March 2020 R-B-ZF=A=+-A 3,671 1,242 1,273 191 322 6,699
At 31 Mach 2019 “E-hE=ZR=1+-H 4,256 2,269 1,686 327 1,448 9,986
The Group’s leasehold buildings are situated in the PRC held under AEBHEEFURFTE  REGHEE
medium term lease. BE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRMEGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 19. WE- BERRKEE)
As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s leasehold buildings RZTZZTF=A=+—8 AEEEEEY
with carrying value of approximately HK$3,671,000 (2019: 3,671,000/ 7T (== — L4 : 4,256,000/ 7T)
HK$4,256,000) are pledged to secure a bank borrowing granted ZHEBFEEER  UERFAEEERZ
to the Group (Note 34). HITEE(MFE34) -
Depreciation expense of approximately HK$419,000 (2019: r &€ M X 0 49419,0008 t(Z T — N
HK$1,016,000) has been included in cost of revenue and 11,016,000 7v) B st AR A B AS - 4
approximately HK$1,534,000 (2019: HK$2,013,000) included in 1,534,000/ 70 (ZZ — 14 : 2,013,000 7T)
administrative expenses, respectively. BIFTAITERER -
The above items of property, plant and equipment, are depreciated AEWME - BERZEEENATMHEAIE
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life as follows: BFEBALNEZESENE:
Leasehold buildings 20 years HERTF 204F
Leasehold improvements 2 - 3 years HEMELRE 2E3F
Plant and machinery 3 - 20 years [ Ko e 28 3E204F
Motor vehicles 4 — 8 years A AZ 8
Furniture and fixtures 3 - 10 years B REE 3ZE10F
LAND USE RIGHTS 20. T HbfFE AR

HK$000

FET

cosT R A&
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FMNA—H 13,370
Exchange adjustments E H 3% (858)
At 31 March 2019 RZZE-NF=R=+—H 12,512
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Rit#Es
At 1 April 2018 W-ZE—N\EmMA—A 3,978
Charged for the year FNFHE 463
Exchange adjustments & X 3% (257)
At 31 March 2019 R-ZE—NALF=ZA=+—H 4,184
NET CARRYING VALUES REFE
At 31 March 2019 RZZE—-NF=ZA=+—H 8,328

The Group's land use rights are situated in the PRC with medium

term leases.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s land use rights with carrying
value of approximately HK$8,328,000 are pledged to secure a bank

borrowing granted to the Group (Note 34).

AREEZ D EABEURTEEA - B
HE -

RZE-NF=ZA=+—H F&EERHEE

#)8,328,000/8 72 L b MIECIEEHH - A
ERAEEER 2RITEE (M F34) -
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21.
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1 (&)

ZEF=A=+—RLFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 2. EAEEE
Leasehold Leased
lands properties Total
HEL# HEWE Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2019 R-ZE—-hFW™A—H 8,328 6,928 15,256
Depreciation charge WEEH (444) (3,081) (3,525)
Exchange adjustments ME 5 58 2 (534) — (534)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZEB-_ZEF=R=+
—A 7,350 3,847 11,197
Expense relating to short-term leases B A E ALY
and other leases with lease terms end IRERE BV BRE
within 12 months of the date of initial AR Z 1655 E BT
application of HKFRS 16 1218 A R JE R ) H
THE MR X 1,169
Total cash outflow for leases HEReREBEE 3,300
Additions to right-of-use assets TRAREERE -
For both years, the Company leases office premises for its RMEFE ARAEESFTEMEFLE

operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of
3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where its
manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office buildings.
The Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire these property interests. The leasehold
land components of these owned properties are presented
separately only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.

At 31 March 2020, the leasehold lands with an aggregate net

carrying value of approximately HK$7,350,000 were pledged to
secure a bank borrowing granted to the Group (Note 34).
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sEoh - REE R B K X 2 A EREME
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H E =

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

At 31 March 2020, gamma ray irradiation services continued to
underperform, the management of the Group concluded there
was an indication for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on recoverable amounts of certain property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$5,083,000 and approximately HK$7,350,000
respectively. The recoverable amount of property, plant and

equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated individually.

In determining the recoverable amount of those property, plant
and equipment as at 31 March 2020, the Group engages Flagship
Appraisals and Consulting Limited (“Flagship Appraisals”), an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected to the
Group, to perform the valuation. The Directors work closely
with Flagship Appraisals, to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. The recoverable amount of
those property, plant and equipment was determined based on
cost approach. The cost approach is based on the current cost to
recreate or duplicate the asset less an appropriate allowance for

depreciation from physical, functional, and economic.

In determining the recoverable amount of those right-of-use assets
as at 31 March 2020, the Group engages Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited (“Ravia Global”), an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Gorup, to perform the
valuation. The Directors work closely with Ravia Global to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The
recoverable amount of those right-of-use assets was determined
based on the depreciated replacement cost approach. The
depreciated replacement cost approach is based on an estimate of
the market value for the existing use of the land, plus the current
cost of replacement of the existing structures less deductions for
physical deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence and
optimisation.

As at 31 March 2020, based on the result of the above
assessments, management of the Group determined that the
recoverable amounts of these property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are higher than their carrying amounts.
Accordingly, no impairment loss has been recognised against the
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets.

22.

ma E!ﬁ%#li%%ﬁﬁ?( g)

TEFE=A=+—HLFE

ME BERIKBURERAEEERE

1k
MN-ZB-TEFE=ZA=1+—0 - fIHHFEETR
BREXARE AEEEEBRERRT

ERETS - WHLAREE 5 Bl A&%15,083,000
BT R #497,350,0008 L2 E THE - BEK

REARCEAEEE TR O EETRE
MR BMEARBANEAREEZ
R B & BE T AR B 5 5t o

EEZEDE BEERRER-_ZE-_TF=
A=t—BzaKE & %h REE RN
AEEMERBNBLISERIEXRGHEMSE

ﬁ%ﬁéﬁﬁ%ﬁf‘:ﬁﬁﬁﬁAﬂ(Fﬁﬁhﬁéaﬂﬁj)
EITEE - EFHEEREEEFGERIAE
UEEBEE Z2MERMERIUSH - ZEY

¥ HREEREZABCSBRRAEEE -
PR AR Th AR 95 5 % 8l %ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁzm Al AL
AREME W REERREH 2 EEH
EREAE-

EEZSERAREER_Z-Z2F=A=+

—BZAE&REK  AEEZEEREER
MR 2 B LA B HE A ERIRavia Global
Appraisal Advisory Limited ([Ravia Globall) #
71118 - E = B Ravia Global & {E + LAHE
FHEEZHERMRERN 2 - ZE5 R BR
BEZAKRBGHERNESEXNAEETE -
WESERAEDRE L HMRBRE 2
ME SNREBENIENEERER - R
EEBINEEREMBEHEBIER 2RERE
bz MREE -

MRZZE-ZF=A=+—0  BRELATHE
BR AEEEEEBRTEZEVE BER
REALEAREEZANNRSESRER
mE- Bl TERZEDE BERRE
UREREEEZREERAREESSE -
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23.

162

INTANGIBLE ASSET

23. EFREE

Advertising
license rights Website cost Total
BT E Bk AR A #at
HK3$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TFET TFET TFET
cosT R 2
At 1 April 2018 and 1 April 2019 RZE—N\FWA—AK
—E-hFHMA—H — 40 40
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 42) Ut & i & A &) (47 i#42) 238,529 — 238,529
Addition NE 56,250 — 56,250
Adjustment due to renewal EESIB AR (29,520) — (29,520)
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary M B AR IR E AR
(Note 43) (Ht3t43) — (40) (40)
Exchange adjustments E X 38 # (13,656) — (13,656)
At 31 March 2020 R-E-ZEF=A=+—H 251,603 — 251,603
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION R:t# &R EE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2018 RZFE—N\FWHA—H — 13 13
Charge for the year FNEHE — 8 8
At 1 April 2019 RZZE—NFWHA—HA — 21 21
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 42) U 8 Bt B & 5 (ff i£42) 209,052 — 209,052
Adjustment due to renewal EESIB AR (19,301) — (19,301)
Charge for the year FNFHR 20,664 9 20,673
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary M8 AR IR E AR
(Note 43) (K1 it43) — (30) (30)
Exchange adjustments & X, 38 & (11,104) — (11,104)
At 31 March 2020 R=-ZZB=-Z2F=ZA=+-—H 199,311 — 199,311
CARRYING VALUES fRH &
At 31 March 2020 R-ZZB-ZEHF=A=+—H 52,292 — 52,292
At 31 March 2019 —NF=RA=+—H — 19 19

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the following
periods:

Advertising licenses rights
Website cost

3 years
5 years
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

mEVBHRRMEGE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES REBE QR zEH
2020 2019
—E-2F —T—hF
HK$000 HK$°000
FETT FrET
Unlisted cost of investment EFFIEER A — 361,830
Share of post-acquisition loss of associates (5Bt 4 N 7] > U B 12 &5 18 — (33,578)
Exchange adjustments A — 3,100
— 331,352
Less: Accumulated impairment loss (Note i) g : 8 =i {8 &5 18 (4 i) — (331,352)
Amounts due from associates (Note i) FE Uk B A% N T ZRIE (BT AT — 633,551
Less: Allowance for credit loss (Note ii) B = B RS B IK (A — (633,551)

The Company entered into an original sale and purchase agreement
dated 8 October 2015, the deed of amendment dated 23
December 2015 and the second deed of amendment dated 29
March 2016, with an independent third party (the “First Seller”) in
relation to acquisition of 30% equity interest in Yota, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability (the “First
Acquisition”). The total cash consideration of USD46,225,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$358,891,000) was paid by the
Group, among which USD31,068,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$241,215,000) was cost of acquisition for 30% equity
interest in Yota and USD15,157,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$117,676,000) was the cost of acquisition for a balance owned
by a subsidiary of Yota to the First Seller, the balance was repayable
on demand and classified as current assets. The First Acquisition
was completed on 29 April 2016.

AR —ZBLE=FTE—FHDTL
B A-—Z—RAF+ANBZREEEHE -
B AT —AF+-AZ+=HZEBITZ
BRHBA-ZZ-—AREZA=Zt+NAAZE=
MIERT B - WA A BULE Yota (R £ 87
EEMERY ZBRAF)30% KA ([H—
WHEEIR]) o B3R £ 1K 846,225,0003 7T (18
£ 7 49358,891,0008 ;) E A AL E 1 -
H 31,068,000k st (48 & 7 £9241,215,000
HBIT) AW Yota 30% R AR 2B 0
15,157,000 7T (#8 & 7 #9117,676,0007% JT)
B EYotaz —HMBRARIRE—BEHZH
BN BHREHEREREEYSEA
RBEE F-WEFER-_ZT—~FOA
—t+hBEMK -
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

On 9 February 2018, China Baoli Technologies Services Limited
(“Baoli Services”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an agreement (the “Second Agreement”) with an
independent third party (the “Second Seller”) in relation to
acquisition of 10% equity interest in Yota at a consideration of
USD15,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$120,615,000) (the
“Second Acquisition”). Pursuant to the Second Agreement, the
consideration will be satisfied by cash and the issuance of shares

of the Company in the following manner:

(i) USD140,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,089,000)
by payment in cash within 3 business days of the date of
the Second Agreement which shall be applied towards the

consideration upon the completion;

(i) USD360,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,801,000) by
payment in cash upon the completion;

(i) the settlement of USD10,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$81,690,000) by way of allotment and
issue of the first tranche consideration shares; and

(iv)  the settlement of the remaining USD4,500,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$35,035,000) on the date falling 180
days after the completion date. Baoli Services shall provide
a notice to the Second Seller in writing no later than 3
business days before the 180th day after the completion
date electing whether the remaining payment will be
settled by way of allotment and issue of the second tranche
consideration shares or in cash.

The Second Acquisition was completed on 29 March 2018.
On the same date, the first tranche of consideration shares
of 593,246,187 have been duly issued and allotted to the
Second Seller. On 26 September 2018, the second tranche of
consideration shares of 25,424,836 (adjusted to take into account
of the share consolidation as detailed in Note 37) have been
duly issued and allotted to the Second Seller. The details are set
out in the announcements of the Company dated 11 February
2018, 9 March 2018, 29 March 2018 and 26 September 2018
respectively.
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(i) 10,500,000 T (48 & 1 4981,690,000
B AR BERETE-—HREROZ
FRIZMA &

(iv)  £A%84,500,000% 7T (1% 2 4935,035,000
BT R E H AR E180AXN - B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z—Z T F ==+ —HILFE
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 24, RBELR R (E)
Given the Group does not control the majority composition of ERAEBIT EITEFYotaEEE 2 KD K
the board of directors of Yota, the Group has no control over BHE - A AEE S Yotall MG #E - A
Yota. However, the Directors consider that the Group can exercise i BRAEBEEZRRKREVEFE
significant influence over Yota as the Group has appointed BEERANEETHYotalTHFEERTESN -
representatives to the board of directors of Yota. Yota and its E it - Yota R E B AR (i [Yotake B 1) 4
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Yota Group”) is DERAEEZEERA -
therefore classified as associates of the Group.
On 15 March 2019, the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands RZZE—NF=-A+HB HEHBEKRER
granted a winding up order (the “Order”) against Yota. The BYotaFEH ER ([ <))  ZBEBREFD
winding-up petition was filed by Hi-P Electronics Pte. Ltd. (the FAHi-P Electronics Pte. Ltd. (2@ A &
“Petitioner”) with respect to a principal sum of US$1,000,000 said Yota#t K 25 A 2 7A€ §81,000,0003 T M1 i
to be due by Yota to the Petitioner. e e
Upon submission of all the information to the official liquidator of RZZE—NFWA=+HR Yota)x E/BE B AR
Yota on 30 April 2019, the Directors were of the opinion that the b ﬁﬁéﬁﬂ % BEERBEAEETHE Yato
Group has ceased to have any significance influence on Yato, and BEEAMERFEEN  MYotatBAEAAE
Yota will cease to be accounted for as an associate of the Group. SEMBE QT - YotalBREBREZEZZ
The liquidation of Yota is accounted for as a derecognition of an ToTF-ZA=FT—HUEFEMNREAEZER
associate, and resulted in a loss of approximately HK$313,000 HEme2EKERPARY ARIEEREE QD
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other A I EAEE 313,000 T ATEMT

comprehensive income during the year ended 31 March 2020,
calculated as follows:

2020

—= —gq—:

HK$°000

FET

Carrying amount of 40% equity interest in Yota A Yota 40% A% # &) BR E & —
Release of exchange reserve upon derecognition of an A #% 1 7 3R Bt & A &) B fi% Bk [E 3 RE 8

associate 313

Loss on derecognition of associates RILFERB 2 AR 2 BE (313)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H ==

ZEF=A=+—RLFE

24. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 24, REBEQRZER(BE)
Notes: B it -
0] The amounts due from associates are unsecured, repayable on (i) BB LS AR REAERE AEEX
demand and interest bearing at the following rates: HERET ﬂf:ﬁr%ﬁ
2020 2019
ZEZEF —TE-NEF
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET FET
Interest-free borrowing R BEE 117,894 119,329
7% borrowing TEEE 126,188 127,723
8% borrowing SEMEE 381,855 386,499
625,937 633,551
Included in the amounts due from associates is the following J"?fuﬁz BERBRERBEUTAEEE
amount denominated in currency other than the group entities’ e EMANEE T E 22
functional currencies:
2020 2019
oy —E-NEF
‘000 ‘000
Fir For
usD E 80,174 80,714
(ii) After taking into account of the Order, the winding-up petition, (ii) Kethms BREFEAYotaWBEFEE
the net liabilities of Yota and for the sake of prudence, the HH:}E"%E%J% EERAE EREZE
Directors is of the view that full impairment on investments —NEZA=ZT—HIEFEH RS
in associates and amounts due from associates of the Group ”A T K 1% B K B W AN S B B N R FOE
should be recognised for the year ended 31 March 2019 to WRE2EORME AR Yotay B 5 »
reflect the current conditions of Yota.
Details of impairment assessment of amounts due from HE-_ZT-ZFR-_FT-—NF=A=1+—
associates for the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 are set AIEFE 2 EWE 2 2 F R IE 2 F(E T
out in Note 7(b). HEFBEHARW () -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Details of each of the Group’s material associates at the end of

the reporting period are as follows:

Name of entities

Place of incorporation/

Principal place of operation

Proportion of
ownership interest

held by the Group

24, REE LR 2R (E)
MRB|ERR  AEBEXREABE QT ZF

BT

Proportion of
voting rights
held by the Group

Principal activities

AMRLH L AEEfE
EEER TEERNY EEEEZ 2L AEERBSRAE LA TEXR
2020 2019 2020 2019
“E-EE “T-NE ZBZEE “TNF
Yota Cayman Islands/ — 40% — 40%  Investment Holding
Cayman Islands
HeHs /HeHs REER
Yota Device Ltd"# Republic of Cyprus/ — 40% — 40%  Research and development of Yota
Republic of Cyprus Devices hardware and software,
marketing, certification, selling goods,
management of supply chain and
production
ERBRLLARNE Yota Devicest#® (BN 15 % ~ I & 8K -
BB M AR RE HEEY HEEREEER
Yota Device IPR Ltd#  British Virgin Islands/ — 40% — 40%  Asset holding and management
British Virgin Islands
EBRAES /HBRLES BERARER
Yota Device LLCA# Russian Federation/ — 40% — 40%  Research and development of Yota Devices
Russian Federation software, marketing, certification and
selling goods
HENES/ BELHT Yota Devices Bl 3 - I8 BER
HEEY
Yota Device Oy Finland/Finland — 40% — 40%  Research and development of Yota Devices
hardware and software
BH /5 Yota Devices i f Iz 8 #ff 8

A Not audited by Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

# Wholly-owned subsidiary of Yota

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

A WIMEREFB)GAMEEMERD
AE|Z

# YotaZz &2 & W E AR

LA ERR N BERENGEATHE
HRAR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z =TT F = A=+ —HIFE

24. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 24, REELNRzER(E)

Summarised financial information of associates

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
associates is set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amounts shown in the Yota Group’s consolidated

financial statements prepared in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards.

TR
BN

ANEE

B2 Yota EBE A

BMERNRA U BERME
AZHMBERBERIIMT -
VAT B 7 B L 15 B2 70 122 AR B R B 75 s 5 2R R
MIBMERMRZERE -

Yota Group
Yotaf

2020 2019
i —NEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets mENE E — 106,594
Non-current assets EMEE E — 11,805
Current liabilities mEBE — (878,681)
Non-current liabilities B EE — —

Yota Group

Yotaf
2020 2019
—_ ? — q—: _j—LE
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Note)
(Kt &E)

Revenue A N/ATRiE A 27,653
Profit for the year KFE S F N/ATE A 1,185
Other comprehensive expense for the year ZAFE H b2 % H N/ATE A (7,920)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEE 2 E S H4A5H N/ATEHR (6,735)
Dividends received by the Group REBWE 2 R E N/AFTiE A —
Note: From 1 April 2019 to 30 April 2019 (date of derecognition). Kit: BZZE—NAFNA—BARE-ZT—NF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRMEGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 24.
Summarised financial information of associates (continued)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to

the carrying amount of the interests in associates recognised in

the consolidated financial statements:

TN
EEREN

REBE AR 2z (&)
BENRAZHBENBE(E)
LR BERNBBZREEMBRERAERZ
s REE R

Yota Group
Yotaf
2020 2019
—EZEF —T-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net liabilities attributable to the owners HEEAEGEZFAR — (760,282)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEBHEEEEZ 2 LA
interest — 40%
— (304,113)
Goodwill EES — 301,735
Effect of fair value adjustments at RBEREEATERAR 2 ZE
acquisition — 234,262
Pre-acquisition loss U B BT &S 18 — 99,468
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AEBER 2 ER@E - 331,352
GOODWILL 25. B8
2020 2019
—EZEF —T-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
COST X AN
At 1 April K A—H 352,974 352,168
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries W B B B A Rl &= A
(Note 42) (B 7#42) 57,952 —
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (Note 43) KB QAR I 4 & A B (47 i£43) (320,066) —
Exchange adjustments ME 5 38 & (3,605) 806
At 31 March R=A=+—H 87,255 352,974
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT ZFHRE
At 1 April REOA—HA 167,689 80,493
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (Note 43) M B R AR LR A ARR (B £43) (134,781) —
Exchange adjustments M 38 & (615) —
Impairment loss recognised for the year FANRRZBERE — 87,196
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 32,293 167,689
CARRYING AMOUNT R B 54,962 185,285
HEENRRERAERAR 201920 FERE 169
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GOODWILL (continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated
to four cash generating units (“CGUs"), comprising the mobile
technologies business, multi-media technologies business, gamma
ray irradiation services and tourism and hospitality business. The
carrying amounts of goodwill (net of accumulated impairment
losses) allocated to these units are as follows:

25.

BmE(E)

REENATS BEESEENERSE
sEN(ReELEM]) BRFERRME
% ZHEBEMER - 0355 4R R 5T IR A
RiRELERER - DRERXFEUZHE
FREECHRRTREBE NT

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Gamma ray irradiation services 1N 3% 5 4% BR Y BR %5 — —
Tourism and hospitality business IR #E RO E X — 185,285
Mobile technologies business FHRRITE — —
Multi-media technologies business LI RN 54,962 —
54,962 185,285
Impairment tests for goodwill EEREAR
Gamma ray irradiation services 11 55 5 4% 8 51 iR 7

The Group’s goodwill from its gamma ray irradiation services
segment had been fully impaired in prior years.

Tourism and hospitality business

As at 31 March 2019, the Group performed an impairment
review for a CGU of tourism and hospitality business which was
contributed by We Fly, with reference to a valuation carried out
by an independent professional valuer. The recoverable amount of
We Fly has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation,
which uses a cash flow projection based on financial forecast
approved by management covering a 5-year period. The pre-tax
discount rate applied to cash flow projection is 13.52% and cash
flow beyond the 5-year period is extrapolated using a steady 3%
per annum growth rate. The growth rate used does not exceed
the long-term average growth rate for the business in which the
CGU operates. Due to the delay in launching the on-line booking
system of hotel room, We Fly cannot meet the performance of
financial forecast estimated last year. After adjusting above factor,
the carrying amount of this CGU exceeds its recoverable amount of
HK$77,880,000. Accordingly, the Group recognised an impairment
loss on goodwill in relating to the Group’s tourism and hospitality
business of approximately HK$77,880,000 for the year ended 31
March 2019.
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V& E N ET
RZB-hE=ZA=+—H AEBEZ2R
HmEEEGEMETZEERRELIEH
EBReEEBNERETRERS - B
RzrlEeBEREREBENEEZETE
mEAEBETEERASEEBHEZ AT
B EANETZReRERR -RERE
TERIFTER 2T AT IR E A13.52% @R
FHZRERERMA3%BTFEERES -
REZRECEEENCEZEBMEAZER
EWTBEREFHERE -ANBERR
WPLETETRFEMTERL  EREFENKE
FHAZHBEREELN - Aot EAEES
ARG ZRECEABMNZERESNATK
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H E =

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

Tourism and hospitality business (continued)

As disclosed in Note 43 to the consolidated financial statements,
during the year ended 31 March 2020, We Fly was deconsolidated
from the Group. Accordingly, the cost and the accumulated
impairment of goodwill attributable to We Fly in the tourism and
hospitality business were derecognised upon deconsolidation of
We Fly.

Mobile technologies business

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the smartphone industry
in PRC was under great pressure amid the impact of negative
factors including the United States of America and the PRC trade
war coupled with the slowing down of economy in the PRC, and
the saturation of the smartphone market with the retailers having
excessive inventory all played a part in the poor performance of
the smartphone market. We have seen smaller smartphone players
being forced to exit the market due to the cut-throat competition
in the PRC. As such, the management of & &R CFII)
BRAT

Yota"”) determined to switch its business focus on the software

(Baoli Yota Technologies (Shenzhen) Limited*) (“Baoli

development such as internet of things solutions in the future. Due
to the change in business model, the future income generated by
Baoli Yota is not the same as the CGU arising from step acquisition
of Baoli Yota during the year ended 31 March 2018 which is
focused on the research and development and sales of dual
screen mobile phone. Therefore, the management of the Company
considered that the carrying amount of the CGU arising from step
acquisition of Baoli Yota is greater than recoverable amount and
goodwill impairment of approximately HK$9,316,000 have been
recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2019.

For identification purpose only
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TEFE=A=+—HLFE

BE(E)

R E R ()

R B X% ()

EEZZZDZ*’*\Eﬂ%i&%W%HBﬁﬁ&% REZE=

ZCRF=ZA=F+-HILFE  BERELR

AEBEKEAANE - Bt ERL&?ﬁﬁﬂ%f“‘:F‘
EREBEFEORANR ZEE REREK

IEERE AR LIEHER -

FHREMES
HE_Z-NF=ZA=+—ALFE FEHE
EFRTEREFTXEZERPELER
BREANEEREMRTZE Ehﬁﬁrﬂ
TEERFERTISHEN  BERBEFE
ERUERETFRTEHORERRE mm
2 -HMBEETNAETREFHRTEL2ESE
A BEEFHAMFERLETS < HiL
BEOHEFMEGRINDERARTENERD
EBEBRAESEEBERERRNMERE - A
AR B R ARR TR - AR EBRA K
B OENEFHRRERALRBE—FT-N\F
A=+t RALEESMRELSRBEENER
EANRSEAEN TN -8 EERHTEH
BRHEERTH - Bt ARREEER
REFWBENERELINRSCELENL
FHEARAKREEEME-_T-NAF=
A=+ —BUIFERERERZBERED
9,316,000/% JT °
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GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

Multi-media technologies business

As at 31 March 2020, the Group performed an impairment
review for a CGU of multi-media technologies business which
was contributed by Hong Kong Made (Media) Limited (“Hong
Kong Made"”) and Ample Success Limited (“Ample Success”) (the
“Multi-media CGU"), with reference to a valuation carried out by
Flagship Global. The recoverable amount of the Multi-media CGU
has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation, which
uses a cash flow projection based on financial forecast approved by
management covering a 3-year period. The pre-tax discount rate
applied to cash flow projection is 21.5% and cash flow beyond
the 3-year period is extrapolated using a steady 2% per annum
growth rate. The growth rate used does not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the business in which the Multi-
media CGU operates. As at 31 March 2020, based on the result
of the assessment, management of the Group determined that
the recoverable amount of the Multi-media CGU is higher than
the carrying amount. Accordingly, no impairment loss has been

recognised.

Management determined the budgeted sales and gross margins
based on past performance, expectation for the market
development and planned business strategy. The discount rate
used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to gamma
ray irradiation services, tourism and hospitality business, mobile

technologies business and multi-media technologies business.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

INVENTORIES 26. &
2020 2019
—E-FF —T-NF
HK$000 HK$°000
F#ET FET
Mobile technologies business F M ED
— Raw materials — R 7 4,297
— Work in progress — E&m — 2,679
— Finished goods — &K@ — 4,662
7 11,638
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. EWESRHEMERE
2020 2019
—E-%F —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables EWE S RE 11,307 9,742
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEIERE (6,291) (806)
Trade receivables, net (Note a) EWESRE - F8B(Mita) 5,016 8,936
Other receivables and deposits Hi W ARIE RiR® (Witbkc)
(Notes b and ¢) 41,775 19,184
Prepayments T8 3RE 625 10,259
42,400 29,443
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EERIBRE (3,042) (2,374)
Other receivables, prepayments and HiEWERIE - BARER
deposit paid, net BEftke  FHE 39,358 27,069
44,374 36,005
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H ==

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 27.

Notes:

1 (&)

ZEF=A=+—RLFE

(a) As at 1 April 2018, trade receivables from contracts with

customers amounted to approximately HK$7,743,000 net of
allowance for credit losses of HK$34,714,000. The following is
an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit
losses, presented based on the invoice date, which approximates
the respective revenue recognition dates:

FEWE SR EMRE(E)

g

(a)

R-Z—-/\FEMNA—H BEFAHNEKE
SERIBBHX7,743,0008 T (BB EEE
1B 1534,714,0008 ) - A T B ER %
=M (EABRARRAHERT) 22
ERESEBENREEBBEER K
B DT

*

174

(b)

(@

2020 2019

—B-BF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

0 to 30 days 0E30K 426 1,433
31 to 90 days 31K EI0K 1,746 2,273
91 to 180 days 91K E180K 958 2,798
181 to 365 days 181X £365K 1,886 2,432
5,016 8,936

At 31 March 2020, included in the Group's trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$4,913,000 (2019: HK$5,230,000) which are
past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
approximately HK$2,809,000 (2019: HK$2,432,000) has been
past due 90 days or more are not considered as default by
considering the ongoing business relationship, repayment
history and expected future settlement. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

At 31 March 2020, included in the Group's deposits and
other receivable, an amount of HK$14,646,000 (equivalent
to RMB13,000,000) represented a refundable earnest deposit
paid to an independent third party under a memorandum of
understanding in relation to the proposed acquisition of as an
exclusive advertising agent in connection with the advertising
agency services and related production services for the another
train media.

Rental deposit paid was adjusted upon the initial application of

HKFRS 16. Details of the adjustments are set out in Note 3.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables
are set out in Note 7(b).

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z—Z T F ==+ —HILFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 28. RAFEFABRZEMEE
OR LOSS
2020 2019
—ET-EF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$000
FHEIT FET
Listed securities held for trading: BHIEEEZ FTRES
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong E(\\%E/EJ:FHZHX$EE" 512 778
As at 31 March 2020, the Group's listed securities of aggregate RZEZZTF=ZRA=+—RH AEEEHL
carrying amount of HK$512,000 (2019: HK$759,000) were pledged {B/4A512,0008 T (ZE—NF -759,000/%7E)
by the Group to secure a margin account payable (Note 34). ZEMBHOBHAEEELR  UERAE
RNHREPHIE (M E34) -
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 29. SRITEBRRERES

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which ranged from
0.01% to 0.35% (2019: from 0.01% to 0.35%) per annum.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the group entities’ functional

RITEBIETIEENR00IEF035E (-8
—NF:001EXE035E)5t8 °

RITERLREBETINEEERIES
AN EEREMN 2 &8 !

currencies:
2020 2019
— 7 — q—: :%_ﬂfﬁ
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Japanese Yen H & 28 28
Malaysian Ringgit BRFEERTT 2
EUR & T 3 _
Russian Ruble HENED 1 1

Included in the bank balances and cash are the following amounts

RITERERSBETINZIINEERRER

which are subject to foreign exchange control regulations and not RETAIEREBR &5
freely transferable:
2020 2019
— 7 — q—: iﬁ_ﬂfﬁ
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFrE T
Amounts denominated in RMB NAREREN 2 A 1,353 6,248

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out in
Note 7(b).

RITHEBRZREFEFFIEERIR M E7D) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z =TT F = A=+ —HIFE

30.

176

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES ENREZRAEMRE
2020 2019
—E_ZF —T-hF
HK$000 HK$000
FET FAET
Trade payables (Note a) e B 5 8R1E (A7 ita) 65,228 85,257
Other payables and accruals (Note b) i B BRI & FE AT SR IE (B 7 b) 111,076 106,032
Deposit received (Note c) Bz & (K atc) 15,640 15,640
Amounts due to shareholders and directors J& < % 8 & & = 3K 18 (f7 i7d)
(Note d) 46,026 45,078
Amount due to an associate (Note e) e — B & QR 2 IE (B ite) — 135,040
237,970 387,047
Notes: it -
(@)  The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented (a) LTAERBEEEHEINN 2 ENESE
based on the invoice date: HARER DA -
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-hF
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET FET
Up to 30 days 30K AT 109 11,547
31 to 90 days 31E90K 166 490
91 to 180 days 91E180K 151 4,634
181 to 365 days 1812365k 453 18,322
Over 365 days 365K M - 64,349 50,264
65,228 85,257

(b)

The average credit period granted by the trade creditors is 30
to 45 days (2019: 30 to 45 days).

At 31 March 2020, included in the Group’s other payables
and accruals represented an amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group of approximately
HK$27,373,000 (2019: approximately HK$29,306,000) which
are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

mEVBHRRMEGE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)
Notes. (continued)

(@}

(d)

)

As at 31 March 2020, USD2,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$15,640,000) (2019: USD2,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$15,640,000)) was received
from the employee of the Group (the “Employee”) as a deposit
(the “Deposit”) for the Proposed Disposal (as defined below).

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group and the
Employee entered into a sale and purchase agreement pursuant
to which the Group conditionally agreed to sell and the
Employee conditionally agreed to acquire 10% equity interest
in Yota at a consideration of USD3,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,460,000) (the “Proposed Disposal”).

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the Employee
shall provide or shall procure all necessary assistance to the
Group in obtaining financing on terms favorable to the Group
for the purpose of paying the royalty fee required to be paid
under the intellectual property license agreement.

The Directors are of the opinion that the consideration of
USD3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$23,460,000)
for the Proposed Disposal was arrived at after arm’s length
negotiation.

On 16 March 2020, the Group and the Employee entered in to
a supplemental agreement pursuant to which the Group and
the Employee agreed to refund the Deposit to the Employee
not later than 30 September 2021.

The amount(s) due to shareholders and directors are non-trade,
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 March 2019, the amount due to an associate represent
royalty fee payable under the intellectual property license
agreement, which is unsecured, carried interest rate of the
1-year People’s Bank of China Benchmark rate, plus 5% but not
more than 12% per annum, and repayable on demand.

Included in trade and other payables are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the group entities’
functional currencies:

300 BERNESRHEAMKREE)
Wiat: ()

(0

R-ZE-_ZTE-F=+—H AEEHRE
—%EE([% % &8 J) $E2,000000%
7T (#8 25 7 #915,640,0008 TT)(—Z T — N
£ 12,000,000 7t (48 & 7 £915,640,000
B ERRZHEFH(EERTX)
ke (&e])-

RBEE-Z-N\AZA=Z=+—HILEE "
NEBEZAEELEEHE - Bt -
AEBBKHRELEMZEREBAIK
HREWEYotaz 10% ANz - KEA
3,000,000 7t (AHE5 74 #923,460,0007% 7T)
(TEFLEE=HED-

REEEWHE ZLEEARAAEEHIRE
W ARE M A R AR B R — P
B UM IRBNBERREGHA
XMZEFNEERSERENRAEE
ZHE -

EERAE ZHLEFTHEZAE
3,000,000 Tt (48 & R #923,460,0007%
TN REEER -

R-ZZB-ZF=A+X B AKEEZH
BEFTL—DmAxH#E  BUAEER
ZHEERBETEN_ZT-_—FLA=
THA®RERETZEREER -

BRNBRMEERBBHFESILE B
EEM REREEREE -

RZZE—NFE=ZA=1+—8 BB
ERAINEREAMEREERZEETH
ENEFESE AEEAR BEHFEAR
BIT—FHEREFNENSEEFR XL
BEBBNE)FTEREEREE -

BNESREMEEBETINAEER
BOEEBIINEREREM 2%

2020 2019
—E-2F —EFAF

HK$°000 HK$000

FET FET

usD Ee 15,797 15,797
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H ==

31.

32.

178

1 (&)

ZEF=A=+—RLFE

LEASE LIABILITIES 3. HEEE
2020
—EZEF
HK$'000
FET
Lease liabilities payable: ERTIHEZN2HEEE
Within one year —F A 3,586
Within a period of more than one year —FREXRTMEAN
but not more than two years 812
4,398
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months BRBBEEETREARNIBHEE 2 K18
shown under current liabilities (3,586)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months FRBEEET2EARIBLEE 2 FIE
shown under non-current liabilities 812
LICENSE FEES PAYABLES 32. BENRHEE
The balances represented the present values of license fee payables EBEBEAE - T NBERES TR
for acquisition of exclusive advertising license rights from a third FER T EBIRE (M E23) - M EER
party (Note 23), and related imputed interest arisen from the FRIEZHBEEERNESWT
discounted payable as below:
2020
—E-EF
HK$000
FET
Within one year —FR’ 28,633
Within a period of more than one year —FHERMENA
but not more than two years 23,763
52,396
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months BRBBEEETREANIBHEE 2 5K1E
shown under current liabilities (28,633)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months FRBEEETREARINBLEE 2 HIE
shown under non-current liabilities 23,763
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 33. &HEE
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Current Nk
Multi-media and advertising service ZERBRESRE 26,543 —
Sales of mobile phones and related HEFHEBEE®
products — 469
26,543 469
As at 1 April 2018, contract liabilities amounted to HK$4,267,000. RZZE-N\FMNA—H - 4881EA4,267,000

Contract liabilities, that are not expected to be settled within
the Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified as current and
non-current liabilities based on the Group'’s earliest obligation to

transfer goods or services to the customers.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates
to performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

BT e

ERAEERTEFERNRARBZHFE S
B EMTERAEEZEREEBAE
HZANABE P BRRDLRFRDAR -

TRETERZZIRGESREBEZANE
BRZIUEZPRRZABEABTZEOR
£ -

Sales of mobile
phones and
related products

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE-Z-ZHF=-AZ+—HLEFE HEFHER

HERER
HK$°000
FEx

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract REHFFABH EEL

liability balance at the beginning of the year

EEh 2 BRI
469

Sales of mobile
phones and related

products
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE-E-hE=A=1+—-RHLEE HEFH R
HEE®
HK$000
FET

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract RFEHFTAE K BELE# 2 BRI =
liability balance at the beginning of the year 1,408
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#EZE T -_ZTF=A=+—HIFE

33.

34,

180

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 33. EHNEEE)
During the year ended 31 March 2019, a sale contract is cancelled RBE-_ZT-NF=A=1T—HIFE  #HE
and the deposit of approximately HK$2,859,000 received by the EHEBUE BEARE B YE 2 % £ 492,859,000
Group is reclassified from contract liabilities to other payables. BILTEEHNEEET»EAAMENIKRIE -
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract TERRLANBESE 2 BE T FIE R
liabilities recognised are as follows: i
Multi-media and advertising service ZEBRESERS
When the Group receives a deposit before the production activity WMEEZTDRBIAEBKERZRS BRE
commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of HNFBRANEEEVEE EEZREEAOE
a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract EZWABBEESERIL - AEB—HKX
exceeds the amount of the deposit. The Group typically receives BEXZAREIRN FHEEH10%E50% 2 1%
a deposit ranged from 10% to 50% of the sales amount on & o
acceptance of the engagement.
Sales of mobile phones and related products HEFHRHEBER
When the Group receives a deposit before the production activity EAEERNEETHRB ZAKIIZSR
commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of IR ENREREEANBE  EE25E
a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract AENBRZINEBREE 228 - A5H
exceeds the amount of the deposit. The Group typically receives BE R EREIE YT T EFH10% £ 50%
a deposit ranged from 10% to 50% of the sales amount on & e
acceptance of the engagements.
BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 3. BITRHEMEE
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current D
Bank borrowing — secured (Note a) RITEE — BEM (W ita) 8,508 —
Margin account payable — secured (Note e) JERfFRERF R\ — A K H
(B ite) 42,538 39,214
Other borrowings — unsecured (Notes ¢ & d) Efb{EE — &M (HiZcXd) 188,498 160,681
Placing notes — unsecured (Note b) il & =E — ®IE| A Zb) 19,947 10,000
259,491 209,895
Non-current FRE
Bank borrowing — secured (Note a) RITEE — BEMR (M ita) - 9,238
Placing notes — secured (Note b) ERE — FEM AL 9,868 19,657
9,868 28,895
Total bank and other borrowings BITRAEMEERAE 269,359 238,790
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)
The Group's borrowings were payable as follows:

34,

RTRAMEE(E)

AEBZEEERT I HAREEE:

2020 2019
—E-FF —T-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET

Bank borrowing repayable ERTIHEEERE ZRITEE
Within one year —FR 8,508 234
After one year but within two years —FBRERWMFENRN — 9,004
8,508 9,238

Other borrowings repayable AT HEEEZLMEES
Within one year —FR 250,983 209,895
After one year but within two years —FRERWNFER 9,868 19,657
260,851 229,552
Total bank and other borrowings RITREMEERE 269,359 238,790

Notes:

(b)

As at 31 March 2020, the bank borrowing is secured by the
entire equity interests of J&EFR=E 8RB EM AR AT (Zibo
Liyuan Gamma Ray Technologies Co. Limited*) (“Zibo Liyuan”),
a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company including
leasehold buildings and right-of-use assets (Notes 19 and 21)
(2019: leasehold buildings and land use rights (Notes 19 and
20)). The bank borrowing is mature on 2 September 2020 and
carries fixed interest rate of 5.15% (2019: 5.15%) per annum.

On 20 August 2013, the Company entered into a placing
agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) with a placing agent (the
“Placing Agent”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to
place, through the Placing Agent, on a best effort basis, the
placing notes up to an aggregate amount of HK$300,000,000
to be issued by the Company in the denomination of
HK$2,000,000 each (the “Placing Notes”) to independent
third parties. Pursuant to the Placing Agreement, the Placing
Notes carry interest at 5% per annum and are to be redeemed
on the seventh anniversary from the respective issue dates
of the Placing Notes. The Company may early redeem in
whole the Placing Notes at a redemption price equal to the
principal amount together with accrued interest after the third
anniversary date from the respective issue dates of the Placing
Notes.

On 15 August 2014, the Company and the Placing Agent
renewed the placing period and agreed to place the notes in the
remaining principal amount of up to HK$280,000,000. Details
of the placing and the renewal were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 20 August 2013 and 15 August 2014
respectively.

For identification purpose only

*

EXAEE Y

FEIE ORI ARAR 2019/20 FERE

RZE_ZF=ZA=1+—8 " RITEEN
MEHEaREBRITAERAR (S
AR AARIFEZEHB AR 2EMRA
Hm(BEREEFRERAEEE) (N
RN ZE—hF - HEEFR T HE
FA#E (M 5E19%20)) 1E#K 3 - SRITE B R
—E-TFENA-BEE  RETFERE
SASE(ZE—NF 5 15E)F 8 °

RZIE—=FENA=Z+H ARAIE—FZ
RRERE(REREDTLRE RS (T8
EWmaEl Bt ARFREEARE
REBRZFHNEEEEXRABTEATR
% #8158 5 %300,000,0005 7T & & (H ® (&
2,000,000 T2 B ER B (BREREE]
TREUE=ZF BREREHZE EER
BIRFFERSEFE  URBASHRE
ERZETABEELBEFTER - AR
RIARBEENEERE 2EITABE
FEoBEFABBUBEREASEER ER
FMEZEDNBRABHENEERE

R-ZZE—WENA+THEA  ARFERE
RESEGRER TRAEREH AL
% 5 %£280,000,0008 L2 R - 5K
EEEREFESHEZFE  DRHEHRAK
AREABPA-TE—=F\A-+tEHE=%
—MNENAT+RBZAE -

181



Nofes to the Conso|ic|c:teo| Financial Statements (continued)

B B R R R Y R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z =TT F = A=+ —HIFE

n'IT\

34,

182

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

(b)

(0

(d)

(e)

(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Company issued
placing notes to two placees with aggregate principal amount
of HK$20,000,000. During the year ended 31 March 2015, the
Company issued placing notes to another placee with aggregate
principal amount of HK$10,000,000. The placing notes carried
at amortised cost and the effective interest rate ranged from
5.9% to 6.9% per annum.

As detailed in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Group defaulted on the repayment of the interest on
placing notes on their respective due dates during the year
ended 31 March 2019. One holder of the Placing Notes with
aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 had taken legal
actions against the Company to recover the debts.

Included in other borrowings of HK$121,839,000 (equivalent
to RMB111,555,000) (2019: HK$121,248,000 (equivalent to
RMB103,690,000)) represent loans from an independent third
party. The loan is mature on 27 March 2019, unsecured and
carries interest rate of the People’s Bank of China Benchmark
Rate.

Included in other borrowings of HK$5,010,000 (equivalent to
RMB3,445,000) represent loans from an independent third party
during the year ended 31 March 2019. The loan is mature on
31 March 2021, unsecured and carries fixed interest rate of 5%
per annum.

Margin account payable is secured by certain listed securities
held by the Group (Note 28) and carry interest at prime rate
plus 3% per annum.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRM

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

CONVERTIBLE LOAN

On 22 August 2019, Hong Kong Made (Media) Limited (the
“Hong Kong Made"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a convertible loan agreement (the “Convertible Loan
Agreement”) with an independent third party (the “Lender”), in
respect of a HK$8,550,000 convertible loan (the “Convertible
Loan").

The principal terms of the Convertible Loan are as follows:

Principal amount: HK$8,550,000

Interest rate: 18% per annum

Maturity date: The first anniversary date of the convertible
loan utilisation date (i.e. 21 August 2020)

Conversion: The Lender compulsory convert the
Convertible Loan together with any interest
accrued thereon (if any) to the shares of
Hong Kong Made calculated on a fully
diluted basis upon an event of default has
occurred on or before the maturity date.

Conversion price: Based on a HK$50,000,000 pre-money
valuation agreed upon in good faith
between Hong Kong Made and the Lender

Events of default: (i) Any failure to make any payment
when due of principal or accrued
interest under the Convertible Loan
Agreement or any other obligation
and such non-payent remains uncured
for a period of 7 calendar days
thereafter;

(ii) Hong Kong Made fails to cure within
14 calendar days after receiving notice
from the Lender any representation
or warranty of Hong Kong Made
set forth in the Convertible Loan
Agreement or in any agreement,
instrument, document, certificate
or financial statement evidencing,
guarantying, securing or otherwise
related to, the Convertible Loan
Agreement or any other obligation
that is materially inaccurate or
misleading;

35.

R E R

RZE-NFNAZ+TZH  ARRAIZE2EWN
BARIEBRE(EE) BRAR (FBEMED
E 2 =7 (TER AL 58,550,000/% 7T A]
BRREFX(ATRBRERDITLAIRRER R
F(ATmBRERBED -

HMBRERNEZERRMAT

e 8,550,000% 7T

F = HFF18%

EIEA ARBRERDABHNEER
FRHEIZZEZZEFNA=+—
H)

B HABHBE 2 EEROE
o BERARATBRKEFER
HEESNEZAMNE (AR
HE®RSRTEBEREESE
B & B BUERD o

B (E: ANBEBRERERAZBEA
13 7 #Y 4% & B 5 850,000,000
BT

BHEE: () KRERTBREERBZ

SR NN o e L PN
{E fo] E b & (E B BRI 1E 1
N BABRANRER
718 B B 1 HIE A AR A
1E:

(i) REEERABHNEZIAE
BRA - FEEEREM
1E AT 46 B B R 155 2 S A AT
B - RE - BERIAE
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ZEF=A=+—RLFE

CONVERTIBLE LOAN (continued)

(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

Hong Kong Made fails to observe
or perform any other material term
or condition of the Convertible Loan
Agreement or any other term or
condition set forth in any agreement,
instrument, document, certificate
or financial statements evidencing,
guarantying or otherwise related to
this Convertible Loan Agreement or
any other obligation or Hong Kong
in the

observance or performance of any

Made otherwise defaults

covenant or agreement set forth in
any of the foregoing for a period of
14 calendar days after notice to the
Hong Kong Made of such failure or
default;

A commencement by any endorser of
a voluntary case under any applicable
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar

law now or hereafter in effect:

Hong Kong Made and/or its ultimate
beneficial owner enters bankruptcy or
becomes insolvent or is wound up or
liquidated within the meaning of any
legislation applicable to it; a petition
or other process for the bankruptcy,
insolvency, winding up or liquidation
of the Company is filed or instituted
and remains undismissed or unstayed
for a period of at least 30 days;

The filing of a petition initiating
an involuntary case in which Hong
Kong Made or any endorser is the
debtor under any such bankruptcy,
insolvency or similar law, which case
is not dismissed with 90 calendar
days; or the making by Hong Kong
Made or any endorser of any general
assignment for the benefit of

creditors; or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

CONVERTIBLE LOAN (continued)

(vii)  Any destruction, loss or damage of
or to the collateral in any material

respect.

The convertible loan contain two components, debt component
and derivative (including conversion options) component. The
effective interest rate of the debt component is 19.34%. The
derivative component is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.

The movement of the debt and derivative components of the
convertible loan for the year is set out as below:

35.

TERERGE)

(vii)  FPMEAIE AT E S A5
EREMBEE - BRRIE
E

AR ERBEMEBD - BEBIDRITET
BE(BERRBABR B - EHEBOOERF
EB1934% o PTE T A D AR FEET
AFEEBHNIEBEERER -

FATRBRERTERRITET AL E
BHEINMT

Liability Derivative
component  component Total
EEHY TEIABS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Issuance of convertible loan BITAIRBRER 8,417 133 8,550
Interest expense (Note 11) MERZ M aE) 992 — 992
Change in fair value NEEZE — (49) (49)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-EF=A=+-—H 9,409 84 9,493

The fair value of the Convertible Loan as at 31 March 2020 is
determined by Flagship Appraisals, an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group, using the Binomial
Model and Probability weighted discounted cash flow method with
the following key attributes:

ARBRERNR-_ZTZEF=A=+—A0H2Q
FTEHEEEETH(—REASEERE
WBUGERSEGEMERA-_BRER
REENEMBESREZLAET  WAFMU
TEZRFH:

22 August 2019 31 March 2020

—T-hnF —EB_ZF

NAZ+=H =A=+—H
Default rate BARE 10.43% 4.24%
Volatility IR 53.08% 75.37%
Dividend yield A& Bk 0% 0%
Option life (years) HAE HABR (F) 1.00 0.39
Risk free rate option 3 B R R A 2.01% 0.70%
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36. DEFERRED TAXATION 36.

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for

financial reporting purposes:

i 3E % 1R
AT RIEFBRE BN ZELETIREH DN

2020 2019

—E_ZF = — N

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FET

Deferred tax assets ELEFIBEE — 2,524
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBBEE — (30)
— 2,494

Details of the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised and

movement thereon during the current and prior years:

PHRREEHELEERABEARERAEE
RBEEE L #EEE:

Accelerated

ECL tax
provision Tax loss depreciation Total

BHEE PIIRVS
BEEE HEESR RERE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET TFET TFET FET
At 1 April 2018 RZZTE—N\FHA—H 22 — (30) (8)
Credit to profit or loss (Note 13) &t ABzE & (#:£13) 13 2,489 — 2,502
At 31 March 2019 —NWE=A=+—H 35 2,489 (30) 2,494

Deconsolidation of a subsidiary M8 AR R IEERE AR

(Note 43) (Kt 5t43) (35) (2,489) 30 (2,494)

At 31 March 2020 R-ZZE-_ZEF=A=+-—H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H E =

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has unutilised tax losses
of approximately HK$551,961,000 (2019: approximately
HK$567,046,000), part of which has not yet been agreed with the
Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department, available for offset against
future profits. As at 31 March 2020, no deferred tax asset in
relation to the unused tax loss has been recognised in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position. As at 31 March 2019,
a deferred tax asset of approximately HK$2,489,000 in relation
to the unused tax loss of approximately HK$15,085,000 has been
recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax
losses of approximately HK$551,961,000 (2019: HK$551,961,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

Included in unutilised tax losses as at 31 March 2020 were
losses of approximately HK$232,123,000 (2019: approximately
HK$184,598,000) that would expire in five years and the remaining
balance would not expire under the current tax legislation.

36.

ma ,ﬁ%%#&%éﬁﬁ?(n )

TEFE=A=+—HLFE

EEHE(E)

RZZEZZTF=A=+—8 AEEAHEN
RAH M 2 R B) FA T 7% 18 18 49 /551,961,000
BEIL(ZZ —LF : #567,046,00078 7T) * #B
DEENABESEERERARE - RZZT=
EFE=ZA=1+—8 AEBZEEMBRRIE
WESADATGEERERECHIEELE -
RZZE—NFZA=Z+—8B  AEBELREHH
A5 2R B oK B) A B 75 B 48 4915,085,000 7 T iE
RIEIE T B & E #)2,489,000/8 7T ° AR T 8E
B ARRHEFKE  REARKSEHBEEA
#7551,961,0007% 7T (== — L4 : 551,961,000
BT EREERIBEE -

RZZEZZTF=A=+—H APABBEE
B BEEIB#232,123,0008 T (ZE— A4 :
#]184,598,0007870) * RIBEMITRBER - &
BRAFANR R T AT &SR -
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37. SHARE CAPITAL 37. BX
Par value Number of
per share shares Amount
SRR S5
HE KRG & E o
HK$ ‘000 HK$'000
BT FR FET
Ordinary shares: & AR
Authorised: A
At 1 April 2018 RZZE—N\FMWA—H 0.01 65,000,000 650,000
Share consolidation (Note a) &5 & 0 (B ata) N/AT @A (58,500,000) —
At 31 March 2019 and 2020 RZB-NFR-_ZT-FF
=A=+—H 0.10 6,500,000 650,000

Issued and fully paid: BETRHR:

At 1 April 2018 R-ZZE—-N\FWMWAE—H 0.01 35,225,131 352,251
Share consolidation (Note a) & & 6 (B ata) N/A i A (31,702,618) —
Issuance of shares for the further ME—FSUWE —FEE QA

acquisition of an associate (Note b) BITHRAD (B 72 D) 0.10 25,425 2,543
Issuance of shares under share award B D R & 31T AR D

scheme (Note ¢) (Wt atc) 0.10 90,290 9,029
At 31 March 2019 CE—AFE=ZA=+—H 0.10 3,638,228 363,823
Issuance of shares for acquisition of TUEM B AR BITI’RD

subsidiaries (Note d) (Htitd) 0.10 83,333 8,333
At 31 March 2020 R-ZB-_ZEH=H=+-—H 0.10 3,721,561 372,156

Notes: Mt -

(a) Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the special general (@ BIERAER —NENAZB&17
meeting held on 2 August 2018, the share consolidation on 7 AR == A 7( Liﬂﬁ’] TmREER Hx
the basis that every ten issued and unissued ordinary shares of DEHEBIOREEHTRAETAR
the Company with par value of HK$0.01 per share have been L@k (EERERREHKH0.01ET) /\ﬁ
consolidated into one consolidated share with par value of ﬁﬂﬂﬁ R H(mEESRKH0.105
HK$0.10 per share (the “Consolidated Share”). The Consolidated TT(EHBRD]) 2 EEETT - &HRMD
Shares rank pari passu in all respects with each other and the EFMETERLEEZERSE=ARNG S
share consolidation have been effective on 3 August 2018. HERZZE-—NENA=BEK-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H E =

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Notes. (continued)

(b) On 26 September 2018, 25,424,836 ordinary shares of the
Company, with aggregate nominal value of approximately
HK$2,543,000, were issued and allotted for settlement of
the second tranche of the consideration shares in relation to
the Second Acquisition. Details are set out in Note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(c) On 15 October 2018, the Company had issued and allotted
90,290,000 ordinary shares, with aggregate nominal value of
HK$9,029,000 to 8 Selected Employees (defined in Note 41)
granted under the share award scheme. Details are set out in
Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

(d) On 6 June 2019, 83,333,325 ordinary shares of the Company,
with aggregate nominal value of approximately HK$8,333,000,
were issued for settlement of the first tranche of consideration
shares in relation to the acquisition of subsidiaries. Details are
set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

All the ordinary shares issued during the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019 ranked pari passu with the existing ordinary shares
in all respects.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a MPF scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs capped at
HK$1,500 (2019: HK$1,500) per month to MPF scheme, in which

the contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by
the government of PRC. The subsidiaries in the PRC are required
to contribute a certain percentage of the payroll cost to the
retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits

scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of approximately
HK$810,000 (2019:

contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified

approximately HK$1,382,000) represents

in the rules of the plans. As at 31 March 2020, contributions of
approximately HK$29,000 (2019: approximately HK$38,000) due
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019) had not been
paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid subsequent to the
end of the reporting period.

37.

38.
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B2 (48)
Wiat: ()

by WHZZE-—NFALA=-+<B KAF
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BT SRR M a4 o
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8 333 ooo,%yt)zgﬁﬁwmaﬁﬁﬁuﬁz B BT

AAME—HRERD - FHEHNET
%Fﬁ%mﬁﬂo

RBE_Z_ZER_FT-hhF=ZA=+—
Eﬁi&ﬂ%ﬁ‘fTZﬁﬁﬁtﬁﬁxﬁé‘%ﬁﬁi’%ﬁi
BELREE FH -

EBIRE R G E
K%H%ﬁA%Aﬁﬁéﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
el - HEZEERAEKBZEESF
%%A&ﬂZ%&hﬁo$%lﬁﬂﬁmﬁ
ELFEMABBEIERENS% - LR A
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REBLRTE 2K EAREES AT BKM
BIEZERER ZERENTEKE - hE
ZHEBRBIAREKREFFERETERAR
—TESLZER UEABFEEES -
REEFBERAKENFEZE BB HRIE
ATEEH B 2R -

REBEPEROAZEFLA810,0008 (=
T— A4 491,382,00008 7T) © AR E B IR %
EHE BTN ERERZ ST E A
MR -R-ZTE-_TF=A=+—8 " &
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39.

190

LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Litigation

M

jurisdictions.

In April 2016, the Company completed a placing pursuant to
the terms of the placing agreement with a placing agent and
allotted and issued 25,000,000,000 new shares to various
placees (the “Placing”). Pursuant to the terms of the placing
agreement, each placee undertook to the Company that the
shares issued and allotted to it under the Placing would be
subject to a lock-up period of 24 months from the date of
allotment and issue of such shares.

In May 2016, three placees under the Placing were found to
have breached their lock-up undertakings to the Company
under the Placing by pledging their shares to two lenders
as security for loans. An interlocutory injunction order
(the “Injunction Order”) was obtained by the Company
from the High Court of Hong Kong (the “Court”) on 27
May 2016, which was subsequently continued by a court
order given on 3 June 2016, restraining the three placees
from breaching the lock-up undertakings by, among other
things, directly or indirectly selling, mortgaging, charging,
pledging, hypothecating, lending, granting or selling any
option, warrant, contract or right to purchase, transferring,
disposing of, creating any right over, or agreeing or offering
to do any of the aforesaid in relation to the 1,667 million
shares allotted and issued to them under the Placing until
trial or further order. Further details of the court orders
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated
29 May 2016 and 7 June 2016. The two lenders then took
out applications in the Court in June 2016 and July 2016
respectively seeking declarations that they are beneficially
entitled to the shares being the subject matter of the
Injunction Order and later for variation of the Injunction
Order to the effect that those shares shall no longer be the
subject matter of the Injunction Order. The three placees
disputed the contention that the lenders are the beneficial
owners of the shares and legal proceedings regarding
the ownership of those shares were brought in foreign
On 12 June 2017, the Court ordered that
one of the lenders’ (the “2nd Third Party”) applications be
adjourned pending the decision of the legal proceedings
in foreign jurisdiction and the other lender’s application be
dismissed with costs to the Company. The lock-up period
has already expired in April 2018 and the Injunction Order
has been formally discharged by an Order dated 1 February
2019. As at the date of this report, the litigation is still
in progress against the three placees for their breach of
the lock-up undertakings. On 6 July 2020, the Company
received a letter from the 2nd Third Party indicating its
intention to restore the hearing for its applications. The
2nd Third Party had also communicated its intention to the
Court. Up to the date of this report, the Company has not
received the 2nd Third Party’s application to restore the
hearing.

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019/20

39.

—~
—

= %

r
i

>

AmREAEE

MRZB-RFOA ARAREE—
AR EREBI L ZEEWEZ G

R—IBEE - A% 5K AR &E
£725,000,000,0000% ¥ % 15 ([ & =

B REBEEHZE ZIEHR - BHK
e ANRIARA A WIRBEEESA

BROTREZEZBROBXBRIRAZE
P £ Be 2 Ko 3 77 B B AR RT2418 A 2 25
s

RZE—RFRA ZHBREFHEZ
FEAFEREAMEERAERES
ZRNDIERERZERR BERE
EREEFETITAMARARMELE 2R E
%%°%:$—ﬁ¢£ﬂ:+t5'$
REAIEMEEE S AR (AR &
BB S((RH<] EEER
ZE-ARNFEXNAZAERHZER®S
) REIZ=FAREATITERER
ERAFETBREEXBEEHRE
e I IR = U v I = S an
EORBERERBELESEEFEELER
% 1721,667,000,000% % 15 - =k #%
SHESRZER D 2 M ERE -
RBREE  ERNEERE R EW
HRZEROZENSIBDEXNEZNE
ﬁiﬂ&ﬂ?lﬁ BEEHRHMNE—F
ELABI - Eﬁ%\Zi’E FEBEHER
ﬁé$’/}ﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁ —XNFRA=t+AN
HNZFT— /\E/\HtEIZ“i ° 5%
MABERAEBRDRRZZT—XRNFAN
AERZZ—RELtARERBBEES
BRERTERSHMIRNDCEREEA
fizﬁﬁEF' BEREH < BEZERD

BXEHSRE - Z=BEEAR
LT%tm)\Z%Z,Z%H%ﬁZ?EﬁTi%ﬁ/\Z
TR WREIINEEEERE ABEZ
ERMDBEEEZEERF - RZT—

TFERNATZR  EEmSEER &
ERAN(E_RE=ZF)zRFHE

FRBIRNEAERE ZZERFHEHR
ﬁ’ﬁjj FERAZBBRHED - AR

RAERRE - ZEHENR TN
FOAER MESHSEARR-Z

—hi:ﬂ—ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%% F
AIREBH - ZFRDERE

%%ﬁﬁz%@MAﬁﬂomfgi
ZFLARNA  AREREIE=—RE=
T2 RPBEBEEMERLRE

Bile E-RFE=FNMEREARKE
WEFE - HEARREDE  AQRER
WHE -—RZE=-FREZIRERE

B



39.

40.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

Litigation (continued)

(2) On 20 August 2013, the Company entered into the 2013
placing agreement (“2013 Placing Agreement”) with the
placing agent. Pursuant to the 2013 Placing Agreement, the
placing notes carry interest at 5% per annum and are to be
redeemed on the seventh anniversary from the respective
issue dates of the placing notes.

One creditor had taken legal actions against the Company
to recover the alleged outstanding debts under the placing
notes. The alleged debts amount includes the principal of
HK$10,000,000 and outstanding interests of approximately
HK$1,264,000. The placing agent was added as the 2nd
Defendant (“2nd Defendant”) in the Amended Statement
of Claim by the plaintiff on 16th March 2020. On 10th July
2020, the Company filed and served its Amended Defence
and was served the plaintiff's reply. Up to the date of this
report, the Company has not been served with the defence
of the 2nd Defendant. This action is still in progress and
the Company intends to defend this matter vigorously.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other material litigation
expected to result in a significant adverse effect on the
financial position of the Group, either collectively or
individually. Management believes that adequate provisions
have been made in respect of such litigation.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 22 August 2011, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”) which will expire on 21 August
2021. The primary purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
provide incentives or reward to the eligible persons for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests
of, the Group. Under the Share Option Scheme and subject to its
terms and conditions, the Board may at its discretion offer to any
eligible employee, director, consultant, agent, supplier, customer
or contractor of the Group options to subscribe for shares in the
Company. Such offer shall be opened for acceptance on a day
specified in the letter of grant which shall be no longer than 30
days from the date of the letter of grant. The share options shall
be deemed to have been granted and accepted and taken effect
when the duplicate letter of grant is signed by the eligible person
and returned to the Company together with a remittance in favour
of the Company of HK$1 for each acceptance of grant of the share
options.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The exercise price is determined by the Directors, which shall be
at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares on the
date of offer, (ii) the average closing price of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of offer, and
(i) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding vested or unvested options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue from time to
time (the “Overriding Limit").

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes shall not exceed in aggregate
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of
shareholders’ approval of the Share Option Scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme Mandate Limit”). Subject to the Overriding Limit,
the Company may refresh the Share Option Scheme Mandate Limit
by ordinary resolution of the shareholders in general meeting,
provided that the Share Option Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed
shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares as at
the date of shareholders’ approval of the refreshment.

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be issued) in respect
of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes to any eligible person in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of
the Company in issue, unless a shareholders’ approval has been
obtained.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Any grant of share options to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective
associates must be approved by the independent non-executive
directors. Where share options are proposed to be granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director,
or any of their respective associates, and the grant would result in
the aggregate of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted or to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes to such person in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of offer of the relevant share options to
(i) represent in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number of issued
shares for the time being; and (i) have an aggregate value, based
on the closing price of the shares, in excess of HK$5,000,000, the
proposed grant shall be subject to the approval of the shareholders
in general meeting with the connected persons abstaining from

voting in favour.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme during such period as may be determined
by the Board (which shall not be more than 10 years commencing
on the date on which the share option is granted and accepted).
Unless otherwise determined by the Board, there is no minimum
period for which a share option must be held before it can be
exercised. Subject to early termination by the Company in general
meeting or the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on its date of

adoption.
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40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 40. ﬂﬁﬂﬁ%f"rJ (&)
No share options were granted under the share option scheme HE-_T-_TFLR-_T—NF=A=+—H
during the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. The following LEFEMEREBRETIIREBERE -T
table disclose details of the Company’s share options held by AP EEE_T-NEF-_A=-1+T—HILFE
Directors and employees and movements in the share options EEZNEEMBAZALRAERERIREE
granted under the Share Option Scheme, for the year ended 31 RS CBREZSFE:
March 2019.
Outstanding at
Exercise 31 March 2019
price per Outstanding at  Lapsed during  and 31 March
Grantee Date of grant share  Exercisable period 1 April 2018 the year 2020
R-ZB-NF
ZA=t+-H
RZB-N\F R-Z-2E
MA—-B =ZA=t-H
RREA RiHAH BRiTEE FTEHH R 1T R ERAR i K17
HKS
BT
Directors
Bz
Chu Wei Ning 27 June 2016 0.239 27 June 2016-26 June 2018 300,000,000 (300,000,000) —
RNEE ZE-RER —E-R"FERAZttHE
AZ++A ZE-N\FRAZt+H
Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony 27 June 2016 0.239 27 June 2016-26 June 2018 200,000,000 (200,000,000) —
BikR ZE-RER —E-R"FERAZttHE
AZ++A ZE-N\FRAZt+H
Employees 27 June 2016 0.239 27 June 2016-26 June 2018 200,500,000 (200,500,000) —
(== ZE-RER —E-R"FERAZttHE
AZ++A ZE-N\FRAZt+H
700,500,000 (700,500,000) —
Exercisable at the end of the year -
RELATR
Weighted average contractual life N/A
METFHEHEH TER
Weighted average exercise price 0.239 0.239 —
MEFHTEE
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 40. BRESHE(E)
The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is estimated FIRHEUARAERE  BREN R TFTERK
at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model HEIA DM AT EEE A (TR )
(the "Model”), taking into account the terms and conditions upon et WEEEE L BERE Z G REH -
which the options were granted. Details of the fair values of share EHABRERBRLBHUZENEET 2 AT
options determined at the date of grant using the Model with BEREREERBRIFEOT:
significant variables and assumptions are as follows:
Date of share
options grant
27 June 2016
BRERLBH
ZE-XREF
ANAZttH
Exercise price (HK$) TEBCET) 0.239
Dividend vyield % B4 = 0%
Expected volatility 8 2K 18 52.61%-63.90%

Risk-free interest rate
Expected life of option (year)
Closing share price at grant date (HK$)

The expected volatility, which is based on the approximate
historical volatility of closing prices of the share of the Company
in the past one year immediately before the date of grant, reflects
the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future
trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. The
risk-free interest rate represents the yields to maturity of respective
Hong Kong Exchange Fund Note as at the share options grant
date. The expected life of the options are based on the historical
data and are not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that

may OocCcCur.

No other features of options grant were incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

TE AR I A O ()
BEHABZ I h W TECET)

0.248%-0.292%
0.79-1.01
0.224

TAER R R RARFRON EERH A HA
BE—FZRTEROELKBITE R
FEELRBIFERRKBEZBRE  RLRE
RER - BRBRAMETEXNBERERLARE
BHONEESES 2 BIHKmE - BEBRE
BREBTDERE L BURMEE - ARV R
MREHE 2T AR -

BB AT (R AR R R AR 2 R4
yl& o
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 15 January 2018 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company has
adopted the share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”), in
which the employees selected by the Board for participation in the
Share Award Scheme (the “Selected Employee(s)”) will be entitled
to participate and pursuant to which awards will be satisfied by (i)
new shares to be allotted and issued to the trustee appointed by
the Company for the purpose of the trust, and initially, Bank of
Communications Trustee Limited (the “Trustee”) under a General
Mandate or Specific Mandate, or (i) existing shares to be acquired
by the Trustee from the market, the costs of which will be borne
by the Company, and the shares of which will be held on trust by
the Trustee for the Selected Employees before vesting.

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are (i) to recognise
the contributions by certain employees and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group; and (ii) to attract suitable personnel
for further development of the Group.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
Board in accordance with the scheme rules, the Share Award
Scheme shall be valid and effective for 10 years from the Adoption
Date.

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the administration of
the Board and the Trustee in accordance with the scheme rules
and the trust deed dated 15 January 2018 entered into between
the Company and the Trustee (the “Trust Deed”). The Trustee shall
hold the funds and properties held under the trust and managed
by the Trustee for the benefit of the employees (other than the
excluded employees) (the “Trust Fund”) in accordance with the
terms of the Trust Deed.

During the term of the Share Award Scheme, the Board may,
from time to time, at its absolute discretion select any employee
(other than any excluded employee) to be a Selected Employee and
grant an award to such Selected Employee at no consideration in
accordance with the scheme rules. No award shall be granted by
the Board to Selected Employees and no instructions to acquire
any shares shall be given by the Board to the Trustee pursuant to
the scheme rules where dealings in the shares are prohibited under
any code or requirement of the Listing Rules and all applicable
laws from time to time.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Where any grant of awarded shares is proposed to be made to
any Selected Employee who is a director (including an independent
non-executive director), such grant must first be approved by all
the members of the Remuneration Committee, or in the case
where the grant is proposed to be made to any member of the
remuneration committee of the Company, by all of the other
members of the remuneration committee of the Company.

In the event that the grant of an award to any connected person of
the Company constitutes a connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Company shall comply
with the applicable reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements.

Subject to the scheme rules, the Board shall determine from time
to time such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for an award
to be vested. Prior to the vesting date, any award made hereunder
shall be personal to the Selected Employee to whom it is made
and shall not be assignable and no Selected Employee shall in
any way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any
interest in favour of any other person over or in relation to the
awarded shares referable to him/her pursuant to such award.

In the event that prior to or on the vesting date, a Selected
Employee is found to be an excluded employee or is deemed
to cease to be an employee, the relevant award made to such
Selected Employee shall automatically lapse forthwith and the
relevant awarded shares shall not vest on the relevant vesting date
but shall remain part of the Trust Fund.

In the event that prior to or on the vesting date, a Selected
Employee dies or retires by agreement with a member of the
Group, all the awarded shares of the relevant Selected Employee
shall be deemed to be vested on the day immediately prior to his/
her death or the day immediately prior to his/her retirement with
the relevant member of the Group.

The Board may at its discretion, with or without further conditions,
grant additional shares or cash award out of the Trust Fund
representing all or part of the income or distributions (including
but not limited to cash income or dividends, cash income or net
proceeds of sale of non-cash and non-scrip distribution, bonus
shares and scrip dividends) declared by the Company or derived
from such awarded shares during the period from the date of
award to the vesting date to a Selected Employee upon the vesting
of any awarded shares. Subject to such discretion of the Board, a
Selected Employee shall not have any interest or rights (including
the right to receive dividends) in the awarded shares prior to the
vesting date.

41.

B 17 52 B =t & (48)

WEBERNTAIAREF(BEBILIIENTE
FIZEETRERBEMEZDRD  BAK
HABARSHFINZES2BREB 28L&
FEREANTAARAFHEEGZKER
HZBERT  MAESARRFMEZEGHR
BHEMKE ZHEE -

WAARBZEMBEALRHEZERRE £
THRAUETTWATERARR ZBERS » &
NREEETERR®R RERBILIRRIE
BE ©

RBEFSHRA EFZTRIHEELRERE
BeAREBRERKEHAR -REBA
HA - BUER ZEMRBEESIEL 2K
BEEEBEAMBATGEE  MEETE
EMAEAEMEAREMEMALIRE &
AHE ®EE ER RBRREAHER
BERzZEBENHALREERAEIIER
Ef#E R

WREBEMAIRER  KETEEWER
RBRIMEERBRERTHREER  MBBK
EEEEH EURBEIEES AN A
FHEBENINERERASNBETERE -
BNREXRES2Z A7 -

HAEBEBARER  EREEE S
SAKEKEARGREN  EBNEETE
B 2 B IRID 48 HOAR AR B K 5 A
— B B R A AR E MK A2 RRAA
—A®RE -

RERMEBROBBER  EFGrBBERE
M A EINE - FHREZBERT - B
AESRAKLETEERHBIBENARS
RE MABEIRORRESRBHAERNE
REOPNEZREANPREARRMEIRRA
BRBRDTESE 22y ALK
(BRERETRRRSBWARKRE  HEFRS
FOEABR BN IR 2H & WA G RIEF
B AMBEORRERD) -  EERSHER
EZHBT KETRERGEAHATE
A 52 ) i ) 75 E o] 4 2 SR A (8 4 W
B B2 HERM) -

FEENRIEERAERAR 201920 FERS 197



Nofes to the Conso|ic|c:teo| Financial Statements (continued)

an\ (=] E\jﬁ%#&% Bﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H ==

41.

198

1 (&)

ZEF=A=+—RLFE

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

A Selected Employee shall have no rights in the cash in the
Trust Fund which has not been applied in the acquisition of any
shares (the “Residual Cash”) or shares or such other Trust Fund or
properties held by the Trustee.

No instructions shall be given by a Selected Employee (including
without limitation to voting rights) to the Trustee in respect of
the awarded shares that have not been vested, and such other
properties in the Trust Fund managed by the Trustee. The Trustee
shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any shares held
under the Trust.

The Board shall not make any further grant of awards which will
result in the nominal value of the shares awarded by the Board
under the Share Award Scheme exceeding 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. The maximum number
of shares which may be awarded to a Selected Employee under
the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

The Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the
tenth (10th) anniversary date of the Adoption Date; and (ii) such
date of early termination as determined by the Board, provided
that such termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any
Selected Employee under the Share Award Scheme.

On 26 January 2018, the Board has resolved to award an
aggregate of 1,030,540,000 awarded shares to 38 Selected
Employees under the Share Award Scheme, of which, (i)
126,840,000 awarded shares will be awarded to 29 independent
Selected Employees (“Independent Selected Employees”) by way
of issue and allotment of new shares pursuant to the general
mandate; and (ii) 903,700,000 connected awarded shares will
be awarded to 9 Connected Selected Employees (“Connected
Selected Employees”) by way of issue and allotment of new shares
pursuant to the specific mandate.

The 1,550,000 pre adjusted shares awarded to an Independent

Selected Employees, had been forfeited following his resignation
during the vesting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

The following table disclose details of awarded shares granted by

the Company pursuant to the Share Award Scheme for the years

ended 31 March 2019 and 2020.

R MR RRMEGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

4. BORBTEE)
TREBARARBE-_ZT—NFR_T=
TE=ZA=1T—HALFERBERHEBE
Bz RERDEFE -

Number of Awarded Shares

REROHAE
At
At Adjustment 31 March 2019
Fair value 1 April  due to Share and
Grant date per share  Vesting date 2018 Consolidation* Granted Vested 31 March 2020
R=B-n%
=A=+-H
R
RZZ-N\F R & i 33
BiAH BRAVE HBEAH mA-B SIBzAB it %8 =A=t-H
HKS
BT
2 February 2018 0.161 3 April 2018 126,840,000 (114,156,000) — (12,529,000 155,000
“Z-A\f¥-RAZH “Z-\¥MA=H
8 October 2018 0.580 15 October 2018 — — 90,290,000* (90,290,000) —
—Z-\£+A/\B “Z-\£t+A+hA
Total 126,840,000 (114,156,000) 90,290,000 (102,819,000) 155,000
st
Note: Mt 51

The fair value of the award shares was calculated based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares at the respective grant date.

126,840,000 awarded shares have been granted to 29 Independent
Selected Employees on 2 February 2018, of which 108,300,000 pre
adjusted awarded shares to 5 Independent Selected Employees are
subject to lock-up period. The vesting period is from 2 February
2018 to 3 April 2018. The awarded shares will become vested to
the Independent Selected Employees if the Independent Selected
Employees remain as employees of the Group as on 3 April 2018.

# Following the Share Consideration on 3 August 2018, the
number of outstanding Award Shares to Independent Selected
Employee was adjusted from 126,840,000 to 12,684,000 and
902,900,000 to 90,290,000 respectively.

90,290,000 awarded shares have been granted to 8 Connected
Selected Employees on 8 October 2018, of which 90,240,000
awarded shares to 6 Connected Selected Employees are subject to
lock-up period. All the awarded shares is vested to the Connected
Selected Employees upon the allotment and issue of the awarded
shares.

REBRNHDZAFEDRRBARRRODRAEEE
HAMZKTERE -

126,840,000k R HER T —NF-A=
ARTOEBUKLETRE  HP R TF5HBL
&% F B 8 2108,300,000 % 3 ZE AT 82 B % 1 =
ZEHRY - FESHAZT - N\E_A-HE_
Z-N\FHAZH - WBYULETRERER T —
NFUNA=BNAASEZEE  MZSHEE
BNEFETES -

# ZER_ZE-—N\FNAZHETZERMNE
Brig  BETBUKRTRERBZREMNE
B A% 1D 8B 9 Bl 5126,840,0000% 33 & =
12,684,000/% } £902,900,0000% 5 & =
90,290,000 °

R=—ZZ—N\%+A/\H * 90,290,0000% 4% Bh §% 15
ERTFSEHBELETREE PR TeREE
4% 3% 7F [E B #990,240,000 4% 52 B A% 1) 52 2% & B
Rl - TERBERGONEERETERRGE
BETHELRTERE -
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the fair value of the
awarded shares granted was approximately HK$52,368,000
and the Group recognised share-based payments expenses of
approximately HK$52,368,000. 12,684,000 Awarded Share are
vested to the Independent Selected Employees and 90,290,000
Awarded Share are vested to the Connected Selected Employees
during the year ended 31 March 2019. Awarded Shares that are
not vested and/or are forfeited in accordance with the terms of
the Share Award Scheme are held by the Trustee to be applied
towards future awards in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Award Scheme.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 29 March 2019, the Company and KK Culture Holdings
Limited, Team Pride Limited, Mr. Sui Chok Lee and Silver Golden
Limited (collectively referred to as the “Vendors”) entered into
several share purchase agreements (the “Agreements”) pursuant to
which the Vendors conditionally agreed to sell and the Company
conditionally agreed to purchase the sale equity interests,
representing directly and indirectly the entire issued share capital
of Hong Kong Made (Media) Limited (“Hong Kong Made"”) and
Ample Success Limited (“Ample Success”) (collectively, the “Target
Companies”), for an aggregate consideration of HK$50,000,000
(the “Consideration”), which shall be satisfied by the allotment and
issue of the consideration shares (the “Consideration Shares”) in
tranches at the issue price of HK$0.200 per share of the Company
(the “Share”) to the Vendors or their respective nominees in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Agreements.

On 6 June 2019 (the “Completion Date”), the acquisition was
completed and accordingly the Group’s control over the Target
Companies was obtained on that date. The purpose of the
acquisition is to further strengthen the Group’s business related to
media sharing and advertising platforms and expand the Group's
market coverage in the PRC media business.

Pursuant to the Agreements and the supplemental agreement
signed on 14 August 2020, the consideration will be satisfied
by the issuance of shares of the Company in tranches (the
"Consideration Shares”) in the following manner:

(i) the Company shall pay the Vendors HK$16,666,665 (the
“First Tranche Consideration”), representing one third of the
Consideration, by the allotment and issue of 83,333,325
Shares (the
Vendors or their respective nominees on Completion Date;

“First Tranche Consideration Shares”) to the

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019/20

41.

42,

B0 SR Bt &8I (48)
HE-Z-NF=-A=1+—HLEE BE
i HE B AR 1 2 A F (A4 552,368,000 7T -
BASEBAUBROAER ZARAINA
52,368,000 T - REE-T—hAhF=A=
+—BIEEE - 12,684,0000% £ B B% () 57 /B
F 98 3 4% 2 TF 1B B 5% 90,290,0004% £2 B A% 19
E*%%F%@i& BERE - RIERMGEEE
ZEFABRER HUESKR T ERRNHET
TEARE  AREBERGZEFEZGXAR

WEKREAR
RZZE—NAF=ZA=Z+hB  ARFREKKX
L BB BR A7) ~ Team Pride Limited & #F
F| % 4 K Silver Golden Limited (£E /[ & A1)
AuZhBERRZ(ZERED Bt B
FERHEREBELEMARRBRHEREREE
FEERZ ZSEDERELRBEEEERSEB
%«%T’F(ﬁﬁ@)*ﬁﬁﬁ AIEAZREDREBNAE
AR (N N(FHEBEIEZARDH2HEE
TTHXZJS + #8(8 450,000,000 7T (R E]) -
REBEBRBEZERENERREHES
B ADNT R (TR 1D ]) 0.2008 T K B 1TE 5
BRERETRERD (REROD FTES
FEHZAEHNRBEANFXNTFUEZA -

RZZB-NERARB(RAHD  KEE
g At AEERZARGHERARN
EHIE e 2HREBEEE - FEERALARED
BRAZLESFEOMBER TERASE
ERFEKEEBNTSEEEER -

BEZEBHEIR-_F_ZFNATWAEE
FENERHE  RESEERATHASH
BIARRA R (TRERD])

() AABEREKBHREFIREZAE
EI’MJQ%/\ﬁﬂﬁ‘&?ﬁ‘ﬁ%,ﬁajzﬂiHﬁfﬁ
TE—HRERGB]D  URES IS
16,666,6658 7T ([E—#RE ] - K%
REMN=92—:



42,

*

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
e IR RMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

the Company shall pay the Vendors HK$16,666,667 (the
“Second Tranche Consideration”), representing one third of
the Consideration, by the allotment and issue of 83,333,335
Shares (the “Second Tranche Consideration Shares”) to the
Vendors or their respective nominees on or before 15 July
2022, subject to Hong Kong Made and Guangzhou Shengyu
Golden Line Advertising Company Limited* (& M % /8 & 4%
EEABMR AR ("Guangzhou Shengyu”), having executed
an agreement (in form and substance satisfactory to the
Company) to extend the term of the contract entered into
between Hong Kong Made and Guangzhou Shengyu dated
24 June 2016 (as amended and supplemented from time to
time) in relation to the appointment of Hong Kong Made
as an exclusive advertising agent in connection with the
advertising agency services and related production services
for the Guangzhou-Shenzhen China Railway High-speed
Harmony Series trains* (JE R4 z&5%) (the “Hong Kong
Made Contract”) for three years to 30 June 2023 (the
“Second Tranche Consideration Shares Condition”);

the Company shall pay the Vendors HK$16,666,668 (the
“Third Tranche Consideration”), representing one third of
the Consideration, by the allotment and issue of 83,333,340
Shares (the “Third Tranche Consideration Shares”) to the
Vendors or their respective nominees on or before 15 July
2023, subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions
(the “Third Tranche Consideration Shares Conditions”), five
business days after the date on which the Third Tranche
Consideration Shares Conditions are fulfilled:

(a) Hong Kong Made and Guangzhou Shengyu having
executed an agreement (in form and substance
satisfactory to the Company) to further extend the
term of the Hong Kong Made Contract for two years
to 30 June 2025; and

For identification purpose only
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(i) (continued)

(b)  Ample Success and Guangzhou Shengyu having
executed an agreement (in form and substance
satisfactory to the Company) to further extend the
term of the contract entered into between Ample
Success and Guangzhou Shengyu dated 27 April
2016 (as amended and supplemented from time to
time) in relation to the appointment of Apple Success
as an exclusive advertising agent in connection
with the advertising agency services and related
production services for the Guangzhou-Shenzhen
China Railway High-speed Harmony Series trains* (&
AR FE 9F) for two years to 30 March 2024.

In the event that the Second Tranche Consideration Shares
Condition is not satisfied, the Consideration shall be adjusted to
HK$16,666,665 and no Second Tranche Consideration Shares or
Third Tranche Consideration Shares shall be allotted and issued to
the Vendors or their respective nominees.

In the event that the Second Tranche Consideration Shares
Condition is satisfied but any or all of the Third Tranche
Consideration Shares Conditions are not satisfied, the
Consideration shall be adjusted to HK$33,333,332 and no Third
Tranche Consideration Shares shall be allotted and issued to the

Vendors or their respective nominees.

The First Tranche Consideration Shares have been duly issued
and allotted to the Vendors on Completion Date. Details of the
acquisition were set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 29 March 2019, 6 June 2019 and 14 August 2020,

respectively.

This acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase
method. The amount of goodwill arising as a result of the
acquisition was approximately HK$57,952,000.

For identification purpose only

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019/20

42,

*

WEKHE AR (&)
(iii) (%)

(by WBIMREMEEELHZFER
RN ERRBEH) BIE]
HEMNBER-_Z—XNFNA=
TEARZEENABRESER
BREBERIRMES 2 &
HERERSRAERERBTET
AR (B REET R ) & E
BEEEMFEFE_ZT_NF=A
=+H-

WE ZHRERDGEREER  MRER
JH 2£16,666,6658 T BN gEEHHER
AEMREBABRERETE_MHRERMHKE
“HRERS -

MEZHREBROIGHEENX  HEREE
BE=MRERDIGEREENL  NRES
JEEE33,333,3328 0 EAGREHARES
BEMREARERETE=SRERND -

F-HREROMERTHAMAZEBEITRA
BYES - AHARBENFBIRAARABH
PRB_Z—NhF=ZA=-+hIB  —ZZT—NF
NARBEZZZZFNATMBEHAEAN -

TEWERABEEIAR KBELNHE
& # R %957,952,0008 7T -

ZHH R



42,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRMEGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Details of net liabilities acquired and goodwill arising on the

2. WREHEAR(E)

PrigEFaEREAKREMEE 2AEFIBW

acquisition were as follows: Ik
HK$'000
FET
Net liabilities acquired: B EaE:
Intangible asset mEEE 29,477
Other receivables H fth W BR 18 1,273
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRES 107
Other payables E b ARIE (39,876)
Other borrowings H e (8,800)
(17,819)
Goodwill arising on acquisition: WEMEE2EE:
Purchase consideration settled by new shares of the Company WAARFRHEENEERE
(Note) (Kt 5t) 40,133
Less: Net liabilities acquired W T F A E 17,819
Goodwill (Note 25) & (W it 25) 57,952
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: EWEmELEZBEERAFE:
Bank balances and cash acquired Tl B R 1T R IR & 107
The purchase consideration represented the following breakdown: BEREITWT:
HK$'000
FET
First Tranche Consideration shares issued on Completion Date RERBEHETHE - HRERND 14,333
Second Tranche Consideration shares issued upon the fulfillment % Z#tRER M IEHEEREBITHE
of Second Tranche Consideration Shares Condition “HRERS 12,900
Third Tranche Consideration shares issued upon the fulfillment FHRERDEHEEXNEZETNE
of Second Tranche Consideration Shares Condition “HREKRMD 12,900
40,133
HEENRRERAERAR 201920 FERE 203
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Note: (continued)

The fair values of the Second Trance Consideration Shares and Third
Tranche Consideration shares was reference to the valuation report
issued by Flagship Appraisals, an independent valuer not connected to
the Group at the Completion Date.

The consideration shares for the acquisition of the Target
Companies, 250,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company with par
value of HK$0.10 each were issued/will be issue. The fair value
of the ordinary shares of the Company, determined using the
published price available at the date of the completion, amounted
to HK$40,133,000.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$705,780 have
been excluded from the consideration transferred and have
been recognised as an expense in the current year, within the
administrative expense line item in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of the Target Companies because
the cost of the combination included a control premium. In
addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively
included amounts in relation to the benefits of expected synergies,
revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce of Target Companies. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition
criteria for identifiable intangible assets. In addition, the financial
results of Target Companies will be consolidated into the financial
results of the Company. Therefore, the Group’s income sources
can be broadened and its financial performance can be enhanced

in the long run.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

Included in loss for the year is HK$6,274,000 attributable to the
additional business generated by the Target Companies. Revenue
for the year includes HK$33,973,000 generated from the Target
Companies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2019, revenue
for the year of the Group would have been approximately
HK$56,097,000 and loss for the year of the Group would have
been approximately HK$119,814,000. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication
of revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually
would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed
on 1 April 2019, nor is it intended to be a projection of future

results.

In determining the “pro-forma” revenue and loss of the Group
had the Target Companies been acquired at the beginning of the
current year, the Directors have:

o calculated amortisation of the other intangible asset
acquired on the basis of the fair values arising in the initial
accounting for the business combination rather than the
carrying amounts recognised in the pre-acquisition financial
statements; and

o determined borrowing costs based on the funding levels,
credit ratings and debt/equity position of the Group after
the business combination.

42, WEMEBAR(E)
HWEBEBEER-_E—NFHA—AEMN "
REBRARFEZ U A A 456,097,000/ 7T
RASBEHAFEBERARL9,814,000%
T BEAHMERFAZA T —ERTR
WEEBMR-_E—AFOA—BEXASE
BEBRZBRARGCEEE  TTRIERBKRRE
EEZEA -

REERXEBRARAENEBERIT A
SENEZS I hakBEK  EF:

. EREBAHNBARBELENAY
BE(MIER BRI MR ERN KR
B)RFEMBEAMETLEENHH:
4

. ERAEERER A HRNESKFE
FEEFERREY/ BaRAEEEE
B
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43.

206

DECONSOLIDATION OF A SUBSIDIARY 43. MEBLARKRLEGEAR
On 3 February 2020, a director who was appointed by the Group RZZEZZTF-_A=H " —REHAEELFE
as a director of We Fly, has resigned as a director of We Fly, RERESZES BFEEREZZH B
accordingly, the Directors resolved that the Group no longer had It BEERARNEETEEREEER Y
the power to govern the financial and operating policies of We Fly, BREERK  BEEARYERMOES#Z
and the control over We Fly could no longer meet the definition ETBEREEENGEREERFI0RAFSHY
of control in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements on BHEREXZEHEEE 2 _ZT_TF_HA
that date and the financial statements of We Fly have been EE(F%%ﬁ%*AAEEEHHJ)tﬁﬂE’UETf%ﬁﬁ
deconsolidated from the financial statements of the Company RIEERARRNBBEREREEA
since 3 February 2020 (the “Deconsolidation Date”).
Due to the non-cooperation of the management of We Fly, the HREREEETTRES  BEEEFDHM
Directors were unable to access the books and records of We Fly FTEAEERITBES2 NBRIEE BRI
since the Deconsolidation Date, despite the fact that the Directors FAARBHURESZTEZEHNERZEKES
have taken all reasonable steps and have used their best endeavors REisk o
to resolve the matter.
Analysis of assets and liabilities of We Fly as at the Deconsolidation REIEGEAEAEBERZEERAEIT
Date:

HK$'000

FrET

Plant and equipment [ 5 K 7% s 275
Intangible assets BVEE 10
Goodwill kS 185,285
Deferred tax assets EIERIBEE 2,524
Trade and other receivables EWE S Kk HhBRIE 3,869
Bank balances and cash RITEBERS 2,153
Amount due to group company FER & B ARIKIB (1,150)
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 Rk E A BRIE (22,776)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFREEE (30)
Net assets FEE 170,160
Loss on deconsolidation of We Fly: ERALGZEARZESR:
Net assets deconsolidated BIESREARZFEE 170,160
Amount due from We Fly JE U2 B 7R 3R T8 1,150
Non-controlling interest TR A= 4,127
Loss on deconsolidation WIitEa AR ZEE 175,437
Net cash outflow arising on the deconsolidation: HKILZEAREEZRSRBFHE:
Bank balances and cash of We Fly ERzRITEHRER S 2,153
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRMEGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

Disposal of China Baoli Innovation Technologies Limited (“CB
Innovation”)

On 18 March 2020, the Group disposed of its 100% equity
interests of CB Innovation, at a consideration of HK$100,000 to
an independent third party. The net liabilities of CB Innovation at
the date of disposal were as follows:

44,

HEME AT
HETEENAFNEERARA(TEDAH]D

RZTZZFTF=HA+/\8 A& E 100,000
BLZRE M—BBUE=-FHEERE
NeFz2HRAER - NEHERE  BS
Bl¥iz FBaEmT:

HK$'000
FrET
Amount due to group company FET SR B AR KRIE (36,206)
Trade and other payables FERT 8 5 &k H b BRIE (207,660)
Net liabilities disposed of HEFAE (243,866)
Gain on disposal of CB Innovation: HEZEHAIFT 2 W&
Consideration received 2R (E 100
Net liabilities disposed of HEFaR 243,866
Amount due from CB Innovation FEUE 7 B ¥ 38 (36,206)
Gain on disposal HE 2K a 207,760
Net cash inflow arising on disposal of CB HEBHAFEEZRSRARE:
Innovation:
Cash consideration RERE 100
Consideration received: 2R (E :
Cash received [REe kA 100

DEEMED DISPOSAL OF EQUITY INTEREST OF A
SUBSIDIARY WITHOUT LOSING CONTROL

On 13 May 2019, Allied Jumbo Investments Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, transferred the entire equity
interest of Baoli Youta (Shanghai) Communication Technology
Company Limited (“Shanghai Baoli Youta”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company to China Baoli Assets Management
Limited, a non wholly-owned subsidiary due to internal
reorganisation with HK$Nil consideration. Upon the completion of
the transfer, the Group’s equity interest in Shanghai Baoli Youta
decrease from 100% to 51%. The deemed disposed of equity
transaction with non-controlling interest that do not result in a
loss of control over the subsidiary. The difference between the
consideration and the carrying value of net liabilities amounting
to approximately HK$361,000 was recognised in equity as
other reserve and a decrease of approximately HK$361,000 was

recognised in the non-controlling interests.

45,

1R 1 £ Y B 2 B IR R T A K KR B

R-ZZE-NERA+T=0 BHRETATE
HeARARZEMBARMHBKIEEBR AR
BENES(EB)BAMBEERAR(LEE
ENEE] ARFTNEZENBRAR)KNE
BREEETHFEENEEEEAERAA (R
FEREMBAR) REAZTET - REAE
EE O AEERLESBENEENRERI00%
A ES1% o B3R R A = 00 AR DB R
RS EEHK KL ZM B QRO EHI 4 -
REEFAEREMEZHAZETEL361,000/4
TRBREFHIAAEMERE R IEERRE
& PR R R 2 #9361,00078 7T °
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46.

208

1 (&)

ZEF=A=+—RLFE

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
During the year ended 31 March 2019,
management fee expenses of approximately HK$2,006,000 had
been paid to Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings Limited (“Great
Wall”), a company in which two directors of the Company had

rental and building

material interest. One of the directors of the Company ceased his
interest in Great Wall since 23 November 2017.

Apart from the above mentioned, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company’s
holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director or a connected entity of a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 47. MEFBRELABZHEK
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRHAMAEERETHMELABEBELH
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash (BREReRFBEED) BEBIAEL
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for BEEREREXAREEREBNAEE
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be classified in ZiFEReRERTIAREZTD 2EE -
the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows from financing
activities.
Trade and Interest payable
other payables — (Included in Bank and
amounts due  trade and other other
to directors payables) borrowings Total
EREH K FE 15 F] &
HpiRlE — GIAERNES RITR
e E F5IE K H A BRIE) HmfEE mE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
(Note 30) (Note 30) (Note 34)
(7 #30) (K7 &30) (W7 &t34)
At 1 April 2018 RZZE—-N\FWHA—H 18,175 8,680 227,720 254,575
Changes from cash flows: ReREZEE:
Advance from directors EEERN 26,903 — — 26,903
Bank and other borrowings raised ~ FTIERIT R EMEE - - 20,528 20,528
Repayment of bank and EBERTRAMBEER
other borrowings - - (9,144) (9,144)
Interest paid 2R - - (2,034) (2,034)
26,903 — 9,350 36,253
Non-cash change: FEREEEH:
Finance costs recognised (Note 11) B HERBE R A (M iF11) — 15,070 10,398 25,468
Foreign exchange translation HMERE - (2) (8,678) (8,680)
— 15,068 1,720 16,788
At 31 March 2019 RZZE—-hAF=A=+—H 45,078 23,748 238,790 307,616
REE D RBERERAR  2019/20 £ 209
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47. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 47. METHFELEABZHERE)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued)
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRFLAEERETSTELAGBZE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash (BREReRIFRSER BRESTHAESE
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for BEEREMEBIARKBEREBNAE
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be classified in ZiEEReRERTIABRE T 2BE -
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows from financing
activities.
Trade and
other payables — Interest payable
amounts due (included in Bank and Licenses
to shareholders  trade and other other Lease  Convertible fees
and directors payables)  borrowings liabilities loan payables Total
ENERR
HitfRE — ERFE
ERBRRK (FIAEMNES BOR FE 4
EERE REMER) HitfE & HEER TARER HEER #E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FAT FAT
(Note 30) (Note 30) (Note 34) (Note 31) (Note 32) (Note 30)
(H#£30) (B #%30) (B :%34) (B #£31) (B #£32) (B #%30)
1 April 2019 RZT-NEWA-A 45,078 23,748 238,790 - - - 307,616
Adjustment upon application of REEMBREEANE 6%
HKFRS 16 ERAEHE - - - 7130 - - 7,130
1 April 2019 (restated) —E-AFNA-B(EET) 45,078 23,748 238,790 7130 - - 314,746
Changes from cash flows: ReRBZE®:
Advance from directors B3y 948 - - - - - 948
Bank and other borrowings raised HERTREMES — — 8,049 — — — 8,049
Proceeds from issue of convertible loan FTA MR E R 2 TR
g - - - - 8,550 - 8,550
Repayment of bank and other borrowings ~ EERTREMEE - - (3,120) - - - (3,120)
Interest paid BRFE - - (493) - - - (493)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEEHEEAE - - - (3,300) - — (3,300)
948 - 4,436 (3,300) 8,550 - 10,634
Non-cash change: FREHH:
Arise from acquisition of subsidiaries EEERENBAR - - 8,800 - - - 8,800
Disposal of a subsidiary k- ) NG| - (26,034) - - - - (26,034)
Fair value change in convertible loan AAREFTETIARS 2
derivative component ATEED - - - - (49) - (49)
Addition of licenses fees payables AT EERE N - - - - - 44111 4411
Finance costs recognised (Note 17) WABERK Z11) - 13,707 19,586 568 992 8,285 43,138
Foreign exchange translation INERE - - (9,170) - - - (9,170)
Others £t = (6,917) 6,917 - - - -
- (19,244) 26,133 568 943 52,396 60,796
At 31 March 2020 W-®-2£zA=t+-8 46,026 4,504 269,359 4,398 9,493 52,396 386,176
210 China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019/20



48.

49.

50.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 48. EBEXEIE
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET F&T
Contracted for but not provided in the BEETHE RN E MG MR EE
consolidated financial statements:
Unpaid registered capital for subsidiaries RINE ARz KRG ER 265,707 155,848
Acquisition of further equity interests in a E—RERN—HNE AR
subsidiary pag: 62,254 64,980
327,961 220,828

OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
non-cancellable

for future minimum lease payments under

operating leases which fall due as follows:

49. REHE
AEBERABAA
RBEHR AEEARTIRBELERE
EERKREEEENK  HHBHT:

2019
—ET-NF
HK$'000
FET

—FR

Within one year
After one year and within five years

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for certain of its office premises and warehouses. Leases are

—FREREFA

3,897
3,877

7,774

REMENTEARBEREETRETENE
keEENzHS HEFHFHHBER—

negotiated and fixed for an average term of one to two years. ZEWE o
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 50. SEEM®
At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were NBEHKR  NEBDORERTRERES
pledged for the Group’s banking facilities and borrowings: HIMPUTEE
2020 2019
—EBZE2F —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
M &t FET FrET
Property, plant and equipment M- WMERRKE 19 3,671 4,256
Land use rights & 3 (5 AR 20 — 8,328
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 21 7,350 —
Financial assets at fair value through BEATFEFABZZ S8
profit or loss BE 28 512 759
11,533 13,343

As at 31 March 2020,
equity interests of Zibo Liyuan to secure a bank borrowing of
HK$8,508,000 (2019: HK$9,238,000) (Note 34).

the Company pledged the entire

FEIE ORI ARAR 2019/20 FERE

RZZEZZTF=-A=+—H ARFA2EHE
BRRE 2 AL AHE 2 - LAEN{$8,508,000/%8 T
(ZZ—h % : 9,238,000 7T) 2 RITE & (Kt
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TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED
PARTIES
During the year, saved as disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements, the Group had significant transactions with

51.

BEBEATZRERER

FA - REAMBRREME D FAEREES -
AEBEENTHEALTETEARS  BER

the following related parties, together with balances with them at RMERRERE & FBEOT!
the end of the reporting period, details of which are as follows:
2020 2019
—_ 7 — ﬂ—: _jli
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHEIT FET
Associates: /NS
Royalty fees (Note a) HAEE (K ita) 61,667 57,448
Interests on overdue royalty fee payable BHENENEE 2B 12,947 7,939
Companies controlled by the former directors: RAEEES 2 QA
Rental expenses (Note 46 & b) e M (M iF46kb) — 2,006
Accruals & 5T 518 5,096 5,096
Key management compensation of the Group: AEEEXTEEEAEH
Salaries and other short-term employee FeREMEHERR 7T'J
benefits (Note 15 & ¢ (Btat158c) 5,221 42,745
Notes: Bt -

(€)] Royalty fee was charged in accordance with the terms as
determined and agreed among the Group and associates.

(b) Rental expenses were charged on a monthly fixed amount basis
as mutually agreed by the Company and companies controlled
by the directors.

() The remuneration of the key management personnel is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to
the performance of individual and market trends.

The Directors are of the view that the terms of the above related
party transactions are fair and reasonable, based on normal
commercial terms where no charge over assets of the Group is
created in respect of the above transactions.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant
transactions with related parties during the year or significant
balances with them at the end of the reporting period.
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2020 and 2019

are as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest
held by the Company

52.

FRRAEEMBRAAFE

RZBEZZTFR-ZFT-NAF=A=+—RH " *
EMBAA2FIBENT

Proportion of voting power
held by the Company

Place of KRAAFGRARRRLD ARAFBREELA
incorporation/ Paid-up 2020 2019 2020 2019
Principal place of share capital/ i i i i
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
ERAIEY/ BRRE/
HWEARER TREENE #MEx  Ex  B& EE  BE  ER BB ER  HE IEXH
% % % % % % % %
China Baoli Technologies British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 —  Investment holding
Investment Limited ("BVI")/BVI of USD1 each
PEENNRREABRLT  ABERES 1REREEIET REER
(ZERESR]) ZEBR
/EREAES
Top Field Technology Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong of HK$1 each
BEHRERAA ER/BE BREREEIET REER
ZERR
Zibo Liyuan PRC/PRC RMB29,000,000 - 80 — 80 - 80 — 80 Gamma ray irradiation service
paid-up registered
Capital
HERR HE/RE AR %29,000,0007T (55 595 R 3t lR 7%
China Baoli Innovation BVI/BVI 1 ordinary share - - - 100 - 100 - 100 Asset management
Technologies Limited of USD1 each
DEENEATHRERAD  EBREREE/ BEREBIET BEER
EBRREE ZERR
China Baoli Technologies BVI/BVI 1 ordinary share - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Services Limited of USD1 each
PEENNERBERLT  EBRLES/ 1REREEIET REER
ABRABE ZERRK
China Baoli Technologies Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary - 100 = 100 - 100 = 100 Investment holding
Development Limited Hong Kong shares
of HK$1 each
DEENNRERERLE  BE/EE 10,000 B REE REER
BT EBR
Advance Star Investments BVI/BVI 80 ordinary shares - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Limited ("Advance Star") of USD1 each
EEREARAA(EE]) ABRLES/ EBRAEIRT REER
ABRABE ZERRK
Allied Jumbo Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share - 100 = 100 - 100 = 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong of HK$1 each
it BR/BE REREBIET REER
ZERR
Baoli Youta (Shanghai) PRC/PRC RMB2,411,633 paid up - 51 - 100 - 51 - 100 Wholesale, import and export of, and
Communication Technology registered capital and the provision of commission-agency
Company Limited RMB7,588,367 unpaid (except auction) and other auxiliary
registered capital services for, telecommunication
equipment, electronic products, digital
products and computer software,
hardware and auxiliary equipment
ENEE (LB BAMK HE/HE ARE241,6337 BARE ETER UEER-
ARRE EYEMERR ERERAREDREOLE -
AB#7588,3677 Eh0- AERERERMNR
FEERER HEBRERS

FEIE ORI ARAR 2019/20 FERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 # ==

52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 52. AQRFEMBRARFEE)
COMPANY (continued)
Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of voting power
held by the Company held by the Company
Place of RARAAFGRARRELD ARAFERERELA
incorporation/ Paid-up 2020 2019 2020 2019
Principal place of share capital/ ~ —F-FF = i SECEF = i
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
AMALHEY/ BRRE/
HWEARER TEERUAY dRER E& B E# H& E& B E# B IEER
% % % % % % % %
Chongging Baoli Yota PRC/PRC RMB319,700,000 paid - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 Telecommunication products and
Technologies Limited* up registered capital accessories, computer software,
and RMB79,800,000 hardware and auxiliary equipment
unpaid registered and accessories, telecommunication
capital products and electronic products
ERENERNE GEVE AE#319,700,0007T BRERREN THEENREDR
ARAF* ESRMERR BEEH ZAER EFEM
AR %79,800,0007C
Baoli Yota PRC/PRC RMB34,114,565 paid - 80 — 80 - 80 — 80  Manufacture and sales of mobile phone
up registered capital
and RMB65,885,435
unpaid registered
capital
Wil GEVLE ARH34,114,5657C FREERHE
EHEMEAR
AR 65,885,435
Gamma Ray Technologies BVI/BVI 1 ordinary share of - 100 - - - 100 - —  Gamma ray business
Services Limited USDT each
MBS EREREERAN ABRXES/ [LEDEIEE mEsREH
ABRABE ZERRK
We Fly Hong Kong/ 500,000 ordinary - - - 75 - - - 75 Travel and travel related business
Hong Kong shares of HK$1 each
R EB/BE 500,000 & iR & & RERBEEBEK
BT EBR
Yota Technologies IPR Limited ~ BVI/BVI 1 ordinary share - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 Inactive
of USD1 each
Yota Technologies PR Limited ~ EERXEE/ BREREBIZT Ta%k
EEERES ZERR
Fullmoon Global International ~ BVI/BVI 1 ordinary share - 100 - - - 100 - —  Investment holding
Limited (Note b) of USD1 each
Fullmoon Global International ~ EBE 4 &8/ REREEIZT RERR
Limited (#7:#5) RERAES ZEBRK
Rosy Wisdom Holding Limited ~ BVI/BVI 1 ordinary share - 100 - - - 100 - —  Investment holding
(Note 3) of USD1 each
Rosy Wisdom Holding Limited ~ EBR 2/ REREEIET RERR
(Hita) EERREE ZERR
* For identification purpose only * EHEH R
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52.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

mEVBHRRMEGE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 52.

COMPANY (continued)

Proportion of ownership interest
held by the Company

FRRNEEMBRAFE (B

Proportion of voting power
held by the Company

Place of ARRfFERERRELS EREfEREELD
incorporation/ Paid-up 2020 2019 2020 2019
Principal place of share capital/ ~ —F-FF = i SECEF = i
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly Principal activities
ERAIEY/ BRRA/
WELRAE TEERUAY #MEx  ER BB EE  BE  EE BB ER  H% IEER
% % % % % % % %
Creative Time International BVI/BVI 1 ordinary share - 100 - - - 100 - —  Inactive
Limited of USDT each
Creative Time International RERTES/ REREEIZT L%k
Limited EBRREB ZERRK
Hong Kong Made (Media) Hong Kong/ 200 ordinary shares - 100 - - - 100 - —  Train Media
Limited (Note b) Hong Kong of HK$1 each
BRRE(BR)ERAT EB/BE W0RERAEIET SIERE
(Hitb) Eak
Ample Success Limited (Note b)) Hong Kong/ 100 ordinary shares - 100 - - - 100 - —  Train Media
Hong Kong of HK$1 each
BNERARA 2D BR/BE 100RERAEIET IEEE
ZERR
Shanghai YunYao Culture & PRC/PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100 - - - 100 - —  Train Media
Media Limited* (Note a) paid-up registered
Capital and unpaid
registered capital
LEZEXLEREERAR  E/E B %10,000,0007 FESL
(Wita) EYEMERR
AGEMER
Asia Promise Limited (Vote )~ Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share - 100 - - - 100 - —  Inactive
Hong Kong of HK$1 each
ENABRAA(HHa) ER/BE REREEIET La%%
ZERR

Note a: Those subsidiaries are newly incorporated during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

Note b: Those subsidiaries are newly acquired during the year ended
31 March 2020.

* A wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year except for Hong Kong Made which has issued
convertible loan of HK$8,550,000, in which the Group has no
interest.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Hita: ZEWBRARADNBE_Z_TF
A=+ —BEFEHTMEL -

Mitb: ZEMBRADRBE_ZT_ZF
A=t —RLEFEHRWREMRS -

* MABEKSZH I BE R -

B &8 BEE 1T A #8,550,00078 JT 1 AT 42 A%
BR(EREBMRERITEHEBEZ) N RF
BB ARBETNEETEEES -

R EZRREAREAXELEERK
ITEFEZARTMBAR - EER BT
HiMBAR zERESREBEE -
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Notes to the Conso|ic|c:teo| Financial Statements (continued)

:ﬂim,jﬁ%#ﬁ%éwj

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H ==

52.

216

1 (&)

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 52.

COMPANY (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of these
subsidiaries operate in the BVI, PRC and Hong Kong. The principal
activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

ZEF=A=+—RLFE

WAERZMBR

KPR EERBLARFERE(E)
RBERER AR EEEMEAEEREME
Al ZEMBRARANIY
% CBE LS *l&%ma% ZEM
NAEIZEEEBBRINT

Number of subsidiaries

M AR B E

Principal activities Principal place of business 2020 2019
FTEXEK TEEXELH ZEZEF —E-NF
Investment holding BVI 12 12
A ER EBRELHS

Hong Kong 4 4

HE

Samoa 1 1

& FE T

PRC 1 —

H

18 17

Consulting PRC 2 2
B B
Sales of building materials, decoration materials PRC 1 1
HEREME - BEMH Bl
Internet service PRC 1 1
H BB RS ik
Leasing BVI 1 1
HE EBERELHE
Provision of cruise ship management services Hong Kong 1 1
R R E 2 RS BB
Securities trading BVI 1 1
EHFEHE RBRELHS
Inactive Hong Kong 10 10
BEEXE EB

BVI 1 1

RBRELHS

PRC 2 1

i

13 12
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53.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRMEGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 53. FEREZR
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material FEEAIEREZZHIZENBLARZFH
non-controlling interests &
The table below shows the details of non-wholly owned TRBIWAEEGFTEERFEERESRZIESR
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling BEMBARZF1E:
interests:
Place of
incorporation Proportion of
and principal ownership interests and Total comprehensive
place of voting rights held by Loss allocated to expense allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
AMALEER FERERFEEER IBRFFERER IBRFFERER
WELRER TEEE LY BERREELH B8 2EMAXAE R FERER
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
ZEC®RE -T-NF BB —ZT-AF CZB-RE —T-NF CZBIRE _—T-NF
ZA=+-B =ZRA=t—-B ZA=+-B =ZA=+—-H ZA=t+-B =ZA=+—-H =ZA=+-B =ZA=+-H
HKS$'000 HK$°000 HKS$'000 HK$°000 HKS$'000 HK$°000
FET TET FET TET FET TET
We Fly HK - 25% (1,249) (1,755) (1,249) (1,755) - (2,878)
BR 5k
Baoli Yota PRC 20% 20% (701) (5,426) (72) (5,081) (11,250) (11,178)
ENEH $
Zibo Liyuan PRC 20% 20% (1,587) (464) (1,696) (662) 708 2,404
HERR e
Asset Management Group  HK 49% - (933) (883) - (1,244) -
BEEELHE 5k
(4,470) (7,645) (3,900) (7,498) (11,786) (11,652)

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of each
of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial information

below represents amounts before intra-group eliminations.

TXHFIAEEEIFEERIEZERER 2K
BRAAZGEAVBEMME - U THHKER
BMEHRETEBAARTEHEN 2 -
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Nofes to the Consohdc:ted Financial Statements (continued)
an\ = Ejﬁ%#&% BT-J- (n )
For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z =TT F = A=+ —HIFE
53. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 53. FEKRERGE)
We Fly R
2020 2019
—E-FF —NnF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets MENEE — 5,397
Non-current assets EMENE E — 1,447
Current liabilities B B & — (18,354)
Non-current liabilities FRBBaE — —
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 7K &) B A JE 1 # 25 — (8,632)
Non-controlling interests of We Fly BRZIEZERER — (2,878)
Revenue A 4,681 5,227
Expenses X (9,679) (12,243)
Loss for the year REEEE (4,998) (7,016)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company ARG HBARGEE (3.749) (5,261)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests of & 7R 2 JF1E X HE 25 FE (L 5 1B
We Fly (1,249) (1,755)
Loss for the year REEEE (4,998) (7,016)
Total comprehensive expenses attributable to KA HBAEGEEZEZ N
owners of the Company mEn (3,749) (5,261)
Total comprehensive expenses attributable to EREEREREGEE2E
non-controlling interests of We Fly X B (1,249) (1,755)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year REE2ES LB (4,998) (7,016)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of ERNERZIETERERZ
We Fly = — —
Net cash outflow from operating activities LEFEHIMES ML FE — (2,710)
Net cash inflow from financial activities BEEHRESTAFE — 483
Net cash outflow WL FE — (2,227)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRMEGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 53. FERER(E)
Baoli Yota BHER
2020 2019
ZEC-EF —ET-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets mENE E 2,387 12,671
Non-current assets IERBEE 1 475
Current liabilities mEEE (55,704) (66,101)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR & A A {5 # %S (42,056) (41,777)
Non-controlling interests of Baoli Yota ENERZIEERER (11,250) (11,178)
Revenue PN 7,971 19,878
Expenses gl (11,469) (47,019)
Loss for the year KFEEEE (3,498) (27,141)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company RABIHEBABIEERE (2,797) (21,715)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests of B 1 {& 45~ JF1E AL HE 25 FE S
Baoli Yota (g (701) (5,426)
Loss for the year REEBE (3,498) (27,141)
Other comprehensive income attributable to RNFHER A FEM B A
owners of the Company 2T WA 2,518 1,394
Other comprehensive income attributable to BENEFZFERER B
non-controlling interests of Baoli Yota HEtazmik A 629 345
Other comprehensive income for the year REFZEME2EEA 3,147 1,739

Total comprehensive expenses attributable to RARIBEEAEGZE RS

owners of the Company 4278 (279) (20,321)
Total comprehensive expenses attributable to ENEFZIFEERER BN

non-controlling interests of Baoli Yota PHXHERE (72) (5,081)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year AEEEEELBE (351) (25,402)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of ENENEFZFERER

Baoli Yota % 2 — —
Net cash outflow from operating activities KEFEHRe ML TR (3.199) (2,457)
Net cash inflow from investing activities BEEBHHRERAFHE 7 6
Net cash outflow Re M FERE (3,192) (2,451)
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Nofes to the Conso|ic|c:teo| Financial Statements (continued)

R IS AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H ==

53.

220

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

ZEF=A=+—RLFE

53. FEKR#ED(E)

Zibo Liyuan 1 R
2020 2019
—EB-EHF :%_ﬂfﬁ
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets BN E E 780 1,173
Non-current assets FRBEE 12,432 20,455
Current liabilities B B & (9,683) (9,610)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company — ANQ & A A AL & S 2,821 9,614
Non-controlling interests of Zibo Liyuan SEIBFIR 2 IR E = 708 2,404
Revenue A 4,687 4,715
Expenses g (12,623) (7,044)
Loss for the year RKFEZEE (7,936) (2,329)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company RAHBARNEE (6,349) (1,865)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests of 3 T@ MR 2 JE1E R R = FE (S
Zibo Liyuan & # (1,587) (464)
Loss for the year AEERFE (7,936) (2,329)
Other comprehensive expenses attributable to ARREAEAEGEEMER
owners of the Company T (444) (781)
Other comprehensive expenses attributable to ST AR 2 FF 15 AR R B A
non-controlling interests of Zibo Liyuan Ht2E (109) (198)
Other comprehensive expenses for the year AEEHME2HEZ N (553) (979)
Total comprehensive expenses attributable to AR HBAEGEEZEZ N
owners of the Company 48 7R (6,793) (2,646)
Total comprehensive expenses attributable to S TE AR 2 FF 15 AR R 5 B A
non-controlling interests of Zibo Liyuan PES LB (1,696) (662)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year AFEEE2HEIHETE (8,489) (3,308)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of BT Tﬁ ARz IE =R =
Zibo Liyuan 2R E — —
Net cash inflow from operating activities KEEBR S MAFE 754 539
Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing activities & ESNIRE ORH) RAFE 3) 9
Net cash outflow from financing activities BEEHR AL FE (848) (923)
Net cash outflow ReEmEFE (97) (375)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R MR RRMEGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 53. FERER(E)
Asset Management Group EEEEEH
2020 2019
—E-RE —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current assets MENE E 316 —
Non-current assets ERMBEE 28 —
Current liabilities mEAE (2,643) —
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AN T A A JE 15 25 (1,055) —
Non-controlling interests of Asset Management & 7= & 1% £ B JF 4% IR 4 25
Group (1,244) —
Revenue KA — —
Expenses X H (1,655) —
Loss for the year KFEEERE (1,655) —
Loss attributable to owners of the Company ARRIHEEAEEER (722) —
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests of & & & 12 &£ B ~ JE4F i # 25
Asset Management Group EIEEE (933) —
Loss for the year REEEE (1,655) —
Other comprehensive income attributable to ZN/NCIE 2SN X ]
owners of the Company Ema2mEmKA 43 —
Other comprehensive income attributable to non- & 7 & I2 & @ ~ JE 45 g o5
controlling interests of Asset Management FEAG H b 2 g A
Group 50 —
Other comprehensive income for the year AFEEEMEEBA 93 —
Total comprehensive expenses attributable to ZN/NCIE 2SN X
owners of the Company PEXZ AR (679) —
Total comprehensive expenses attributable to BEERBRERZIFERER
non-controlling interests of Asset Management EEEEZ A
Group (883) —
Total comprehensive expenses for the year AFEEEL LB (1,562) —
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of ENEEEEREZIFER
Asset Management Group - el s — —
Net cash outflow from operating activities KEFEFSHR ML FE (109) —
Net cash inflow from investing activities BAGFHHRERANFE — —
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEFHR ML FHE — —
Net cash outflow We ML FRE (109) —
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Nofes to the Conso|ic|c:teo| Financial Statements (continued)

R IS AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H ==

54.

222

ZEF=A=+—RLFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 54. XRBzHMBERRRREE
OF THE COMPANY
2020 2019
—EZEF —h&F
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEREZE 1,563 2,626
Right-of-use asset EREEE 3,847 —
Interests in subsidiaries NI E 1 1
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U B /B A B BB 60,611 203,336
66,022 205,963
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H fth & UL BR 18 8,750 9,245
Bank balances and cash BRITHEBERE 69 178
8,819 9,423
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables Hh FE A5 AR 1B 67,148 59,874
Amounts due to subsidiaries R MB AR KIE 48,275 50,842
Lease liability HEBE 3,586 —
Financial guarantee B 75 42 R 220,461 226,154
Other borrowings Hmfg & 19,947 10,000
(359,417) 346,870
Net current liabilities REBEEFEE (350,598) (337,447)
Total assets less current liabilities EELERARBERS (284,576) (131,484)
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liability HEBE 812 —
Other borrowings HiEE 9,868 19,657
10,680 19,657
Net liabilities EEFE (292,256) (151,141)
Capital and reserves BEXRR#E
Share capital fi& A< 372,156 363,823
Reserves & (667,412) (514,964)
Total deficit B AL A (292,256) (151,141)

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 August 2020

ARBZHMBRARKNR_ZB_ZEENA=F
—PREESSHAELREETNE  FHUTA

and are signed on its behalf by: TREESE
Zhang Yi Chu Wei Ning
&K BFE
Director Director
BE 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

mEVBHRRMEGE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#HE T T F = =+—HILFZ

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 54, KRR ZHBMRRERRER(E)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Movement of the Company’s reserves EREREEE
Share held
Capital  Contingent Share  under share Share-based
Share redemption consideration  options award scheme payment Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve reserve  reserve reserve reserve surplus losses Total
RERSG
EXEE FARE BRE RBHESE UARGRER
R EE e 1] 1] RO EE ZAREE  AAEH ZHER k]
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FEx FEr  FAT FET Fix Fix FiEx FEx
At 1 April 2018 RZE-\§¥MA—H 2,044,106 13,878 - 28,216 (1,268) 20,421 907,760 (2,538,463) 474,650
Loss for the year rEEBR - - - - - - — (1,065,405 (1,065,405)
Issuance of shares for the  FE—-FRE-FHELAF
further acquisition 2IkRH
of an associate 32,452 - - - - - - - 32,452
Issuance of shares under — RIZ IR ZEFHE
share award scheme £ - - - - (9,029) — — — (9,029)
Equity settled share-based ~ MEZ B EINBRH B
transaction B2 - - - - - 52,368 - - 52,368
Allotment of awarded AXEARERBRH
shares to trustee 62,258 - - - 10,281 (72,539) - - -
Share award forfeited R R 17 R B - - - — — (250) — 250 -
Lapse of share options BREXM - - —  (28216) - - - 28,216 -
At 31 March 2019 WZE-NE=F=+—H 2,138,816 13,878 - - (16) - 907,760 (3,575,402) (514,964)
Loss for the year rEERR - - - - - - - (184,248)  (184,248)
Acquisition of subsidiaries g BB I B 2 &l (4 #42)
(Note 42) 6,000 — 25,800 — - — — — 31,800
At 31 March 2020 RZZ-ZEE=F=1+-H 2,144,816 13,878 25,800 - (16) - 907,760 (3,759,650)  (667,412)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

AN
AR

b ETEEE A )

For the year ended 31 March 2020 H#EZE T -_ZTF=A=+—HIFE

55.

224

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

On 13 July 2020, Shanghai YunYao Culture & Media
Limited* (/8 E &L EHBRAF]) (the “Purchaser”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Mr. Xu
Shang Wu* (25 &) and Ms. Ou Xian Lan* (BXE ) (the
“Vendors”) entered into the share transfer agreements and
supplemental agreements (collectively referred to the “Share
Transfer Agreements”), pursuant to which the Vendors
conditionally agreed to sell and the Purchaser conditionally
agreed to purchase an aggregate of 80% of the entire
issued share capital of ShenZhen ZiJun Media Company
Limited* (RIIST R EEBR A F),
consideration of RMB1,825,800 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,008,380), which shall be satisfied in cash to the
Vendors or their nominee in accordance with the terms and

for an aggregate

conditions of the Share Transfer Agreements.

The outbreak of COVID-19 since early 2020 has brought
about additional uncertainties in the Group’s operating
environment and has impacted the Group’s operations and

financial position and performance.

The Group has been closely monitoring the impact of
the developments on the Group’s businesses and has
put in place contingency measures. These contingency
measures include: exploring business opportunities on those
less influenced by COVID-19 business, such as gamma
ray segment. The Company is in discussion of business
cooperation with a state-owned enterprise in relation
to gamma ray technologies. The Group will keep its

contingency measures under review as the situation evolves.

This is not practicable to estimate the impact of COVID-19
to the financials as at the date of this report. However,
following the lift of travel restrictions related to the
COVID-19 pandemic in mainland China, the
transport network services in mainland China have started

railway

to resume gradually. In the interim, the Company continues
to be actively engaged in discussions with a number of new
and existing customers placing multi-media contents on
GSCR Hexiehao Trains. The Company expects its mobile and
multi-media technologies business will regain its momentum
once the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided and will continue
a major drive in developing a scalable mobile and multi-

media technology business going forward.

For identification purpose only
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BE

(a)

MREE

RZZE-ZZEF+A+=8 ' ARF2
EMBARILEBZEEXLEREEBRA
A(EAF)EGEREENBERHZ L
TEARDTLRDEEGBRE TGS
(ZBIROERRBZED Bt - EHE
BHEREHEMESARGREBER
NEFHEEER AR 2O EITRAN
A 5180% BB A AK¥1,825,800
7T (PR & M 492,008,380/ L) © #51R #
& 17 82 53 173 53 0 1% 3R I A% 1 1) B 5 3k
HRBANRES &R -

BE_Z_ZFFYPUR FEMHEZE
BORBEEAERBENLEERTHEE
Ax  WHEREENEERMBRK
NISE e

EEB-BEEVERRBERALRE
BEBERNTE TORDNEIE
e o ZERSEEEE  ZEMIBE R
DHMEZHBEHABEBEEERNNE
BHEK - ARFLE-REALE
B REMEAEE S ERE - B
ERBERBEL AEEBFERS
HEZENR -

RARERHEA T AR BOY
BRELTERIT - A BEESR
B 79 4 % Bk (R 37 T A A R A B O Y iR
PR - B e R SOE A AR R
BEMKRELIRE - RILHME - ARF
EBEEBANBERGMER LS
BEANTEZEAHEPIAAEPRHA
A o ARFEY - —BEHEMAEE
HER EFRLRZEBRMEBEE
RERHH ARRRBEBR T
EUREERNTFREZHEEBRMER -

EHE 5



Five-Year Financial Summary

TFEMBERE

RESULTS E
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
—E-RF —FT—tF —T)N\F —ET-NF ZEZEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FE T FE T FE T FE T FET
Revenue A 105,020 37,343 53,482 44,580 49,302
Loss attributable to owners ViN/NEIEZ =N
of the Company FEIEEE (77,097) (378,728) (294,509)  (1,298,305) (114,089)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
TE-RE —E—+HF —EZE-N\F —ZT-hEF ZBZEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FE T FET F&ET FE T FET
Total assets EE®E 356,843 1,194,630 1,390,057 261,880 172,758
Total liabilities BERAE (176,349) (158,165) (505,883) (626,336) 603,249
Net(liabilities) assets (BBE)EEFHE 180,494 1,036,465 884,174 (364,456) (430,491)
Non-controlling interests FEIERER (4,302) (2,625) (4,052) (11,652) (11,786)
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Glossary
AR R

Adjusted Share(s)

|
I

2
it
=3
=

Annual General Meeting

BRBFRE

Asian Alliance
e

Audit Committee
BEREEE

Baoli Yota

=@

Board

E=g

Bye-laws
#m Al

Chongging Baoli

CG Code
1% <F 8l

Companies Ordinance
NCIRCY

Company

connected person(s)

BE AL

Director(s)

5=

Ordinary Shares of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company (being
ordinary Shares with such nominal amount as resulted from the Share Consolidation
taking effect)
RARRAFEBREMBEIOE T ERRBIROEHERELEZEBEZEAEBEZ
LBk

the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 September 2019

RRABIRZE-NFARA=ZTHRBIZREAFRSY

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited, the external auditor of the Company
Em(EB)SAMEBAERAF - ARF Z 5B EAD

the audit committee of the Company

ARBBZEZES

EHEHRECRIDER AT (Baoli Yota Technologies (Shenzhen) Limited**), a
company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited liability which is a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

BENEFHMECRIDERAA - —HARBEFRBZEIMALZERRA - AE
RAIZIEZEMBAF

the board of Directors

E=g

the bye-laws of the Company, and as amended from time to time

KRB FEAEET 2 A A

FEEENERREARRDQAF (Chongging Baoli Yota Technologies Limited**), a
company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited liability which is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

EEENESNEERAR  —BMREPBEDEEEIMAZLZERAF - BAR
Az EMBRAR

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

70 A5 BI B £+ P AT L 4 B R ST B

the Companies Ordinance, Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong
BB EDIFE622E X ANEDI

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda
with limited liability, the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

TEENRRERBRAR  —HREBREIMALZERDAE - KR ER
ZPTER ETH

as defined under the Listing Rules

EER ETHRA

the director(s) of the Company
KRRIESE
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EPD
EPD

FIT
FIT

Group
EE

HK$
BT

Hong Kong
B

Internal Control Advisor

P &P 42 I B

Listing Rules
Em A

Model Code

EE R

Nomination Committee

REZE®

PRC or China or Mainland China

Bk B A

Pre-Adjusted Share(s)

s
=2

A i {2

Remuneration Committee

e

RMB
AR®

Scheme Rules

&I Al

SFO
B 5 T 5 15

Glossary (continued)

AR ()

electronic paper display
BFHBTR

free independent traveller

BHTT

the Company and its subsidiaries

RRE R M EA R

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BRBEEEH

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
hEEBREITRRER

an independent professional advisor, to carry out the internal audit functions of
the Company
BUELERT - SABITARE 2 R A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
B2 Ss EmAR A

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
THRAIMEE A EMBETAEETETESFRINFETE

the nomination committee of the Company

ARBREHEZES

the People’s Republic of China, except where the context requires, geographical
references to the PRC exclude Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region
of the PRC and Taiwan

FEARANE  BMXESEREIN - AlRASTE - £02 EFABEEE -
MEDRPIRRITTER R LB E

ordinary Shares HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company (being ordinary
Shares with such nominal amount prior to the Share Consolidation taking effect)
RARBRATEFREFEOE T2 EBRBIRODEHEMNAEZHELE B
9]

the remuneration committee of the Company
ARBAHMEES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

ARYE  PEEEEH

the rules relating to the Share Award Scheme as amended from time to time

EE ) REE S B 2R (BAKERD

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong
BBEDETIERE F L EEKRD
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Glossary (continued)

A=k ()
Share(s)
i 5

Share Award Scheme

e An 52 By =t &

Share Consolidation

Share Option Scheme
B R RE AT &

Shareholder(s)
g

Stock Exchange

B 22 T

US or USA or United States
ES

usD
ey

We Fly

hsi
#

Yota

Yota

Yota Group
Yota % &

xx For identification purpose only

o EHEF

ordinary shares with nominal value of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the
Company (or of such other nominal amount as will result from a sub-division,
consolidation, reclassification or reconstruction of the share capital of the Company
from time to time)

ARARBRARFREEIOET (HEAARFRANK DK - a0 B HENX
BEHELECERAMEAB) ZEBR

the share award scheme approved and adopted by the Board in accordance with
the Scheme Rules on 15 January 2018
EFERBHEBUNRZZ-NF-—ATHEYRERRAZRH ZE

the consolidation of every ten (10) issued and unissued ordinary Shares of HK$0.01

each in the share capital of the Company into one (1) issued and unissued ordinary

Share of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company, which became effective

on 3 August 2018

?EZIS“ﬂ%ZKEP-I- 10)RFREECONBE TLZEEHITRARETEBRE ALK
NAERAH — Hxlﬂx@fﬁo10/’§EZE§§TT&5K§§TT%@H CHERZE-NF

NA=ZB4% ;dl

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 22 August 2011
ARBRZE——FNAZ+TZBRARZ BREE

holders of the Shares

BEHEBEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEABERIMER AT

United States of America
EFBAETEH

United States dollar, the lawful currency of the US

XL XBUREE

We Fly Travel Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with
limited liability which was a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
ERKEBERAR —HRBEFBEZVFAMKILZAERRA  REARAZER
EHE AR

Yota, an exempted company incorporated with limited liability under the laws of
the Cayman Islands which is held as to 40% by the Company
Yotar —HIMRBEREHESEZETMA LI EREERAT  AXREFHHEL0%

Yota and its subsidiaries
Yota K E Bt B Q7]
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